




 

 

AGENDA 

ng homes is a trading name of North Glasgow Housing Association Ltd. 
 

  
Meeting: Board Meeting 

 
Invitees Board 

 
 Location: The Ron Davey Enterprise Centre, 

10 Vulcan Street 
  
Date: Tuesday 25 July 2023 
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NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 1 

REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT  
 

31 MARCH 2023 
 

The Board presents their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. 
 

Principal activity 
The principal activity of the Association is the provision of housing for let at rents affordable to the client 

group for whom it intends to provide. 
 

The Association is registered with the Financial Conduct Authority as a Community Benefit Society, The 

Office of the Scottish Charities Regulator (OSCR) as a charity and the Scottish Housing Regulator as a 

Registered Social Landlord. The Association is primarily regulated by the Scottish Housing Regulator. 

 

STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

Our Strategic Aims 

The Association has within its Strategic Aims: 

 

• Dedication to offering housing solutions and routes into social inclusion by building, managing, and 

maintaining a range of affordable housing, and providing support for varying needs,  

 

• Contributing to community sustainability and regeneration, through innovation and relationships built 

on trust with our customers and partners, 

 

• Ensure we are an employer of choice, and that we deliver quality service and standards throughout our 

activities including customer involvement,   

 

• Ensure that the Association is financially and operationally viable; and 

 

• Respect for diversity, and ensuring accountability, openness, integrity, and compliance in the 

governance of our activities. 
 

Our vision is a community where people can flourish and prosper. Our mission is to provide quality homes and 

on-going community regeneration and empowerment. Our values are that: 

• We are a quality organisation delivering excellence 

• We act with integrity 

• We are friendly and treat people with respect 

• We are customer focused and put the customer first 

• We are trusted and trusting 

• We are accountable 

To help achieve this, we want to help to drive innovation and quality in accessible housing and support in 

Scotland. Some of the main objectives which we think can help achieve this include: 

• demonstrating innovation in housing design and helping to raise standards generally 

• achieving continuous improvement in all the services we deliver, and achieving and maintaining high 

standards of business efficiency and effectiveness 

• creating opportunities for significant levels of user involvement in what we do 

• being recognised by regulators and strategic partners as delivering excellent performance  
 

We see these as significant objectives, which challenge the way we deliver our core services of housing, 

housing support, advice, and consultancy. We seek to challenge what we currently do and look to improve, 

rather than simply carry on with existing patterns of work. 
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NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 2 

REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 
 

Corporate Governance 

 
The Association has a Board who are elected by the members of the Association (as listed on page 11). It is the 

responsibility of the Board to undertake the strategy, setting of policy and overall direction for the Association. 

They also monitor the operational activities of the Association. The members of the Board are unpaid. 

 

The Executive Team of the Association (as listed on page 11) are responsible for achieving the strategy set and 

undertaking the operational activities in line with the policies set.   

 

Our governing body is our Board, which is responsible to the wider membership. Board members serve in a 

voluntary capacity, and we recognise that this puts even more onus on us to ensure that we set and achieve 

high standards of professionalism in our work. We take governance very seriously, and in the last year we 

continued to build on work from previous years which strengthened our governance arrangements.  

 

Achievements and performance 
 

Since its formation in 1976 to save a block of condemned tenements in Springburn from demolition, the 

Association has evolved to become a major economic player in the north of the city. Serving the Springburn 

and Possilpark areas of Glasgow, the Association is now responsible for the management of over 5,400 homes. 

The success of the business has been based on two key factors, planned growth and continuous improvement. 

This has been another eventful year for the Association during which progress has been made on many fronts.  

 

The Association believes that we will only make our communities better by working in partnership with others. 

As we also believe in improving the whole community and not just the housing in it, we are very active in 

wider action work as can be seen throughout this report. We are continually looking at new initiatives to 

improve our communities. We have a strong staff and Board, and we look forward to continuing to work with 

them and all our customers to ensure that we carry on improving as an organisation. If you have access to the 

internet, we encourage you to look at our website www.nghomes.net, which is regularly updated with 

Association news.  

 

Above all people remain at the heart of what we do – our tenants and customers, our staff, and our board.  We 

have listened to tenants and customers views during rent consultations, tenant conferences and our tenant 

scrutiny panel as well as during our daily contact with the people who live in our properties. 

 

Our financial position is strong, and we will continue to ensure that robust financial planning underpins all our 

decision-making. Especially regarding new build proposals and investments.  This is complemented by our 

asset management strategy which has been reshaped for the future using intelligence from our stock condition 

survey of all our stock. 

 

We are continuously striving to improve our performance and provide the best possible customer service. If 

you have any comments on our work, please contact our offices or email: info@nghomes.net  

 

This report details issues that have arisen during the year relating to the activities undertaken by the 

Association. 
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NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 3 

REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

Chairperson’s comments 

 

This is an opportunity to review the performance during the year and to take stock of the progress we have 

made and identify the challenges that lie ahead.  

 

The Association has faced unprecedented challenges over the last few years – from the Covid-19 pandemic to 

the cost-of-living crisis and global conflicts. Challenges that still impact everyday life. At ng homes the 

importance of people and community remains as strong as ever. Our priority is the health, safety and wellbeing 

of our tenants, customers, and staff. 

 

At ng homes, our commitment to customer service excellence and promoting the importance of people is 

resolute. We continue to champion equality and diversity, ensuring our communities are places where people 

are treated fairly, with opportunities to realise their full potential. We are delighted that the Association 

successfully retained our Customer Service Excellence (CSE) accreditation. Our most recent assessment was 

extremely positive with excellent feedback – a testimony to the dedication of all involved. 

 

We have been able to open our doors and offer customers in-person or virtual appointments. We continue to 

drive forward ambitious plans for physical, economic, and social regeneration, through our own initiatives as 

well as lending our voice to external projects. A digital strategy to ensure inclusion and accessibility is being 

developed and we continue to review systems and services to ensure we provide the high-quality services and 

customer experience expected. 

 

Investment in our homes remains a key priority. Dampness and mould are a health and safety issue as 

important as ensuring the gas and electrical elements in our homes are safe and secure. Upgrades to our multi-

storey flats are helping improve energy efficiency, reduce fuel bills, and ensure fire safety. Alongside all of 

this, we will maintain our focus on good governance and robust financial and risk management - more 

important than ever in these uncertain times. 

 

I want to recognise the efforts and commitment of our Board, staff, and volunteers. Their contributions are 

invaluable, ensuring we can continue to deliver projects and key initiatives serving North Glasgow and our 

communities. 

 

It is impossible to definitively predict what lies ahead for the organisation. There will be challenges along the 

way whilst we work tirelessly to improve and develop North Glasgow, however what is sure is that the 

Association remains committed to giving our tenants a voice in creating the future.  We continue to champion 

North Glasgow as a vibrant place with talented people and we look forward to working together with you to 

create a community where people can flourish and prosper.     

 

 

 

 

Catherine Rossine 

ng homes Chair 
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NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 4 

REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

Investment Activities 
Development and maintenance review 
 

The Association’s development and planned maintenance programme has continued to deliver for tenants and 

communities in the north of the city. This year the Association spent £5.9m on acquisition of houses and 

capitalised investment in upgrading properties. In addition, a further £8.2m was spent on planned and cyclical 

maintenance programmes. 

 

The Association is committed to ensuring all its homes are maintained to a good standard and as such operates 

a rolling programme to improve properties through, for example, the installation of central heating and 

kitchens in tenants’ homes. Major investment was to have included programmes of work in smoke door 

replacement, boiler upgrades, kitchen bathroom and rewire programmes, door entry and environmental 

upgrades across the stock. Due to the pandemic and supply chain disruption the programme was curtailed. 

Work will be ongoing across our stock over the short to medium term to catch up with the programme of 

works.     

 

A major project continued in six of the multi storey blocks in the year. With the support of the Scottish 

Government and the Energy Savings Trust work was done to replace electric storage heating with heating and 

hot water being supplied from central air source heat pumps. In addition, work was being done to upgrade 

bathrooms, improve fire stopping, upgrade fire control systems and improve the water supply in the blocks that 

have not already been improved. This work will continue into 2023/24. A separate contract to replace the 

electric storage heaters and front doors in the Carron multi storey blocks completed in the year. 

 

There was one open market purchase in the year.   

 

Best use of resources 

We have continued with the programme of major investment in our housing stock, which is by far our most 

asset.  This includes both carrying out major repairs and considering whether any of our housing should be 

remodelled to meet the changing requirements of tenants in the future.  We are updating our stock condition 

information through specific asset management models for each area of our stock to ensure that our long-term 

financial planning reflects our future investment requirements.  We continue to look for efficiencies and 

economies in the way that we carry out business processes.  

 

Housing review 
 

Rent collection, allocations, and voids 

The overall rent collection rate was 98.7% (2022 – 98.9%). Gross rent arrears were 5.8% compared to 5.4% in 

the previous year. Housing services teams are working together with welfare rights advisers (GEMAP) and 

Scotcash to aim to reduce the total arrears and ensure our tenants are in receipt of the maximum benefits due.  

 

The number of evictions increased from five in 2021/22 to ten in the current year.  

 

With welfare changes and delays in benefit administration, it is a challenging environment in which to keep 

arrears low. Future welfare changes and the difficult economic environment add to the problems in the area. To 

assist our tenants with these changes we have increased the availability of GEMAP welfare rights advisers. 

This has been partly organized through the Join the Dots project funded by Glasgow City Council. 
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NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 5 

REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 

 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 
The Association let 424 (2022 - 438) properties during the year. We continue to allocate relets and new lets as 

quickly as possible, to ensure that we maximise our effectiveness in housing people in need and minimise our 

costs. The average time taken to re-let or let a new property was 28.5 days (2022 – 18.1 days). The increase 

from last year is partly due to problems we have had with energy suppliers to get debt reset on gas and electric 

meter and this is having an effect on our ability to complete void works as we are unable to let a property 

without carrying out gas and electrical safety checks. 

 

The rent loss due to empty properties was £272k (2022 - £319k). 

 

During the year the Association allocated 148 lets (2022 - 132 lets) to Section 5 homelessness referrals, 

representing 35% (2022 – 32%) of the lets made in the year. In addition to the homeless there is still significant 

unmet demand with 4,400 (2022 – 3,579) on the waiting list with 1,263 (2022 – 984) new applications added 

in the year. 

 

Customer Services 

The Association is committed to a high standard of customer service in all its activities. The principal point of 

contact for customer enquiries is with the housing management and maintenance staff. The quality and 

customer satisfaction of these services is closely monitored, and steps are taken to improve them further on an 

ongoing basis. 

 

Accreditation 

The Association continues to enjoy the benefits of both Investors in People and Customer Service Excellence 

accreditation.  The Association is recognised at Gold level for both Investors in People and Investors in Young 

People and holds, the Investors in People Health and Wellbeing Award and the Customer Service Excellence 

Standard.  

 

There is a clear connection between these awards which recognise the Association’s commitment to 

developing and supporting our staff to gain the skills, knowledge, and experience to be able to provide an 

excellent level of service to its tenants and customers.  

 

The Association has been accredited as an IIP organisation since 2002 and has been recognised with Gold 

status and the Health & Wellbeing award since 2014, the most recent reaccreditation was achieved in February 

2021 and is valid for 3 years. The Customer Service Excellence (CSE) Standard replaced the Charter Mark 

Award, and the Association has been recognised with the CSE Standard since its inception in 2008.  

 

The Association is recognised as a Disability Confident Employer having attained this accreditation in 2019. 

This award was introduced by DWP to replace the Two Ticks Disability Positive Action scheme award which 

ng homes held previously. The Disability Confident Employer award recognises the Association’s 
commitment to ensuring that people with disabilities and long-term health conditions are provided with equal 

opportunities to obtain employment and that they feel supported, engaged, and able to fulfil their potential in 

the workplace.   

 

ng homes is an award winning organisation, external accreditations include: Customer Service Excellence 

Standard (held since 2002), Investors in People Gold Award, Investors in People Health and Wellbeing Award 

and Investors in Young People Gold Award, Herald and GenAnalytics - Diversity Awards – 2016 (for work 

with Chinese and African Communities), Police Scotland Youth Volunteer Award – ‘Outstanding Support to 

PSYV Volunteer programme’ (2017) and Local Environmental Quality Award – ‘Outstanding Team’ in Local 
Environmental Quality (2017).  In 2018/19 the awards included Alarm UK Alarm Risk Award 2018, Climate 

Challenge Fund Award; Youth Engagement Category 2018 and Scottish National Standard for Information and 

Advice Providers, TPAS Scotland National Good Practice Award; Best Practice in Reporting Performance - ng 

homes Area Committee.  

23



NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 6 

 

REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

Tenant Consultation/Communications 

Tenant consultation is vital to the continued success of the Association. The Association’s desire to ensure that 

we communicate effectively with as many tenants as possible has resulted in the Association producing 

information in a variety of formats including quarterly newspaper, patch newsletters, the website, social media 

and on plasma screens in reception areas. Regular customer surveys on service performance were also carried 

out. We have continued to encourage tenants to get involved in the formulation of our policies and procedures 

through consultations. Examples of this are the use of focus groups to discuss and prioritise issues and action 

areas of concern.  

 

Diversity 

The Association is firmly committed to providing flexible services to our increasingly diverse society.  

Equality and fairness underpin our whole business philosophy. We take a positive approach to promoting our 

services to all communities. The Association has in place resources through interpreters and the Happy to 

Translate multi language resource to aid communication to all our tenants. 
 

Other areas 

Other areas of note within housing management during the year included: 

 

• Continuation of the Welfare Reform Action Plan, including tenant surveys. 

• Work continued upgrading the IT systems within housing management and ensuring that the systems 

were used more efficiently and effectively. 

 
Health and Social Care Integration  

 

Health and social care integration and related proposals to switch care from acute hospital services to support 

in the community. A significant proportion of our tenants are elderly, and ng homes, if properly resourced, can 

make a positive contribution to delivering the Government’s integration aims in Glasgow.eg in our multi storey 

flats where we have a 24/7 Concierge service.  

 

Welfare Reform 
 

We monitor UK/Scottish Government Policy on this key issue. The Association will take action to mitigate 

impacts on tenants and our business.  We have already experienced the complexities of Universal Credit and 

the direct payments of Housing Benefit to tenants.  We currently have over one thousand tenants in receipt of 

Universal Credit.  We are assessing the situation closely, along with potential implications in changes to other 

welfare benefits. With full-service implementation this is expected to have a continuing effect on rent 

collection and arrears in the longer term. 
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REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 

 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

Regeneration Activities 
 

Partnerships with other agencies 
 

Effective partnerships with agencies, which provide a range of services and support to tenants were developed. 

These agencies include among others the Scottish Government, The Big Lottery Fund, Glasgow Life, and 

Glasgow City Council. 

 

Community Regeneration 

 

The Association has continued to impact on the wider regeneration of the north of the city through a variety of 

different projects. With the effects of the pandemic not all projects could function. There was however a 

substantial level of activities to support communities and provide food and other assistance. 

 

• The Association set up in 2010 a social economy company NG 2 Limited to encourage local employment 

and training opportunities. This has resulted in direct employment within the company of over eighty staff 

all of whom are paid at the Glasgow minimum wage and above. The company now carries out among other 

activities close cleaning, bulk uplift, close maintenance, void painting and joinery work, and general 

environmental improvement activities. A significant number of trainees have progressed on to continuing 

employment.  

 

• The Active Early Years health and wellbeing programme is a project that supported and complemented 

Physical Education in three nursery and seven primary schools in North Glasgow. The project encouraged 

more children to get active including increasing and improving their physical and mental health, 

confidence, and skills. Through the provision of physical activities, education and training of nursery and 

primary school teachers and staff, volunteers (parents/carers) and providing supporting resources have 

supported the sustainability of this project. 

 

• Our sport, health and education programmes continue to work in partnership with many local and national 

organisations, governing bodies, clubs, and associations. Our approach supported and complemented local 

and national strategies, existing provision, as well as introducing many innovative programmes.  

 
• The National Lottery Community Fund agreed to fund the Supporting, Connecting and Building Resilience 

of North Glasgow Community project. The main elements of this project include maintaining and building 

on the previous furniture and furnishing referral service and it also includes a ‘wrap around’ support model 

working alongside a wide range of community partners. This Lottery funded project is supported by three 

full time staff members for a period of three years.  Partnerships are an important element of the project and 

support the ‘wrap around’ support of individuals coming through the project. This ‘wrap around’ working 

closely with residents to link them into the support they need such as financial advice, food and furniture 

assistance, information on community services, health and wellbeing activities, access to one-to-one mental 

health partners, educational and entrepreneurship opportunities. The Community Fund support for the 

project amounts to £276k.  

 

• A Business Improvement District programme continued in the year for the Saracen Street area. A 

successful ballot to formally establish the BID was completed in the previous  year.  

 

• Glasgow City Council once again provided funds for the Holiday Food Programme during the year. 

 

• Glasgow Communities Fund awarded an amount of £237,000 over a three-year period for financial 

inclusion posts as part of the funding for the Joining the Dots project. This project came to an end in the 

year. 
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REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 

 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

Financial Review 
 

The results for the year are shown in the statement of comprehensive income.  

 

Major investment in the year included programmes of work in boiler upgrades, kitchen bathroom and rewire 

programmes, door entry and environmental upgrades across the stock. In the year the largest project was the 

work to improve the multi storey blocks as mentioned on page 4. Grant from the Scottish Government and 

additional loan finance from the Energy Savings Trust has assisted with this.  

 

The result for the year was a £2.56m deficit before pension adjustments. The movements in the valuations of 

the pension schemes resulted in a £257k credit compared with a £3.54m credit in the previous year. That left a 

£2.28m deficit for the year compared to a £643k surplus in the previous year. The pension changes together 

with the safety work being done in the stock was the main changes between the years.  

 

The effects of the pandemic and supply chain disruption are continuing to affect the Associations finances. The 

effects of increases in material prices and maintenance costs are affecting the values of contracts. Fewer 

contractors willing to price for works is affecting tenders and delaying works being done. 

 

The Association is in an acceptable financial position with over £19.3m deposited as cash funds, at the year 

end. The Association continues to have a significant major repair investment programme due to our 

commitments to keep the properties to a good standard and the long-term promises for improvements to the 

stock. Cash surpluses will continue to be made, subject to our planned maintenance programme over the next 

few years. 

 

Treasury Management 

 

The Association has an active treasury management function, which operates in accordance with the Treasury 

Management Policy approved by the Board. In this way the Association manages its borrowing arrangements 

to ensure that it is always able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due, whilst minimising excess cash 

and liquid resources held. The Association, as a matter of policy, does not enter transactions of a speculative 

nature. At 31 March 2023 the Association has a mix of fixed and variable rate finance which it considers 

appropriate at this time. 

 

The Association constantly keeps its loan portfolio under review and seeks to manage its loans prudently. The 

average interest rate on the loans in the year was 3.71% (2022 – 3.30%).  Under the terms of the loan 

agreements, there are several financial and operational covenants that limit the Association’s operating and 

financial flexibility. A failure to comply with any of these covenants could result in default under the agreement 

and an acceleration of repayment of the debt outstanding. As far as the Board are aware the terms of all covenants 

were met during the year. 
 

Pensions 

 

The Association has staff in both the Scottish Housing Association Pension Scheme (SHAPS) and Strathclyde 

Pension Fund (SPF). An active review of both existing pension schemes continued in the year together with 

consideration of other pension issues such as auto enrolment. The Association closed off entry to the final 

salary element of the SHAPS scheme back in 2011. 

 

The membership in the SPF scheme arose because of staff that came into the Association as part of the stock 

transfer in 2011. The membership in the scheme is on a closed basis and only those staff that came across have 

the right to join the SPF. As a result, active membership is declining as staff leave the Association. An active 

review of both schemes continues to be undertaken. 

 

The Association has in place pension arrangements that satisfy the requirements under auto enrolment 

legislation.   
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REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 

 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

Policies and procedures 
 

Risk Management Policy 

 

The Board have a formal risk management process to assess business risks and implement risk management 

strategies. This involves identifying the types of risks the Association faces, prioritising them in terms of 

potential impact and likelihood of occurrence, and identifying means of mitigating the risks. As part of this 

process the Board have reviewed the adequacy of the Association’s current internal controls. 

 

The Board have set policies on internal controls which cover the following: 

 

• Consideration of the type of risks the Association faces. 

• The level of risks which they regard as acceptable. 

• The likelihood of the risks concerned materialising. 

• The Association’s ability to reduce the incidence and impact on the business of risks that do 

materialise; and the costs of operating controls relative to the benefit obtained. 

• Clarified the responsibility of management to implement the Board’s policies and identify and to 

evaluate risks for their consideration. 

• Communicated that employees have responsibility for internal control as part of their accountability 

for achieving objectives. 

• Embedded the control system so that it becomes part of the culture of the Association. 

• Developed systems to respond quickly to evolving risks arising from factors within the Association 

and to changes in the external environment; and 

• Included procedures for reporting failings immediately to appropriate levels of management and the 

Board together with details of corrective action being undertaken. 

 

General Reserves Policy 

 

The Board members have previously reviewed the reserves of the Association in conjunction with the long-

term maintenance plans. This review encompassed the nature of the income and expenditure streams, the need 

to match variable income with fixed commitments and the nature of the reserves. The review concluded that to 

allow the Association to be managed efficiently and to provide a buffer for uninterrupted services, reserves 

equivalent to at least one year’s operating costs should be maintained. The Association’s revenue reserves 

currently amount to £21m. The planned maintenance reserves are separate from these totals. 

 

While this is welcome in future years there will be significant expenditure required to upgrade the stock. The 

Association’s maintenance life cycle plan had resulted in the Association running through a period of years 

where outside of investment in the multi storeys there had been lower planned maintenance expenditure in the 

other stock. The years ahead will require significant expenditure and further increases in reserves may be 

delayed. Also, future building of new stock will be done with considerably lower grant levels than in the past. 

The Association will need to generate higher levels of internal reserves to fund future stock replacement. 

 

Maintenance policies 

 

The Association seeks to maintain its properties to the highest standard. To this end programmes of cyclical 

repairs are carried out in the medium term to deal with the gradual and predictable deterioration of building 

components.  It is expected that the cost of all these repairs would be charged to the Income and Expenditure 

account. 
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In addition, the Association has a long-term programme of major repairs to cover for works which have 

become necessary since the original development was completed, including works required by subsequent 

legislative changes.  This includes replacement or repairs to features of the properties, which have come to the 

end of their economic lives. The cost of the repairs would be charged to the Income and Expenditure account, 

unless it was agreed they could be capitalised within the terms outlined in the SORP. The Association applies 

component accounting and the cost of replacement of major components will be capitalised and any remaining 

net book value of the original component will be written off to the Income and Expenditure account.  

 

Rental Income 

 

The Association’s general Rent Policy is based on the size, type, and facilities of the accommodation. The 

policy ensures that the rent structure is easy to administer and covers the wide variations of properties.  This 

policy follows the generally accepted practice/principles of the Housing Association Sector. Some elements of 

the stock are covered by pre-existing agreements. The Association is re-structuring its rents as re-let’s arise to 

bring all properties onto a standard basis. 

 

Employees with disabilities 

 

Applications for employment by people with disabilities are given full and fair consideration for all vacancies 

in accordance with their aptitudes and abilities. In the event of employees becoming disabled, every effort is 

made to retrain them in order that their employment with the Association may continue. The Association’s 

policy is that training, career development and promotion opportunities should be available to all employees. 

 

Employee Engagement and Health & Safety 

 

The Association takes seriously its responsibilities to employees and as a policy, provides employees with 

information on matters of concern to them.  It is also the policy of the Association to consult where practical, 

employees or their representatives so that their views may be considered in making decisions likely to affect 

their interests. The approach to employee engagement includes a joint management and staff engagement 

focus/steering group and various employee engagement subgroups.   

 

Staff enjoy the benefits of membership of the Company Health Plan which supports employee health and 

wellbeing. The Association has an Attendance Management Policy and procedures in place with a strong focus 

on support.  The Association benchmarks staff turnover levels, sickness absence, ethnic mix, gender, and age 

profile against available statistics on a regular basis. Health and safety have a high profile at the Association, 

detailed health and safety policies and procedures are in place across the business.  All staff and Board 

members receive regular training on health and safety matters and regular reports on health and safety are 

provided to the Staffing Sub-Committee.  

 

Equality  

 

The Association takes a positive approach to promoting its services to Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 

communities and has employed a succession of trainees through its partnership with PATH (Scotland).  The 

Association has provided a series of work placement opportunities for local young people.  The Association 

also supports the work of Positive Action in Housing (PAiH) and will continue to work with all its partners to 

support equality and diversity throughout North Glasgow. 
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During 2022/23 35% (2021/22 - 26%) of the Association lets were to households of ethnic minority 

background and 27% (2021/22 23%) of the waiting list applicants at the year end were of ethnic minority 

background.  

 

Staff training 

 

The Association provides staff with access to training on courses relevant to their employment. During the year 

there was a total of 268 days staff training (2022 – 221) which equated to an average of 2.7 days (2022 – 1.8 

days) for each member of the core staff. 
 

Board and Executive team 
 

Members of the Board 

The Members of the Board of the Association during the year to 31 March 2023 were as follows:  

 

C Rossine (Chairperson) P Nelson (resigned 30/05/23) 

J Berrington (Secretary) I Cross (resigned  13/9/22) 

J Thorburn M Thomson (resigned 13/9/22) 

G Satti  (Vice- Chairperson) A Gow   

J MacLeod  M Lam (resigned 23/6/22) 

F Malcolm  J Kennedy  

M Grimley  J Fernie  

 

 

Each member of the Board holds one fully paid share of £1 in the Association. The executive officers of the 

Association hold no interest in the Association’s share capital and although not having the legal status of 

“director” they act as executives within the authority delegated by the Board. 

 

Executive Team – key management personnel 

J Devine – Chief Executive Officer  

R Hartness – Deputy Chief Executive Officer  

T Sweeney – Director of Corporate Services 

L Cooper – Director of Housing Services 

 

The remuneration of all staff in the Association is calculated in relation to the salary scales set by Employers in 

Voluntary Housing.  

 

Recruitment and training of Board members 

Vacancies on the Board are filled from members of the community who have a commitment to the furtherance 

of social housing and the aims and objectives of the Association. Members are drawn from a wide range of 

backgrounds and experience to maintain the necessary mix of skills required to govern and control a complex 

organisation. 

 

All Board and Sub-Committee members receive thorough and detailed training on governance and other 

related matters on a regular basis and they sign-up to the ng homes Board members Code of Conduct annually. 

Board members have embraced new technology and attended virtual conferences, webinars and remote 

training sessions on zoom and Microsoft teams as well as in person events.  
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The Association complies with the SHR’S regulatory standards of governance and financial management. In 

addition to governance training, the Board has also benefitted from specialised training and development 

sessions on other priority issues identified from training needs assessments, Board appraisal and business 

priorities. Training sessions are held out with Board meetings and frequently involve external expert 

facilitators. Annual core training includes sessions on health and safety and equality and diversity and the plan 

for 2023/24 will include other priorities identified from the 22/23 Board appraisal process. 

 

In addition to ng homes training and awareness sessions, Board members participate in relevant external 

training and attend external conferences and seminars e.g., events organised by Scottish Federation of Housing 

Associations (SFHA), Glasgow and West of Scotland Forum (GWSF), Employers in Voluntary Housing 

(EVH) and SHARE. 

 

Related parties 

 

Various members of the Board and area committees are tenants, sharing owners or Councillors. The tenancies 

are on the Association’s normal tenancy terms, and they could not use their position to their advantage.  

Sharing owners have lease agreements and these are also on the Housing Associations normal terms. City 

Councillors who are members of the Board declare their interests relating to relevant decisions taken by the 

Association or the City Council. 

 

Other issues 
 

Group Structure 

 

The Association has four wholly owned subsidiaries. NG Property (Scotland) Limited whose objective is to 

provide factoring services and other activities that the Association cannot due to its charitable status. Design 

Services Glasgow Limited (DSGL) handles the development activities of the Association and acts as its main 

contractor. This arrangement ensures that the development activities are carried out in the most VAT efficient 

manner.  

 

ng2 Limited carries out social economy activities. As noted earlier in the report ng2 continues to have a 

significant impact in providing employment and training. The Association has a dormant subsidiary ng3 

Limited. 

 

The Association will continue to review whether the group structure is appropriate. 

 

Future developments 

 

The Association intends to continue with its policy of improving the quality of housing working with its 

existing and new partners. The Association in conjunction with Glasgow City Council and the Scottish 

Government has a programme of agreed and proposed regeneration activities. The Association will continue to 

explore opportunities for the provision of new housing with both public and private sector bodies. Specific 

projects include: 

 

• Planned maintenance investment of £8.8 million in 2023/24. 

• Investment in bringing empty properties back into use with Scottish Government support 

 

Throughout all the Association’s and its partner’s activities we will strive to make North Glasgow a 

community where people can flourish and prosper. 

30



NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 13 

REPORT OF THE BOARD AND STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

Legislation and branding 

 

Under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 the Association is a Community Benefit 

Society. 
 

The Association will remain formally titled as North Glasgow Housing Association Limited, but a shorter 

description of NG Homes has been adopted to reflect the range of its activities in most of its communications.  
 

Post Balance Sheet Events 
 

There have been no important events since the financial year end that have had an impact on the financial 

position of the Association. 

 

Going Concern 

 

The Board has reviewed the results for this year and has also reviewed the projections for the next five years. 

It, therefore, has a reasonable expectation that the Association has adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis has been adopted in 

these financial statements. The long-term effect that the coronavirus pandemic may have on the Associations 

income and costs is unknown at this time. 

 
Information for auditors 
 

As far as the Board members are aware there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are 

unaware, and the Board members have taken all the steps they ought to have taken to make themselves aware 

of any relevant audit information and to ensure that the auditors are aware of any such information. 
 

Auditors 

 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited has indicated its willingness to continue in office.  

 

On behalf of the Board 
 

 

 

 

J Berrington 

Secretary 

 

50 Reidhouse Street 

Glasgow 

G21 4LS 
 

Date:  25 July 2023 
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The Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards. 

 

Under the legislation relating to Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies the Board are required to 

prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Association and of the surplus or deficit of the Association of that period.  In preparing those financial 

statements the Board are required to: 

 

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently. 

- observe the methods and principles in the RSL SORP and FRS 102; 

- make reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates; 

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Association will continue in business. 

 

The Board is also responsible for: 

 

- keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 

position of the RSL and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing (Scotland) Act 2014 and the 

Determination of Accounting Requirements – 2019; 

- safeguarding the Association's assets; and 

- taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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The Board acknowledge their ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the Association has in place a system of 

controls that is appropriate to the various business environments in which it operates. These controls are designed 

to give reasonable assurance with respect to: 

 

- the reliability of financial information used within the Association or for publication; 

 

- the maintenance of proper accounting records; and 

 

- the safeguarding of assets (against unauthorised use or disposition). 

 

It is the Board’s responsibility to establish and maintain systems of internal financial control.  Such systems can 

only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material financial misstatement or loss.  Key elements 

include ensuring that; 

 

- formal policies and procedures are in place, including the documentation of key systems and rules 

relating to the delegation of authorities, which allow the monitoring of controls and restrict the 

unauthorised use of the Association’s assets. 
 

- experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for important business functions; annual 

appraisal procedures have been established to maintain standards of performance. 

 

- forecasts and budgets are prepared regularly which allow the Board and staff to monitor the key business 

risks and financial objectives, and progress towards financial plans set for the year and the medium term; 

regular management accounts are prepared promptly, providing relevant, reliable and up-to-date financial 

and other information and significant variances from budgets are investigated as appropriate. 

 

- all significant new initiatives, major commitments and investment projects are subject to formal 

authorisation procedures, through relevant sub-committees comprising Board members and others. 

 

- the Board reviews reports from management, from the Chief Executive Officer, staff and from the 

external and internal auditors to provide reasonable assurance that control procedures are in place and are 

being followed. This includes a general review of the major risks facing the Association. 

 

- formal procedures have been established for instituting appropriate action to correct weaknesses 

identified from the above reports. 

 

The Board have reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal financial control in existence in the 

Association for the year ended 31 March 2023 and until the below date.  No weaknesses were found in internal 

financial controls which resulted in material losses, contingencies, or uncertainties which require disclosure in the 

financial statements or in the auditors’ report on the financial statements. 

 

On behalf of the Board 

 

 

J Berrington 

Secretary 

 

Date: 25 July 2023  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING 

ASSOCIATION LIMITED ON INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS 

 

In addition to our audit of the Financial Statements, we have reviewed your statement on page 16 concerning 

the Association’s compliance with the information required by the Regulatory Standards for systemically 

important RSLs in respect of internal financial controls contained within the publication “Our Regulatory 

Framework” and associated Regulatory Advisory Notes which are issued by the Scottish Housing Regulator. 

 

Basis of Opinion 

We carried out our review having regard to the requirements to corporate governance matters within Bulletin 

2006/5 issued by the Financial Reporting Council through enquiry of certain members of the Board and 

Officers of the Association and examination of relevant documents. The Bulletin does not require us to review 

the effectiveness of the Association’s procedures for ensuring compliance with the guidance notes, nor to 

investigate the appropriateness of the reason given for non-compliance. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion the Statement on Internal Financial Control on page 16 has provided the disclosures required by 

the relevant Regulatory Standards for systemically important RSLs within the publication “Our Regulatory 

Framework” and associated Regulatory Advisory Notes issued by the Scottish Housing Regulator in respect of 

internal financial controls and is consistent with the information which came to our attention as a result of our 

audit work on the Financial Statements. 

 

 

 

 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited, Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants 

168 Bath Street 

Glasgow  

G2 4TP 

 

Date: 25 July 2023      
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Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial statements of North Glasgow Housing Association (the ‘Association’) for the 
year ended 31 March 2023 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of 

Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement of Changes in Equity and Notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has 

been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 

102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Association’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of its income 

and expenditure for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the Co-operative and Communities Benefit Societies Act 2014, 

the Housing (Scotland) Act 2010, the Determination of Accounting Requirements 2019.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities 

for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Association in 

accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 

including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the board’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the associations’ ability to continue 

as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 

issue.  

 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the board with respect to going concern are described in the 

relevant sections of this report.  

 

Other information 

The Board of Management are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 

otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 

material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 

material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. 

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Association and its environment obtained in the course 

of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Board of Managements' Report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where The Co-operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• The information given in the Report of the Board of Management is inconsistent with the Financial 

Statements;  

• Proper books of accounts have not been kept by the Association in accordance with the requirements 

of the legislation; 

• A satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained by the Association in 

accordance with the requirement of the legislation; 

• The financial statements are not in agreement with the books of accounts; or 

• We have not received all the information and explanations necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.   

 

Responsibilities of the Board of Management 

As explained more fully in the Boards' Responsibilities Statement set out on page 15, the Board of 

Management are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 

give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Board of Management determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Management are responsible for assessing the Association’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Management either intend to liquidate the Association 

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 

procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 

irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 

including fraud is detailed below:  

 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including 

fraud  

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and then design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, including obtaining audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 

In identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud and 

non-compliance with laws and regulations we considered the following:  

 

• The nature of the association and the industry, control environment and business performance 

including performance targets; and  

• Our enquiries of management about their identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities. 

Based on our understanding of the association and the industry we identified that the principal risks of non-

compliance with laws and regulations related to, but were not limited to;  

• Regulations and legislation pertinent to the company’s industry operations including compliance with 

the Scottish Housing Regulator; and 
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• UK tax legislation.  

We considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material impact on the financial statements. 

We also considered those laws and regulations which have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial 

statements, such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for 

fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of management override of controls), 

and determined that the principal risks were related to; 

• Posting inappropriate journal entries; and  

• Management bias in accounting estimates. 

Audit response to the risks identified;  

Our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:  

 

• Gaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the 

industry in which it operates including the requirements of the Scottish Housing Regulator; 

• Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess 

compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the 

financial statements;  

• Enquiring of management and legal advisors concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;  

• Reviewing correspondence with HMRC;  

• In addressing the risk of fraud as a result of management override of controls, testing the 

appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments’ assessing whether the judgements made in 

making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and, evaluating business rationale of 

any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.  

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement 

team members, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations 

throughout the audit.  

 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance 

with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely 

we would be to become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is 

higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, 

for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 

Reporting Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 

our auditor’s report. 
 

This report is made solely to the Association’s members, as a body, in accordance with the Co-operative and 

Communities Benefit Societies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Association’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 

the Association and the Association’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited, Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants  

168 Bath Street, Glasgow G2 4TP 

 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 

 

 

     

 Notes 2023  2022 

     

  £  £ 

     

Revenue 2 27,405,224  26,287,331 

     

Operating costs 2 (28,808,051)  (28,020,278) 

     

Operating (deficit)/ surplus  (1,402,827)  (1,732,947) 

     

Gain on sale of housing stock 4  -  33,029 

Interest receivable and other income  200,614  51,052 

Interest payable and other charges 5 (1,336,074)  (1,340,939) 

Other Finance Charges  (25,047)  (91,064) 

(Deficit) for year  (2,563,334)  (3,080,869) 

Gift aid  20,000  180,000 

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes  257,043  3,543,872 

     

Total Comprehensive Income (2,286,291)  643,003 

 

All amounts relate to continuing operations. The notes on pages 24 – 48 form part of these financial 

statements. 

 

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 25 July 2023 and signed on their 

behalf by:  

 

Secretary:   

 

Board member:  

 

Board member:    
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

 

      

   2023  2022 

 Notes £ £ £ £ 

Tangible Fixed Assets      

Housing properties      

Depreciated cost  8  117,650,188  116,765,774 

      

Other noncurrent assets 10  1,359,848  1,534,382 

   119,010,036  118,300,156 

Investments – subsidiaries 22  1,300  1,300 

   119,011,336  118,301,456 

Current Assets      

Stock  25,721  103,476  

Debtors 11 2,363,659  1,801,407  

Cash at hand and in bank  19,352,000  21,752,552  

  21,741,380  23,657,435  

Current Liabilities      

Creditors due within one year 12 (7,240,225)  (8,282,275)  

      

Net Current Assets   14,501,155  15,375,160 

Total Assets less Current Liabilities   133,512,491  133,676,616 

      

Creditors due after more than one year 13  (42,193,464)  (43,180,346) 

   91,319,027  90,496,270 

Deferred income 16  (14,933,733)  (11,544,661) 

Provision for pension liability 26  (657,000)  (937,000) 

   75,728,294  78,014,609 

      

Capital and Reserves      

Share Capital 17  87  111 

Revenue Reserves   35,693,243  36,859,611 

Revaluation Reserve   40,034,964  41,154,887 

   75,728,294  78,014,609 

      

 

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 25 July 2023 and signed on their 

behalf by:  

 

Secretary:  

 

Member:  

 

Member:  

 

 

The notes on pages 24 – 48 form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2023 

 

    

2023 

  

2022 

      

 Note £ £  £ 

      

Net cash inflow from operating activities 18  796,930  3,738,593 

      

Investing activities      

Cash paid for construction and purchases  (5,900,241)   (15,033,216) 

Housing association grant received  4,512,167   182,438 

Housing association grant repaid  -   - 

Sales of housing properties  -   42,980 

Purchase of other fixed assets  (133,226)   (440,435) 

      

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing 

activities 

   

(1,521,300) 

  

(15,248,233) 

      

      

Financing      

Interest received on cash and cash equivalents  200,613   51,052 

Interest paid  (1,336,074)   (1,340,939) 

Loan principal repayments  (2,618,285)   (1,614,247) 

Loans received  1,945,279   - 

Share capital issued  1   15 

      

Net cash outflow from financing   (1,808,466)  (2,904,119) 

      

Increase/(decrease) in cash   (2,532,886)  (14,413,759) 

Opening cash and cash equivalents   21,752,552  36,166,311 

Closing cash and cash equivalents   19,219,666  21,752,552 

 

 

 

 

 

Reconciliation of net cashflow to movement in debt     

Increase/(decrease) in cash in year   (2,532,886)  (14,413,759) 

Loan principal repayments   2,618,285  1,614,247 

Loans received   (1,945,279)  - 

Change in net debt   (1,859,880)  (12,799,512) 

Net debt as at 1 April 2022   (19,739,619)  (6,940,107) 

Net debt as at 31 March 2023   (21,599,499)  (19,739,619) 

 

 

The notes on pages 24 – 48 form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 
 

 

 Share  Revenue  Revaluation   

 Capital  Reserves  Reserve  Total 

 £  £  £  £ 

Balance at 1 April 2022 111  36,859,611  41,154,887  78,014,609 

Issue of shares 1  -  -  1 

Cancellation of shares (25)  -  -  (25) 

Deficit for year -  (2,563,334)  -  (2,563,334) 

Gift aid -  20,000  -  20,000 

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of 

pension schemes 

 

- 

  

257,043 

  

- 

  

257,043 

Transfer between reserves -  1,119,923  (1,119,923)  - 

        

Balance as at 31st March 2023 87  35,693,243  40,034,964  75,728,294 

 

 

The notes on pages 25 – 49 form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

 

1. Accounting Policies 

 

(a) Introduction and accounting basis 

 

  The principal accounting policies of the Association are set out in the paragraphs (b) to (r) 

below.  These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 – ‘The Financial Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland’ and 

the Statement of Recommended Practice for Social Housing Providers 2014. The Association is 

a Public Benefit Entity in terms of its compliance with Financial Reporting Standard 102. The 

Association is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  

 

(b) Finance 

 

  The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the capital expenditure referred to 

in note 8 will be grant aided, funded by loans, or met out of reserves, or from proceeds of sales. 

 

(c) Mortgages  

 

  Mortgage loans are advanced by private lenders under the terms of the individual mortgage 

deeds in respect of each property or housing scheme.  Advances are available only in respect of 

those developments, which have been given approval for Housing Association Grant by 

Glasgow City Council. 

 

(d) Housing Association Grants 

 

  Housing Association Grants (HAG) are made by Glasgow City Council and are utilised to 

reduce the amount of mortgage loan in respect of an approved scheme to the amount which it is 

estimated can be serviced by the net annual income of the scheme.  The amount of HAG is 

calculated on the qualifying cost (note 1(f)) of the scheme in accordance with instructions issued 

from time to time by the grant awarding body. HAG and other grants are repayable under 

certain circumstances. These include the disposal of the properties to which the grants relate. 

 

 (e) Housing Association Grant - Acquisition and Development Allowances receivable 

 

  Acquisition and Development Allowances are determined by the grant awarding body and are 

advanced as grants by Glasgow City Council.  They are intended to finance certain internal 

administrative costs relating to the acquisition and development of housing land and buildings 

for approved schemes.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

 (f) Noncurrent assets - Housing land and buildings (note 8)  

 

  Properties included in housing properties are stated at cost.  The cost of such properties includes 

the following: 

  (i) Cost of acquiring land and buildings 

  (ii) Development expenditure including attributable overheads 

  (iii) Interest charged on the loans raised to finance the scheme to date of completion. 

 

Works to existing properties will generally be capitalised under the following circumstances: 

(i) Where a component of the housing property, that has been treated separately for 

depreciation purposes and depreciated over its useful economic life, is replaced, or 

restored; or 

(ii) Where the subsequent expenditure provides an enhancement of the economic benefits of 

the tangible fixed asset in excess of the previously assessed standard performance. Such 

enhancement can occur if improvements result in an increase in rental income, a 

material reduction in future maintenance costs or a significant extension of the life of 

the property. 

 

Works to existing properties which fail to meet the above criteria are charged to the Income and 

Expenditure account. 

 

The major components of the Associations housing properties are deemed to be land, structure, 

kitchens, central heating and boiler systems, bathrooms, and windows. Each component has a 

substantially different economic life and is depreciated over this individual life. Depreciation 

rates are shown in note (h). 

  

Shared ownership properties are included in housing properties at cost, less any provisions 

needed for depreciation or impairment. 

 

The amount of grants received is shown separately on the statement of financial position. 

Housing Association Grant received in respect of revenue expenditure is credited to the 

statement of comprehensive income in the same period as the expenditure to which it relates. 

 

Housing Association Grant may become repayable in certain circumstances, such as the 

disposal of certain assets. The amount repayable would be restricted to the net proceeds of 

sale. 

 

  Interest on the loan financing the development is capitalised up to the relevant date of 

completion. 

 

(g) Low Cost Initiatives for First Time buyers (LIFT) 

 

LIFT transactions are grants received from the grant awarding body and passed onto an eligible 

beneficiary. The grant awarding body has a benefit of a fixed charge on the property. This 

entitles the grant awarding body to a share of the proceeds on the sale of the property by the 

beneficiary. These are classified as investments and are carried at historical cost with the linked 

finance cost (the grant received) being deducted from the gross amount of the asset. As from 1 

April 2008 the Scottish Government has taken security over completed sales and North Glasgow 

no longer includes the grants and related loans to the owner on the balance sheet. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 
  

 (h) Depreciation  

  Housing Properties 

Housing Properties are stated at cost, less social housing and other public grants and less 

accumulated depreciation.  Housing properties have been split between their land and structure 

costs and a specific set of major components which require periodic replacement. Depreciation 

is charged on a straight-line basis over the expected economic useful lives of the properties 

structure of between 30 years and 50 years. No depreciation is charged on the cost of land. 

Other components are depreciated as follows: 

 

Kitchens    over 15 years 

Central heating system and boilers over 20 years 

Bathroom    over 30 years 

Windows    over 30 years 

 

  Other noncurrent assets 

  The Association's assets are written off evenly over their expected useful lives as follows: 

 

  Office premises - over 25 years 

  Furniture & equipment - over 5 years 

  Computer hardware - over 5 years 

  Sheltered fixtures & fittings - over 8 years 

 

 Depreciation is charged on these assets in the year of purchase, but no charge is made in the year 

of disposal. 

 

 (i) Sale of housing properties 

 

Properties are disposed of under the appropriate legislation and guidance. All costs and grants 

relating to the share of property sold are removed from the financial statements at the date of 

sale. Any grants received that cannot be repaid from the proceeds of sale are abated and the 

grants removed from the financial statements. 

 

 (j) Apportionment of management expenses  

 

  Direct employee administration and operating costs have been apportioned to the statement of 

comprehensive income on the basis of costs of the staff to the extent that they are directly 

engaged in each of the operations dealt with in those accounts. 

 

 (k) Value added tax 

 

  The Association is VAT registered and has a Group VAT structure. However, a large proportion 

of NGHA’s income, namely rents, is exempt for VAT purposes and therefore gives rise to a 

partial exemption calculation.  Expenditure as a result is shown inclusive of VAT. 

 

Turnover 

 

 (l) Turnover represents rental and service charge income receivable from tenants, development 

administration, properties developed for sale and other income. Income is recognised on an 

accruals basis and when the Association is entitled to that income. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

 

(m) Pensions 

 

The Association participates in the Scottish Housing Association Defined Benefits Pension 

Scheme and retirement benefits to employees of the Association are funded by the contributions 

from all participating employers and employees in the Scheme. Payments are made in 

accordance with periodic calculations by consulting Actuaries and are based on pension costs 

applicable across the various participating Associations taken as a whole.  

 

Up until March 2019 there was insufficient information to split the assets and liabilities between 

the participating employers. Sufficient information has now been made available and North 

Glasgow Housing Association now accounts for its participation in the Scheme in accordance 

with FRS 102 which requires disclosures presented for both the current and comparative 

period. FRS 102 also requires that quoted securities are valued at their current bid price rather 

than their mid-market value. Details of this are shown in note 23. 

 

  The Association accounts for amounts that it has agreed to pay towards the Growth Fund 

deficit in accordance with paragraph 28.11A of FRS102. The present value of this liability has 

been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. The discount rate applied to this 

obligation is that of a yield rate for a high-quality corporate bond.  

 

The Association, as a result of staff transferring during the GHA stock transfer, is an admitted 

member of Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF). The basis of admittance is that of a closed scheme 

and only transferred employees who already are or wish to join can be a member of this scheme. 

Retirement benefits to these employees are funded by the contributions from all participating 

employers and employees in the Fund. Payments are made to the independently administered 

Fund in accordance with periodic calculations by consulting actuaries and are based on pension 

costs applicable across the various participating member employers. As a closed scheme a 

slightly higher calculated rate is payable by the Association to reflect the limited future 

membership of the scheme. 

 

North Glasgow Housing Association accounts for its participation in the Fund in accordance 

with FRS 102 which requires disclosures presented for both the current and comparative 

period. FRS 102 also requires that quoted securities are valued at their current bid price rather 

than their mid-market value. 

 

The Fund liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted at the current 

rate of return on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability. 

Glasgow Housing Association’s share of the Fund surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable) 

or deficit is recognised in full. The movement in the Fund surplus / deficit is split between 

operating charges, finance items and in the statement of comprehensive income under actuarial 

gain or loss on pension schemes. 

 

(n) Consolidation 

 

The Association and its subsidiary undertakings comprise a group. The FCA has granted 

exemption from preparing group financial statements. The financial statements represent the 

results of the Association and not of the group. The Board is of the opinion that it would be of 

no real value to the members of the Association to consolidate or include the accounts of the 

Association’s subsidiaries in the group accounts, because the business of the Association and that 

of the subsidiaries are so different they cannot be treated as a single undertaking. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

(o) Impairment of fixed assets 

 

Reviews for impairment of housing properties are carried out on an annual basis and any 

impairment in an income-generating unit is recognised by a charge to the Income and 

Expenditure account. Impairment is recognised where the carrying value of an income-

generating unit exceeds the higher of its net realisable value or its value in use. Value in use 

represents the net present value of expected future cash flows from these units. 

 

 Impairment of assets would be recognised in the Income and Expenditure account. 

 

(p) Work in progress 

 

Completed properties and property under construction for outright sale are valued at the lower of 

costs and net realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour and direct development 

overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated sale price after allowing for all further 

costs of completion and disposal. 

 

(q) Financial Instruments 

 

Financial instruments are classified and accounted for, according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangement, as either financial assets, or financial liabilities. 

 

(r) Lease obligations 

 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the income and expenditure account on the 

accrual’s basis. 

 

(s) Stocks 

 

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, being the estimated selling 

price less costs to sell. 
 

(t) Judgements in applying policy and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

Useful lives of property, plant, and 

equipment 

 The useful lives of property, plant and 

equipment are based on the knowledge of 

senior management with reference to expected 

asset life cycles. 

The main components of housing 

properties and their useful lives 

 The cost of housing properties is split into 

separately identifiable components. These 

components were identified by knowledgeable 

and experienced staff members and based on 

costing models. 

Recoverable amount of rental and 

other trade receivables 

 Rental arrears and other trade receivables are 

reviewed by appropriately experienced senior 

management team members on a case-by-case 

basis with the balance outstanding together 

with the payment history of the individual 

tenant being considered. 

The obligations under the SHAPs 

pension scheme and the Strathclyde 

Pension Fund 

 This has relied on the actuarial assumptions of 

a qualified actuary which have been reviewed 

and are considered reasonable and appropriate. 

 

46



N
O

R
T

H
 G

L
A

S
G

O
W

 H
O

U
S

IN
G

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

T
IO

N
 L

IM
IT

E
D

 
 

 
2

9
 

 
N

O
T

E
S

 T
O

 T
H

E
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 S
T

A
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

 

  
A

S
 A

T
 3

1
 M

A
R

C
H

 2
0
2
3

 

 
(C

o
n

ti
n

u
ed

) 

 2
. 

P
a

rt
ic

u
la

rs
 o

f 
re

v
en

u
e,

 o
p

er
a
ti

n
g
 c

o
st

s,
 o

p
er

a
ti

n
g
 s

u
rp

lu
s 

o
r 

d
ef

ic
it

  

  
    

N
o

te
 

T
u

rn
o

v
er

 
 

2
0

2
3
  

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

 

C
o

st
s 

 

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

  

(D
ef

ic
it

) 
 

 
T

u
rn

o
v

er
 

 

2
0

2
2
  

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

 

C
o

st
s 

 
 

 

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

 

S
u

rp
lu

s/
 

(d
ef

ic
it

) 

 
 

£
 

 
£

 
 

£
 

 
 

£
 

 
£

 
 

£
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

S
o

ci
a
l 

le
tt

in
g
s 

3
a 

2
6

,7
2

5
,9

3
5
 

 
(2

8
,1

3
5

,7
7

0
) 

 
(1

,4
0

9
,8

3
5

) 
 

 
2

5
,5

3
3

,9
8

9
 

 
(2

7
,1

8
8

,0
1

1
) 

 
(1

,6
5

4
,0

2
2

) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

O
th

er
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
3

b
 

6
7

9
,2

8
9
 

 
(6

7
2

,2
8
1

) 
 

7
,0

0
8
 

 
 

7
5

3
,3

4
2
 

 
(8

3
2

,2
6
7

) 
 

(7
8

,9
2

5
) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

T
o

ta
l 

 
2

7
,4

0
5

,2
2

4
 

 
(2

8
,8

0
8

,0
5

1
) 

 
(1

,4
0

2
,8

2
7

) 
 

 
2

6
,2

8
7

,3
3

1
 

 
(2

8
,0

2
0

,2
7

8
) 

 
(1

,7
3

2
,9

4
7

) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

47



N
O

R
T

H
 G

L
A

S
G

O
W

 H
O

U
S

IN
G

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

T
IO

N
 L

IM
IT

E
D

 
 

 
3

0
 

N
O

T
E

S
 T

O
 T

H
E

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S
 

A
S

 A
T

 3
1
 M

A
R

C
H

 2
0
2
3
 (

C
o
n

ti
n

u
ed

) 
 

3
a

 -
 P

a
rt

ic
u

la
rs

 o
f 

tu
rn

o
v
er

, 
o

p
er

a
ti

n
g

 c
o
st

s,
 a

n
d

 o
p

er
a

ti
n

g
 s

u
rp

lu
s/

(d
ef

ic
it

) 
fr

o
m

 s
o

ci
a
l 

le
tt

in
g

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

 
G

en
er

a
l 

N
ee

d
s 

H
o

u
si

n
g
 

 
S

h
a
re

d
 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

H
o
u

si
n

g
 

 
 

 

T
o
ta

l 

2
0
2
3
 

 
  

2
0
2
2
 

In
c
o

m
e
 f

r
o

m
 l

e
tt

in
g

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

R
en

t 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

 n
et

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
e 

ch
ar

g
es

 
2
6
,1

3
1
,7

9
2
 

 
8
6
,7

1
2
 

 
 

2
6
,2

1
8
,5

0
4
 

 
2
5
,4

1
6
,0

0
7
 

S
er

v
ic

e 
ch

ar
g
es

  
4
1
,1

5
0
 

 
- 

 
 

4
1
,1

5
0
 

 
4
0
,4

3
9
 

G
ro

ss
 i

n
co

m
e 

fr
o

m
 r

en
ts

 a
n
d

 s
er

v
ic

e 
ch

ar
g

es
 

2
6
,1

7
2
,9

4
2
 

 
8
6
,7

1
2
 

 
 

2
6
,2

5
9
,6

5
4
 

 
2
5
,4

5
6
,4

4
6
 

L
es

s:
 

V
o

id
s 

2
7
2
,2

8
2
 

 
 

 
 

2
7
2
,2

8
2
 

 
3
1
8
,6

4
0
 

N
et

 I
n

co
m

e 
fr

o
m

 r
e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 s
er

v
ic

e 
ch

a
rg

es
 

2
5
,9

0
0
,6

6
0
 

 
8
6
,7

1
2
 

 
 

2
5
,9

8
7
,3

7
2
 

 
2
5
,1

3
7
,8

0
6
 

A
m

o
rt

is
at

io
n
 o

f 
S

o
ci

al
 H

o
u
si

n
g
 a

n
d
 o

th
er

 g
ra

n
ts

 
6

8
5

,1
5

8
 

 
5

3
,4

0
5
 

 
 

7
3

8
,5

6
3
 

 
3

5
4

,0
3

2
 

G
ra

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e 

S
co

tt
is

h
 M

in
is

te
rs

 
- 

 
- 

 
 

- 
 

4
2

,1
5

1
 

G
ra

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 l

o
ca

l 
au

th
o
ri

ti
es

 a
n
d
 o

th
er

 a
g
en

ci
es

 
- 

 
- 

 
 

- 
 

- 

T
o
ta

l 
tu

rn
o
v
er

 f
ro

m
 s

o
ci

a
l 
le

tt
in

g
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
2
6
,5

8
5
,8

1
8
 

 
1
4
0
,1

1
7
 

 
 

2
6
,7

2
5
,9

3
5
 

 
2
5
,5

3
3
,9

8
9
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

an
d
 m

ai
n
te

n
an

ce
 a

d
m

in
is

tr
at

io
n
 c

o
st

s 
8
,5

5
5
,4

5
3
 

 
5
2
,6

3
7
 

 
 

8
,6

0
8
,1

2
0
 

 
8
,0

8
9
,6

4
7
 

S
er

v
ic

e 
co

st
s 

2
,3

4
5
,9

5
3
 

 
- 

 
 

2
,3

4
5
,9

5
3
 

 
1
,8

1
1
,4

7
1
 

P
la

n
n
ed

 a
n
d
 C

y
cl

ic
al

 m
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 

8
,2

0
3
,1

6
4
 

 
- 

 
 

8
,2

0
3
,1

6
4
 

 
8
,5

4
7
,6

6
6
 

R
ea

ct
iv

e 
m

ai
n
te

n
an

ce
 c

o
st

s 
3
,6

8
6
,2

5
7
 

 
- 

 
 

3
,6

8
6
,2

5
7
 

 
4
,0

9
7
,9

7
4
 

B
ad

 d
eb

ts
 –

 r
en

ts
 a

n
d
 s

er
v
ic

e 
ch

ar
g
es

 
2
7
6
,4

4
9
 

 
- 

 
 

2
7
6
,4

4
9
 

 
1
2
7
,6

8
4
 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
 o

f 
so

ci
al

 h
o
u
si

n
g
 

4
,9

5
1
,1

4
6
 

 
6
4
,6

8
1
 

 
 

5
,0

1
5
,8

2
7
 

 
4
,5

1
3
,2

9
9
 

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

 c
o
st

s 
fo

r 
so

ci
a

l 
le

tt
in

g
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
2
8
,0

1
8
,4

5
2
 

 
1
1
7
,3

1
8
 

 
 

2
8
,1

3
5
,7

7
0
 

 
2
7
,1

8
8
,0

1
1
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

 s
u

rp
lu

s 
fo

r 
so

ci
a

l 
le

tt
in

g
s 

(1
,4

3
2
,6

3
4
) 

 
2
2
,7

9
9
 

 
 

(1
,4

0
9
,8

3
5
) 

 
(1

,6
5
4
,0

2
2
) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

2
0

2
2
 

(1
,6

7
6
,9

0
3
) 

 
2
2
,8

8
1
 

 
 

(1
,6

5
4
,0

2
2
) 

 
 

 

T
h

e 
to

ta
l 

am
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
m

aj
o

r 
re

p
ai

rs
 e

x
p

en
d

it
u

re
 i

n
cu

rr
ed

 i
n

 t
h

e 
y
ea

r 
w

as
 £

1
1

,8
5
6

,6
3

1
 (

2
0

2
2

 -
 £

1
8

,4
4

9
,6

7
1
).

 C
o

m
p
o

n
en

t 
ex

p
en

d
it

u
re

 o
f 

£
5

,2
7
4

,6
7

9
 (

2
0

2
2

 -
 £

1
2

,1
3

2
,8

4
1
) 

w
as

 

ca
p

it
al

is
ed

 i
n

 t
h

e 
y

ea
r.

 O
f 

th
is

 t
o

ta
l 

£
5

,2
7

4
,6

7
9

 (
2
0

2
2

 £
1

2
,1

3
2

,8
4
1

) 
w

as
 f

o
r 

co
m

p
o

n
en

t 
re

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

an
d

 £
n

il
 (

2
0

2
2

 £
n

il
) 

w
as

 f
o
r 

im
p
ro

v
em

en
ts

. 

48



N
O

R
T

H
 G

L
A

S
G

O
W

 H
O

U
S

IN
G

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

T
IO

N
 L

IM
IT

E
D

 
 

 
3

1
 

N
O

T
E

S
 T

O
 T

H
E

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S
 

 

Y
e
a

r
 e

n
d

e
d

 3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0
2

3
 

(C
o

n
ti

n
u

e
d

) 
 

3
b

 –
 P

a
rt

ic
u

la
rs

 o
f 

tu
rn

o
v

er
, 

o
p

er
a

ti
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
a
n

d
 o

p
er

a
ti

n
g

 s
u

rp
lu

s 
o

r 
d

ef
ic

it
 f

ro
m

 o
th

er
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
  T

h
e 

to
ta

l 
fo

r 
o

th
er

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

in
cl

u
d

es
 £

4
0

,8
9

1
 (

2
0

2
2
 -

 £
4

1
,8

1
1

) 
fo

r 
re

n
ta

l 
o

f 
ra

d
io

 m
as

ts
 a

n
d

 R
H

I 
in

co
m

e 
o

f 
£
1

1
1

,5
3

7
 (

2
0

2
2
 -

 £
n

il
).

 

 F
u

rt
h

er
 d

et
ai

ls
 o

n
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

an
d

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 f
ro

m
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

ar
e 

g
iv

en
 i

n
 n

o
te

 2
7

. 
P

ar
ti

cu
la

r 
th

an
k

s 
fo

r 
th

ei
r 

su
p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 a

ss
is

ta
n
ce

 a
cr

o
ss

 v
ar

io
u

s 
p

ro
je

ct
s 

is
 g

iv
en

 t
o

 t
h

e 
B

ig
 L

o
tt

er
y

 F
u

n
d

. 

 

G
ra

n
ts

 

fr
o
m

 

S
co

tt
is

h
 

M
in

is
te

rs
 

O
th

er
 

re
v

en
u

e 

g
ra

n
ts

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 

p
eo

p
le

 

in
co

m
e 

O
th

er
 

in
co

m
e 

T
o
ta

l 
 

T
u

rn
o

v
er

 

O
p

er
a

ti
n

g
 

co
st

s 
– 

b
a
d

 

d
eb

ts
 

O
th

er
 

o
p

er
a

ti
n

g
 

co
st

s 

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

 

su
rp

lu
s/

 

(d
ef

ic
it

) 
 

O
p

er
a
ti

n
g

 

su
rp

lu
s/

(d
ef

ic
it

) 

fo
r 

p
re

v
io

u
s 

p
er

io
d

 o
f 

a
cc

o
u

n
t 

 

 
£

 
£

 
£

 
£

 
£

 
£

 
£

 
£

 
£

 

W
id

er
 A

ct
io

n
/w

id
er

 r
o

le
 

7
6

,8
1

2
 

2
6

6
,0

1
8
 

- 
8

,9
6

0
 

3
5

1
,7

9
0
 

- 
5

2
9

,2
2
8
 

(1
7

7
,4

3
8

) 
(1

9
7

,0
6

0
) 

C
ar

e 
an

d
 r

ep
ai

r 
o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

F
ac

to
ri

n
g
 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

D
ev

el
o
p

m
en

t 
ac

ti
v

it
ie

s 
 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

C
ar

e 
ac

ti
v

it
ie

s 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

A
g

en
cy

 s
er

v
ic

es
 f

o
r 

R
S

L’
s 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

O
th

er
 a

g
en

cy
/m

an
ag

em
en

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 

D
ev

el
o
p

m
en

ts
 f

o
r 

sa
le

 t
o

 R
S

L
’s

 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

D
ev

el
o
p

m
en

ts
 a

n
d

 i
m

p
ro

v
em

en
ts

 f
o

r 
sa

le
 t

o
 n

o
n

 

re
g

is
te

re
d
 s

o
ci

al
 l

an
d

lo
rd

s,
 (

in
cl

u
d

in
g
 f

ir
st

 t
ra

n
ch

e 

sh
ar

ed
 o

w
n

er
sh

ip
 s

al
es

) 
 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

O
th

er
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
- 

- 
- 

3
2

7
,4

9
9
 

3
2

7
,4

9
9
 

- 
1

4
3

,0
5
3
 

1
8

4
,4

4
6
 

1
1

8
,1

3
5
 

T
o

ta
l 

fr
o
m

 o
th

er
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
7

6
,8

1
2
 

2
6

6
,0

1
8
 

- 
3

3
6

,4
5
9
 

6
7

9
,2

8
9
 

- 
6

7
2

,2
8
1
 

7
,0

0
8
 

(7
8

,9
2

5
) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

2
0

2
2
 

1
0

7
,6

0
8
 

3
9

3
,0

2
5
 

- 
2

5
2

,7
0
9
 

7
5

3
,3

4
2
 

- 
(8

3
2

,2
6

7
) 

(7
8

,9
2

5
) 

 

49



NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 32 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

 

4. Profit on sale of fixed assets 

         

       2023 2022 

        £ £ 

 Sale proceeds       - 42,980 

 Cost of sales                - (9,951) 

 Gain on sale of fixed assets              - 33,029 

 

 The Association is potentially liable to repay amounts on sales arising from the stock transfer from 

Glasgow Housing Association. During the year no such sales occurred. 

 

5. Interest payable and Other Charges 

       2023 2022 

         £ £ 

 Loan interest on housing properties  1,336,074 1,340,939 

 Other interest                     -                 - 

       1,336,074 1,340,939 

 Less: loan interest capitalised                  -                 - 

       1,336,074   1,340,939 

 

 Interest rates charged on loans during the year ranged from 1.15% to 5.27% (2022: 0.4% to 5.27%). 

There was no deferred interest or interest charged on the late payment of taxation. 

 

6. Taxation 

 

 The Association has charitable status and is no longer liable for tax on its ordinary activities.  

 

7. (Deficit)/surplus for the year 

 

  2023  2022 

(Deficit)/surplus for the year is stated after 

charging: - 

 £  £ 

Depreciation – Housing Properties  5,015,827  4,513,299 

Depreciation – Other Tangible Assets  307,760  300,748 

  5,323,587  4,814,047 

External Auditors Remuneration – Audit Services  11,898  11,466 

External Auditors Remuneration – Other services   624  600 

Operating Lease Rentals – Land & Buildings  93,431  93,431 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 

8. Non Current Assets – Housing properties 

 

None of the Associations land or property is held under a lease.  

 

Housing properties held for letting are stated at deemed cost at 1 April 2014, as amended by subsequent 

additions and disposals, as part of the transitional changes allowed under FRS 102. The deemed cost was 

calculated from the Existing Use Value – Social Housing (EUV- SH) of the housing letting stock at 1 

April 2014 by Jones Lang Lasalle in line with the RICS Valuation Professional Standards required by the 

RICS “Red Book”. 
 

9. Shared equity - LIFT loans  2023  2022 

  £  £ 

LIFT Loans made to owners  490,382  490,382 

LIFT Grants  (490,382)  (490,382) 

  -  - 

 

These amounts represent the amount granted to the LIFT owner up to 1 April 2008 and the 

corresponding grant North Glasgow has received from Glasgow City Council. North Glasgow is 

responsible for the administration of these grants. As from 1 April 2008 the Scottish Government 

has taken security over completed sales and North Glasgow no longer includes the grants and 

related loans to the owner on the balance sheet. 

 

Housing 

properties 

held for 

letting  

Housing 

properties in 

course of 

construction  

Completed 

shared 

ownership 

properties  Total 

 £  £  £  £ 

Cost        

At 1 April 2022 143,932,482  -  2,432,901  146,365,383 

Additions  5,900,241  -    5,900,241 

Disposals -  -  -  - 

Transfers -  -  -  - 

At 31 March 2023 149,832,723  -  2,432,901  152,265,624 

Depreciation and impairment        

At 1 April 2022 28,848,894  -  750,715  29,599,609 

Charge in year 4,951,146  -  64,681  5,015,827 

Disposals -  -  -  - 

        

At 31 March 2023 33,800,040  -  815,396  34,615,436 

        

Net book value        

As at 31 March 2023 116,032,683  -  1,617,505  117,650,188 

        

As at 1 April 2022 115,083,588  -  1,682,186  116,765,774 
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(Continued) 

 

10. Non Current Assets – Other Tangible Assets 

 

  

Office 

Accommodation 

£ 

 

Furniture & 

Equipment 

£ 

 

Computer 

Hardware 

£ 

Sheltered 

Fixtures & 

Fittings 

£ 

 

 

Total 

£ 

Cost      

At 1 April 2022 1,753,410 1,974,937 1,391,621 47,944 5,167,912 

Additions during year - 104,403 28,823 - 133,226 

At 31 March 2023 1,753,410 2,079,340 1,420,444 47,944 5,301,138 

     

Depreciation   

At 1 April 2022 858,845 1,549,830 1,176,911 47,944 3,633,530 

Charge for the year 54,679 146,922 106,159 - 307,760 

At 31 March 2023 913,524 1,696,752 1,283,070 47,944 3,941,290 

     

Net Book Value     

   

As at 31 March 2023 839,886 382,588 137,374 - 1,359,848 

   

As at 1 April 2022 894,565 425,107 214,710 - 1,534,382 

 

11.  Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year 

 

       2023 2022 

        £ £ 

  Rents in arrears   1,478,803 1,467,254 

  Less: bad debt provision    (1,017,654) (998,369) 

        461,149 468,884 

  Trade debtors   1,350 99,806 

  Amounts due from group companies   27,845 37,299 

  Prepayments and accrued income   1,444,587 771,989 

  Other debtors      428,728    423,429  

        2,363,659 1,801,407 
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(Continued) 

 

12.  Creditors due within one year     

        2023 2022 

        £ £ 

  Loans (note 15)   2,489,216 2,454,506 

  Bank overdraft   132,334 - 

  Trade creditors   1,090,269 2,586,219 

  Other Taxation and Social Security   142,340 8,794 

  Other Creditors   735,097 652,055 

  Balance due to group companies   346,331 649,215 

  Accruals     448,882 613,398 

  Deferred income (note 16)   738,563 354,031 

  Liability for past service contributions (note 14)  912 912 

  Rents in advance   1,116,281      963,145 

        7,240,225 8,282,275 

 

13.      Creditors due after more than one year    

       2023 2022 

       £ £ 

  Liability for past service contributions (note 14)  684 1,592 

  Other creditors   3,862,829 4,141,087 

  Loans (note 15)   38,329,951 39,037,667 

        42,193,464 43,180,346 

 

14.      Liability for past service contributions 

 

The Association has staff in three pension schemes that are defined as a defined benefit scheme. Strathclyde Pension Fund 

(SPF) has been reported as a liability on the statement of financial position in previous years. The Scottish Housing 

Association Pension Scheme and the Pension Trust Growth Plan were reported as defined contribution schemes with 

inclusion of agreed deficit repayment plans included on the statement of financial position. Last year due to sufficient 

information becoming available the SHAP scheme is now treated as a defined benefit scheme and only the Growth Plan 

continues to be treated as a defined contribution scheme with deficit liabilities provided for. 

 

Growth Plan        

     2023  2022 

     £  £ 

At 1 April 2022     2,504  11,128 

Unwinding of discount factor     47  64 

Deficit contribution paid     (912)  (2,816) 

Remeasurements in assumptions     (43)  (5,872) 

        

At 31 March 2023     1,596  2,504 

        

Due in under one year     912  912 

Due in over one year     684  1,592 

     1,596  2,504 

        

 

The liability for past service contributions for the Growth Plan has been accounted for in accordance with FRS 102 Para 

28.13A and represents the present value of the contributions payable. The cash out flows have been discounted for the 

Growth Plan at a rate of 5.52% (2022 – 2.35%). 
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(Continued) 

 

15.      Loans 

 

  Loans are secured by specific charges on the Association's properties.  Loans are repayable at varying rates of 

interest of 1.15% to 5.27% (2022 – 0.4% to 5.27%) in instalments due as follows: 

 

       2023 2022 

        £ £ 

  In one year or less (note 12)   2,489,216 2,454,506 

  Between one and two years   2,562,822 2,567,753 

  Between two and five years   6,461,823 6,040,131 

  In five years or more   29,305,306 30,429,782 

        40,819,167 41,492,172 

 

  The Association has a number of long-term housing loans the terms and conditions of which are as follows: 

 

Lender Security Effective 

Interest rate 

Maturity Variable/ 

Fixed 

Nationwide Standard security  5.03% 2034 Fixed 

Nationwide Standard security  5.51% 2034 Fixed 

Nationwide Standard security Libor + 0.37% 2034 Variable 

Nationwide Standard security 195 properties Libor + 0.75% 2034 Variable 

THFC Standard security 185 properties 4.395% 2030 Fixed  

GBSH Standard security 1,068 properties 5.193% 2038 Fixed 

 

  The Nationwide Building Society holds a standard security over 1,173 properties for its first facility. These 

properties secure the loans in the first three lines above. The fixes end at dates before the final loan maturity date.  

 

16.  Deferred income 

      

   2023  2022 

 Social Housing and other Grant  £  £ 

 Balance at 1 April 2022  11,898,692  12,070,285 

 Additions in year  4,512,167  182,438 

 Amortisation in year  (738,563)  (354,031) 

   15,672,296  11,898,692 

      

 Due in under one year  738,563  354,031 

 Due in over one year  14,933,733  11,544,661 

   15,672,296  11,898,692 
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(Continued) 
 

17.  Share Capital   2023 2022 

        £ £ 

 Shares of £1 fully paid and issued at 1 April 111  128 

 Shares issued during year 1 15 

 Shares cancelled in year (25)   (32) 

 Shares issued at 31 March   87 111 

 

Each member of the Association holds one share of £1 in the Association.  These shares carry no rights to 

dividend or distributions on a winding up.  When a shareholder ceases to be a member, that person’s share is 

cancelled, and the amount paid thereon becomes the property of the Association.  Each member has a right to 

vote at members’ meetings. 

 

18.  Statement of Cash Flow       

 Reconciliation of operating surplus    2023  2022 

  £  £ 

 Operating (deficit)/surplus for year   (1,402,827)  (1,732,947) 

 Depreciation – housing properties  5,015,827  4,513,299 

 Depreciation – other assets  307,760  300,749 

 Amortisation of capital grants  (738,563)  (354,032) 

 Change in stock  77,755  184,292 

 Change in debtors  (562,252)  221,059 

 Change in creditors  (2,157,838)  (2,937,667) 

 Change in pension provision  257,043  3,543,872 

 Share capital cancelled  (25)  (32) 

 Net cash inflow from operating activities  796,930  3,738,593 

      

        2023 2022 

  The number of units in management at 31 March was as follows:   No.  No. 

 

  General needs housing   5,427 5,426 

  Shared ownership accommodation        37      37 

       5,464 5,463 

Twenty one units of mid-market rent properties are under management by the Associations subsidiary NG 

Property (Scotland) Limited. 

           

20. Employees     2023 2022 

         £ £ 

Wages and salaries    4,224,903 3,969,802 

Social security costs     428,032 367,171 

Other pension costs          879,544    1,054,807 

        5,532,479 5,391,780 
 

The total above includes payments totalling £nil (2022 - £107,765) for zero members of staff (2022 – two) who left during 

the year under a voluntary severance scheme. This total includes £nil (2022 - nil) due to Strathclyde Pension Fund for 

strain payments on the fund.  
 

The number of persons employed by the Association  No No 

during the year were as follows: 

 - full time equivalent   117 121 
 

Full time equivalent is based on a thirty-five-hour week as staff are employed on varying contracts ranging up to 42 hours 

per week. 
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20. Employees  (contd) 

 

The definition of key management personnel in the 2019 Determination includes those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any 

director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. This includes governing body members. The aggregate amount 

of emoluments payable to or receivable by, the key management personnel and former key management personnel of 

the Association landlord whose total emoluments are £60,000 or more, excluding employer’s pension contributions, 

during the reporting period is disclosed below.  

         £ £ 

Emoluments payable to key management personnel earning over £60k  360,465 407,241 

 

Emoluments payable to all key management personnel (without pension contributions) 360,465 407,241 

 

Emoluments payable to the CEO (Appointed 1 October 2021)  118,663        55,663 

Pension contributions for the CEO (Appointed 1 October 2021)    19,037   9,017 

  137,700  66,680 
 

Emoluments over £60,000 including pension contributions paid to key management personnel can be analysed as 

follows: 

         No   No 

£60,001 - £70,000   -     - 

£70,001 - £80,000  -     - 

£80,001 - £90,000  -     1 

£90,001 - £100,000  2     2 

£110,001 - £120,000  - 1 

£120,001 - £130,000  1 1 

£120,001 - £140,000      1     -  

No member of the Board received any emoluments in respect of their services to the Association. 

 

Expenses paid to the Board  5,723 4,417 

 

The Association’s contributions to the pension scheme for key management personnel earning over £60k in the year 

amounted to £88,763 (2022 - £105,307).  

 

21.    Related Parties  

 

Members of the Board are related parties of the Association as defined by Financial Reporting Standard 102. Tenants, 

sharing owners and owners who are members of the Board are not treated differently to any other tenants or owners. 

City Councilors who are members of the Board declare their interests relating to relevant decisions taken by the 

Association or the City Council. Governing Board members cannot use their position to any advantage. Any transaction 

between the Association and any entity with which a Governing Body Member has a connection with is made at arms 

length and is under normal commercial terms. 

 

The related party relationships of the members of the Board are that five members were tenants of the Association, two 

members were factored owners, and seven members were neither tenants nor factored owners. 
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21.    Related Parties (Contd) 

 

Transactions with Governing Board Members in the year were £18,240 (2022 - £19,606) of rent was charged and 

£851 (2022 £737) of factoring charges. At the year end there were arrears of rent of £378 (2022 - £190) and 

factoring charges of £46 (2022 - £nil).  

 

The Association has taken advantage of the exemptions conferred by FRS102 in not disclosing transactions with 

wholly owned subsidiaries of the Association.  

 

One Board member is a director of SHARE (Scottish Housing Association Resource for Education). The purchases 

in the year from SHARE was £14,321 (2022 - £19,770). At the year end there was a balance of £7,525 owed to 

SHARE. 

 

22. Subsidiary Companies 

 

The Association has four subsidiary companies NG Property (Scotland) Limited (NGPS), Design Services 

Glasgow Limited (DSGL), ng2 Limited and ng3 Limited. All companies are companies limited by shares and 

are registered in Scotland 

 

 % Class Country of Cost 

  Holding of shares Incorporation £ 

 

 NGPS  100 Ordinary Scotland 1,000 

 DSGL 100 Ordinary Scotland 100 

ng2 100 Ordinary Scotland 100 

ng3 100 Ordinary Scotland 100 

 

NGPS handles the factoring and other activities that the Association cannot undertake due to its charitable 

status. NGPS had capital and reserves of £211,000 (2022 capital and reserves of £195,034) and profits of 

£15,966 (2022 profit of £211) for the year ended 31 March 2023. The principal activity of the company is that 

of property management. Balance due to NGPS at year end was £198,700 (2022 – balance due to NGPS 

£212,360). 

 

DSGL handles the development contracts for the group. DSGL has capital and reserves of £60,359 (2022 – 

£51,821) and profit of £8,537 for the year (2022 – profit £8,719). The principal activity of the company is that 

of design services and contracting. Balance of £27,846 was owed from DSGL at the year end (2022 – owed by 

DSGL £37,299).  

 

ng2 was formed to handle the Associations social economy activities and to encourage local employment 

and training opportunities. The result for the year was a profit of £51,185 (2022 £44,795) and capital and 

reserves of £875,510 (2022 - £824,325). Balance due by the Association at 31 March 2023 was £147,632 

(2022 – due by the Association £436,857).  

 

ng3 Limited was formed in 2010 and is a dormant company. 

 

The Board is of the opinion that it would be of no real value to the members of the Association to 

consolidate or include the accounts of the Association’s subsidiaries in the group accounts, required to be 

prepared under Section 98 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 for the year 

ended 31 March 2023, because the business of the Association and that of the subsidiaries are so different 

they cannot be treated as a single undertaking and there is no value to the members in preparing group 

accounts. 
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23. Pension Fund – Scottish Housing Associations Pension Scheme 

 

The company participates in the Scottish Housing Associations’ Pension Scheme (the Scheme), a multi-employer 

scheme which provides benefits to some 150 non-associated employers. The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme 

in the UK.  

 

The Scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 

December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial 

Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit 

occupational pension schemes in the UK.  

 

The Scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore, the company is potentially liable for 

other participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit 

following withdrawal from the Scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the 

Scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the Scheme.  

 

The assumptions that have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are those relating to the rate 

of return on investments and the rates of increases in salaries and pensions. The principal actuarial assumptions at 

the year end were as follows: 

   2023 2022 

Discount rate   4.88% 2.79% 

Future salary increases   3.20% 4.21% 

Inflation RPI   2.74% 3.62% 

Inflation CPI   3.74% 3.21% 

Allowance for commutation of pension for 

cash at retirement 

  75% of max 

allowance 

75% of max 

allowance 

 

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 March 2023 imply the following life expectancies for a 65-year-old to 

live for a number of years as follows: 

    2023  2022 

Male retiring in 2023    20.5  21.6 

Female retiring in 2023    23.0  23.9 

Male retiring in 2041    21.7  22.9 

Female retiring in 2041    24.4  25.4 

 

The assumptions used by the actuary are chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the 

timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. 
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23. Pension Fund – Scottish Housing Associations Pension Scheme (contd) 

 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows: 

   2023 2022 

   £000’s £000’s 

Opening defined benefit obligation    20,633 21,409 

Current service cost   279 440 

Expenses   16 16 

Interest expense   572 461 

Contributions by plan participants   152 153 

Actuarial losses/(gains) due to scheme experience   (2,641) 213 

Actuarial losses/(gains) due to changes in demographic assumptions   (322) 69 

Actuarial losses/(gains) due to changes in financial assumptions   (4,814) (1,649) 

Liabilities extinguished on settlements   - - 

Liabilities assumed in a business combination   - - 

Benefits paid and expenses   (666) (479) 

Closing defined benefit obligation   13,209 20,633 

 

Movements in fair value of plan assets      

Opening fair value of plan assets    20,554  19,499 

Interest income   574  424 

Experience on plan assets (excluding amount in interest)   (8,629)  131 

Contributions by the employer   567  826 

Contributions by plan participants   152  153 

Benefits paid and expenses   (666)  (479) 

Closing fair value of plan assets   12,552  20,554 

 

The actual return on the plan assets (including any changes in share of assets) over the period ended 31 March 2023 

was £?? 

 

Defined benefit costs recognised in statement of comprehensive income    

Current service cost       279  440 

Expenses      16  16 

Net interest expense      (2)  37 

         

Defined benefit costs recognized in SOCI      293  493 

 

Defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive income 

Experience on plan assets (excluding amount in interest)   (8,629)  440 

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities   2,641  16 

Effect of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation 

  322  37 

Effect of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the 

present value of the defined benefit obligation 

  4,814  493 

      

Defined benefit costs recognized in OCI   (852)  440 
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23. Pension Fund – Scottish Housing Associations Pension Scheme (contd) 

Movement in deficit during the year 

(Deficit) at beginning of year   (79)  (1,910) 

Current service cost   (279)  (440) 

Losses on settlements or curtailments   -  - 

Employer contributions   551  810 

Past service costs   -  - 

Net interest expense   2  37 

Actuarial gain/(losses)   (852)  1,498 

(Deficit) at end of the year   (657)  (79) 

 

The value of the plan assets were as follows 

      2023  2022 

      £000’s  £000’s 

Global Equity       331  4,064 

Absolute Return      171  942 

Distressed Opportunities      386  737 

Credit Relative Value       479  659 

Alternative Risk Premia       72  849 

Emerging Markets Debt       97  765 

Risk Sharing       915  670 

Insurance-Linked Securities       349  431 

Property       523  533 

Infrastructure       1,352  1,283 

Private Debt       561  517 

Opportunistic Illiquid Credit      555  681 

High Yield      64  200 

Opportunistic credit       1  72 

Cash      53  57 

Corporate Bond Fund       16  1,299 

Liquid Credit      -  132 

Long Lease Property       421  592 

Secured Income       839  1,098 

Over 15 Year Gilts       -  9 

Liability Driven Investment       5,315  4,973 

Currency hedging      24  (75) 

Net Current Assets       28  66 

Total assets       12,552  20,554 

 

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the employer's own financial 

instruments or any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the employer. 

 

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:  

Present value of scheme liabilities    (13,209)  (20,663) 

Fair value of scheme assets    12,552  20,554 

(Deficit)    (657)  (79) 
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(Continued) 
 

24. Pension Fund – Pensions Trust Growth Plan 

The company participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 638 non-

associated participating employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for the 

company to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme. 

Therefore, it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme. 

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 

December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial 

Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit 

occupational pension schemes in the UK. 

The scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore, the company is potentially liable for 

other participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit 

following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the 

scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme. 

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out at 30 September 2020. This valuation showed assets of 

£800.3m, liabilities of £831.9m and a deficit of £31.6m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the Trustee has asked 

the participating employers to pay additional contributions to the scheme as follows: 

Deficit contributions 

From 1 April 2023 to 31 January 2025: £3,312,000 per annum              (payable monthly) 

Unless a concession has been agreed with the Trustee the term to 31 January 2025 applies. 

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2017. This 

valuation showed assets of £794.9m, liabilities of £926.4m and a deficit of £131.5m. To eliminate this funding 

shortfall, the Trustee asked the participating employers to pay additional contributions to the scheme as follows: 

Deficit contributions 

From 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2025: 
£11,243,000 per annum              (payable monthly and 

increasing by 3% each on 1st April) 

The recovery plan contributions are allocated to each participating employer in line with their estimated share of 

the Series 1 and Series 2 scheme liabilities.  

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the company has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement the company 

recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction 

contributions payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present value is calculated using the 

discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised as a finance cost. 
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24. Pension Fund – Pensions Trust Growth Plan (continued) 

 

PRESENT VALUES OF PROVISION  

 31 March 2023 
£ 

31 March 2022 
£ 

31 March 2019 
£ 

Present value of provision 1,596 2,504 11,128 

 

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING PROVISIONS 

 

Year Ending 

31 March 2023 

£ 

Year Ending 

31 March 2022 

£ 

Provision at start of period 2,504 11,128 

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 47 64 

Deficit contribution paid (912) (2,816) 

Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions (43) (58) 

Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule - (5,814) 

Provision at end of period 1,596 2,504 

 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE IMPACT 

 

Year Ending 

31 March 2023 

£ 

Year Ending 

31 March 2022 

£ 

Interest expense 47 64 

Remeasurements – impact of any change in assumptions (43) (58) 

Remeasurements – amendments to the contribution schedule - (5,814) 

Contributions paid in respect of future service* - - 

Costs recognised in income and expenditure account - - 

 

ASSUMPTIONS 

 
31 March 2023 

% per annum 

31 March 2022 

% per annum 

31 March 2019 

% per annum 

Rate of discount 5.52% 2.35 0.66 

 

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future 

recovery plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield curve to 

discount the same recovery plan contributions. 

 

The Association made payments totalling £912 (2022: £2,816) to the pension scheme during the year. 
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25. Pensions Fund – Strathclyde Pension Fund 

 

Some of the Associations employees belong to the Strathclyde Pension Fund which is administered by Glasgow 

City Council and is a defined benefit scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the 

Association in investments under the overall supervision of the Fund Trustees. The last full actuarial valuation was 

carried out at 31 March 2017. The next full actuarial valuation is due as at 31 March 2023. The following 

information was updated for FRS 102 purposes to 31 March 2023 by a qualified independent actuary 

 

The assumptions that have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are those relating to the rate of 

return on investments and the rates of increases in salaries and pensions. The principal actuarial assumptions 

(expressed as weighted averages) at the year end were as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 2017 2016 2015 

Discount rate 2.95% 2.70% 2.0% 2.3% 2.4% 

Future salary increases 3.65% 3.90% 3.55% 3.0% 3.7% 

Pension increase rate 4.70% 3.20% 2.85% 1.9% 2.5% 

 

In valuing the liabilities of the pension fund at 31 March 2023, mortality assumptions have been made as indicated 

below. The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet date are based 

on standard mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The assumptions are 

equivalent to expecting a 65-year-old to live for a number of years as follows: 

 

- Current pensioner aged 65: 19.3 years (male), 22.2 years (female) 

- Future retiree upon reaching 65: 20.5 years (male), 24.2 years (female). 

 

The assumptions used by the actuary are chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the 

timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. 

 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows: 

Defined Benefit Plans    2023 2022 

    £000’s £000’s 

Opening defined benefit obligation     15,311 15,844 

Current service cost    499 568 

Past service cost    - - 

Interest cost    418 321 

Loss on curtailment    - - 

Actuarial losses/(gains)    (5,927) (1,273) 

Contributions by members    72 74 

Liabilities extinguished on settlements    - - 

Liabilities assumed in a business combination    - - 

Estimated benefits paid    (240) (223) 

Closing defined benefit obligation    10,133 15,311 
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25. Pensions Fund – Strathclyde Pension Fund (continued) 

 

Movements in fair value of plan assets 

    2023  2022 

    £000’s  £000’s 

Opening fair value of plan assets     14,453  13,281 

Expected return on plan assets    391  267 

Return on assets     (721)  767 

Contributions by the employer    275  287 

Contributions by the members    72  74 

Estimated benefits paid    (240)  (223) 

Closing fair value of plan assets    14,230  14,453 

 

Defined benefit costs recognised in statement of comprehensive income 

Current service cost        499  588  

Past service cost       -  -  

Interest on defined benefit pension plan obligation    391  283  

Expected return on defined benefit pension plan asset    (418)  (247)  

       472  622  

 

The fair value of the plan assets were as follows 

       £000 % £000 % 

Equities        8,538 60 8,765 61 

Corporate bonds       3,984 28 3,055 26 

Property       1,423 10 1,195 11 

Cash       285 2 266 2 

       14,230  14,453  

Movement in deficit during the year 

(Deficit) at beginning of year    (858)  (2,563) 

Current service cost    (499)  (588) 

Losses on settlements or curtailments    -  - 

Employer contributions    275  287 

Past service costs    -  - 

Unwinding of discount    (54)  (54) 

Actuarial gain/(losses)    5,233  2,040 

Gain not recognised    (4,097)  - 

Surplus/(deficit) at end of the year    -  (858) 

       

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:  

Present value of scheme liabilities    (10,133)  (15,311) 

Fair value of scheme assets    14,230  14,453 

Surplus/(deficit) per actuarial report    4,097  (858) 

Asset not recognised    (4,097)  - 

Recognised in the accounts    -  (858) 

 

The actuarial report indicates that there is surplus within the scheme. As North Glasgow Housing Association do 

not have the authority to recover this surplus it has not been recognised as an asset. 

 

North Glasgow Housing Association Limited expects to contribute £311,000 (2022 - £316,000) to the 

Strathclyde Pension Fund in the coming year. 
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26. Provision for Pension liability 

 

The Association has staff in two pension schemes that are defined as both defined benefit schemes and where there is 

sufficient information to be reported as a liability on the statement of financial position. Strathclyde Pension Fund has 

been reported as such in previous years. 

 SHAPS SPF   2023  2022 

 £000 £000   £000  £000 

At 1 April 2022 (79) (858)   (937)  (4,473) 

Transfer from other comprehensive income - -   -  - 

Current service cost (279) (499)   (778)  (1,008) 

Employer contributions 551 275   826  1,097 

Past service costs - -   -  - 

Net interest expense 2 (54)   (52)  (91) 

Actuarial gain/(losses) (852) 5,233   4,381  3,5 08 

Gain not recognized - (4,097)   (4,097)  - 

        

At 31 March 2023 (657) -   (657)  (937) 

        

27. Contingent liabilities 

 

The Association is potentially liable until 2033 to repay amounts on property sales on stock that originated from 

the stock transfer from Glasgow Housing Association. At 31 March 2023 the Association had no other contingent 

liabilities (2022 -£Nil). 

 

28. Funding from partners 

 

The National Lottery Community Fund agreed to fund the Supporting, Connecting and Building Resilience of 

North Glasgow Community project. The main elements of this project include maintaining and building on the 

previous furniture and furnishing referral service and it also includes a ‘wrap around’ support model working 

alongside a wide range of community partners. This Lottery funded project is supported by three full time staff 

members for a period of three years.  Partnerships are an important element of the project and support the ‘wrap 
around’ support of individuals coming through the project. This ‘wrap around’ working closely with residents to 

link them into the support they need such as financial advice, food and furniture assistance, information on 

community services, health and wellbeing activities, access to one-to-one mental health partners, educational and 

entrepreneurship opportunities. The Community Fund support for the project amounts to £276k.  

 

Funds were awarded from a Social Housing Fund grant from Cycle Scotland to assist plans to increase Active 

Travel and cycling in the local communities. Investment in cycle storage pods was done in the year and will 

continue in the next year.  

 

Glasgow City Council once again provided funds for the Holiday Food Programme during the year. 

 

Glasgow Communities Fund awarded an amount of £237k over a three-year period for financial inclusion posts as 

part of the funding for the Joining the Dots project. The project has now come to an end. 

 

The Association is grateful for the support given from all its funders and collaborative partners.  

65



NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 48 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 

(Continued) 
 

29. Commitments under operating leases 

 

At 31 March 2023 the Association had commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as set out below: 

 2023 2022 

 Land & 

Buildings 

£ 

Other 

Items 

£ 

Land & 

Buildings 

£ 

Other 

Items 

£ 

Within 1 year 93,431 - 93,431 - 

Within 2- 5 years 258,649 - 318,689 - 

Over 5 years 130,783 - 164,174 - 

 482,683 - 576,294 - 

 

30. Capital Commitments  

   2023  2022 

   £  £ 

Capital expenditure that has been contracted for but has not 

been provided for in the financial statements 

   

3,359,609 

  

8,199,138 

 

This is to be funded by: 

     

SHG   -  3,374,752 

Private finance   3,359,609  4,824,386 

   3,359,609  8,199,138 

 

The commitments relate to the investment in six of the multi storey blocks at Balgrayhill/Wellfield. 

 

31.  Details of Association 

 

The Association is a Registered Society registered with the Financial Conduct Authority under reference 1865 

R(S) and is domiciled in Scotland. The Associations principal place of business is 50 Reidhouse Street, Glasgow, 

G21 4LS. 

 

The Association is a Registered Social Landlord with reference HCB 187 and a Scottish Charity with reference 

SC030635 that owns and manages social housing property in Glasgow.  
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

For the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

The directors submit their report and financial statements of Design Services Glasgow Limited for the year 

ended 31 March 2023. 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 

The principal activity of the company during the year was that of design services and contracting. 
 

BUSINESS REVIEW 

 

The company continued to operate some of the development contracts of North Glasgow Housing Association 

Limited. The company in future years is looking to expand its range of activities and partners. 

 

DIRECTORS 
 

The directors who served the company during the year were as follows: 
 

R Hartness    

    

 

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR 
 

The directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed, as far as 

they are aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware. Each of the directors 

have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to the auditor. 
 

AUDITORS 
 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited has indicated its willingness to continue in office.  

 

SMALL COMPANY PROVISIONS 
 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies entitled to the small 

companies exemption. 

 

By order of the board 
 

 

 

R Hartness 

Director 

 

Date: 25  July 2023 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE PREPARATION OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations. 
 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 

directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).  
 

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that 

period.  
 

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to: 
 

a. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 

b. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 

c. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

company will continue in business. 
 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Design Services Glasgow Limited 
 
Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of Design Services Glasgow Limited (the ‘company’) for the year ended 31st March 

2023 which comprise; the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings; the Statement of Financial Position;  and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  The financial reporting framework that has 

been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland] (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31st March 2023, and of its profit for 

the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 

preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period 

of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 

sections of this report.  

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 

annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 

does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 

misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.   

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the financial statements; and 

 

• the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Design Services Glasgow Limited (continued) 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 

have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 

report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 

not visited by us. 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

• the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small companies 

regime and take advantage of the small companies' exemption in preparing the Directors' Report and take advantage of 

the small companies exemption from the requirement to prepare a Strategic Report. 

 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 

as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these financial statements. 

 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with 

our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to 

which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.  

 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud  

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then 

design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

In identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-

compliance with laws and regulations we considered the following:  

• The nature of the company and the industry, control environment and business performance including key drivers 

for gift aid to the parent company and performance targets; and  

• Our enquiries of management about their identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities. 

Based on our understanding of the company and the industry we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with 

laws and regulations related to, but were not limited to;  

• Regulations and legislation pertinent to the company’s industry operations; and  

• UK tax legislation.  

We considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material impact on the financial statements. We also 

considered those laws and regulations which have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements, such as the 

Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial 

statements (including the risk of management override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to; 

• Posting inappropriate journal entries; and  

• Management bias in accounting estimates.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Design Services Glasgow Limited (continued) 
 

Audit response to the risks identified;  

Our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:  

• Gaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the industry in 

which it operates; 

• Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with 

provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;  

• Enquiring of management and legal advisors concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;  

• Reviewing correspondence with HMRC;  

• In addressing the risk of fraud as a result of management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal 

entries and other adjustments’ assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are 

indicative of a potential bias; and, evaluating business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or 

outside the normal course of business.  

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members, 

and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.  

 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and 

regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would be to become aware 

of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or 

through collusion.  

 

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 

https://www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.   

 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 

Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are 

required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 

accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 

for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Scott Gillon BA (Hons) FCCA, CA, (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

For and on behalf of Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited, Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants, 168 Bath Street 

Glasgow G2 4TP 

 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

Statement of income and retained earnings for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

 

 

 2023 2022 

Notes £ £ 
 

TURNOVER 20,000 20,000 
 

Cost of sales - - 
 ───────── ───────── 
Gross profit 20,000 20,000 
- 

Administrative expenses (7,856) (7,831) 
  ──────── ──────── 
OPERATING PROFIT 1 12,144 12,169 

Interest payable and similar charges   545 351 

          ─── ─── 

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 11,599 11,818 
 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 2 (3,061) (3,099) 
          ────── ────── 
 

RETAINED PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR  8,538 8,719 

RETAINED EARNINGS AT 1 APRIL 2022  51,721 43,002 
          ──────── ──────── 
RETAINED EARNINGS AT 31 MARCH 2023  60,259 51,721 

 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

  

 

The notes on pages 9 to 13 form part of these accounts. 
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Company Registration No. SC359676 

Design Services Glasgow Limited 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2023 
 

 

 2023 2022 

Notes £ £ 
 

 

FIXED ASSETS – property, plant and equipment 3 91,091 95,584 
 ───────── ───────── 
 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Debtors 4 855 827 

Cash at bank 4,807 1,255 
 ───────── ───────── 
 5,662 2,082 

CREDITORS   

Amounts falling due within one year 5 36,394 45,845 
  ───────── ───────── 
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) (30,772) (43,763) 
  ───────── ───────── 
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 60,359 51,821 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Called up share capital  6 100 100 

Profit and loss account  60,259 51,721 
 ─────── ─────── 
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 60,359 51,821 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject 

to the small companies regime and in accordance with the provisions of FRS 102 Section 1A- small entities. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 25 July 2023 and 

are signed on their behalf by: 
 

 

 

R Hartness 

Director 

 

The notes on pages 9 to 13 form part of these accounts. 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

STATUTORY INFORMATION 

 

Design Services Glasgow Limited is a private company, limited by shares, domiciled in Scotland, registration 

number SC359676. The registered office is 410 Petershill Road, Glasgow, G21 4AA. 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as 

applicable to companies subject to the small companies regime. The disclosure requirements of section 1A of 

FRS 102 have been applied other than where additional disclosure is required to show a true and fair view. 

 

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary 

amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention. The principal accounting policies 

adopted are set out below. 

 

These financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 are prepared in accordance with FRS 102. The 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below and 

have remained unchanged from the previous year/period and also have been consistently applied within the same 

accounts.  

 

TURNOVER 
 

Turnover is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for sale of goods and services 

in the ordinary nature of the business. 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The company has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 

‘Other Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments. 

 

Financial instruments are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company 

becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when there 

is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 

to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

Basic financial assets 

 

Basic financial assets, which include trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances, are initially 

measured at transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is 

measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Other financial assets 

 

Other financial assets, including investments in equity instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates or joint 

ventures, are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the transaction price. Such assets are 

subsequently carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss, except that 

investments in equity instruments that are not publically traded and whose fair values cannot be measured 

reliably are measured at cost less impairment. 

 

Classification of financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 

the company after deducting all of its liabilities. 

 

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies 

and preference shares that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the 

arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of 

the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. 

 

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 

business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year 

or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction 

price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the company’s contractual obligations expire or are discharged or 

cancelled. 
 

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION 
 

Tangible fixed assets are included at cost less depreciation and impairment. Depreciation has been computed so 

as to write off the cost of an asset, less its estimated residual value, over the useful economic life of that asset as 

follows: 
 

Heritable Property - 2% straight line 

Property refurbishment - 8% straight line 
 

Depreciation accrues from the date of being brought into use, or to the date of disposal in respect of assets 

acquired or disposed of in the year.   

 

GOING CONCERN 

 

The company has net assets but net current liabilities. The company has sufficient projected income to meet its 

cash expenditure as it falls due and the parent company continues to provide support to the company. The only 

significant creditor is the inter company balance owed to the parent company. The directors have a reasonable 

expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial 

statements.  
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

TAXATION 

 

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 

Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported 

in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in 

other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s liability for current 

tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date. 

 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by 

the balance sheet date, except that the recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that the company 

anticipates making sufficient taxable profits in the future to absorb the reversal of the underlying timing 

differences. 

 

Deferred tax balances are not discounted. 
 

 

78



 

 

 12 

Design Services Glasgow Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

1 OPERATING PROFIT 
 

 Operating profit is stated after charging: 
 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Depreciation of owned fixed assets 4,493 4,493 

Auditor's fees –      External audit 910 917 

- Non audit  360 300 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

2 TAXATION ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

  

Analysis of charge in the period 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Current tax:   

UK Corporation tax based on the results for the year at 19% (2022: 

19%) 3,057 3,099 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods 4 - 

 ---------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- 
Total current tax 3,061 3,099 
 ==================================== ===================================== 

 

3 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
   

    Heritable  Property Total 

    Property Refurbishment  

    £ £ £ 

Cost       

At 1 April 2022   104,973 29,925 134,898 

Additions    - - - 

At 31 March 2023   104,973 29,925 134,898 

       

Depreciation      

At 1 April 2022   21,957 17,357 39,314 

Charge for the year   2,099 2,394 4,493 

At 31 March 2023   24,056 19,751 43,807 

       

Net Book Value      

       

At 31 March 2023   80,917 10,174 91,091 

       

At 31 March 2022   83,016 12,568 95,584 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
  

 

4 DEBTORS 
 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

   

Other debtors 855 827 

   
 ───────── ───────── 
 855 827 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 

5 CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year 
 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Amounts due to group companies 27,846 37,299 

Corporation Tax 3,057 3,099 

Other taxes and social security 1,000 955 

Other creditors and accrued charges 4,491 4,492 
 ───────── ───────── 
 36,394 45,845 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 

6 SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 2023 2022 

 

£ £ 

Allotted, called up and fully paid: 

100 Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 100 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

7 ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY 
 

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of North Glasgow Housing Association. North Glasgow Housing 

Association is a Community Benefit Society registered with the Financial Conduct Authority (Reg. No 1865RS). 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The following pages do not form part of the statutory financial statements 

 which are the subject of the independent auditor's report on pages 4 to 6. 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 
 

TURNOVER 20,000 20,000 
 

Cost of sales - - 
 ───────── ───────── 
Gross profit 20,000 20,000 
 

OVERHEADS 

Administrative expenses (7,856) (7,831) 
 ──────── ──────── 
OPERATING PROFIT 12,144 12,169 
 

Interest (545) (351) 

   
 ─────── ─────── 
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 11,599 11,818 

 ═══════ ═══════ 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 

NOTES TO THE DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

Management charges - - 
 

General expenses 

Sundry expenses 13 13 

IT licences and support 2,170 1,998 

Auditors remuneration 1,070 1,217 

Depreciation 4,493 4,493 

Financial costs 

Bank charges 110 110 
 ──────── ──────── 
 7,856 7,831 
 ════════ ════════ 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

For the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

The directors submit their report and financial statements of NG Property (Scotland) Limited for the year ended 

31 March 2023. 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the company during the year was that of property management.  
 

DIRECTORS 

The directors who served the company during the year were as follows: 
 

R Hartness  L Cooper  

C Baird     
 

BOARD  

In addition to the directors above the Board includes representatives from owners and other independent parties to 

oversee the governance and strategy of the company. During the year these were as follows: 

 

C Rossine ( P Miller     

J Berrington  I Munro  

G Satti Chairperson) J Thorburn  

    

    

    
BUSINESS REVIEW 

As with most companies the pandemic affected the ability to fully trade during the previous year. Across this year 

the company has tried to ensure that a normal level of service has been provided to the factored owners. The level 

of turnover and operating costs has increased to more normal levels. The company started to manage twenty one 

mid-market rent properties and this also increased the levels of turnover and profitability in the year..  

 

The Property Factors (Scotland) Act came into force on 1st October 2012. The company is registered under the 

Act and has taken the necessary advice and action to comply with such. 

 

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR 

The directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed, as far as 

they are aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware. Each of the directors 

have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to the auditor. 
 

AUDITORS 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited has indicated its willingness to continue in office.  

 

SMALL COMPANY PROVISIONS 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies entitled to the small 

companies exemption. 

 

By order of the Board 
 

 

R Hartness 

Director 

 

Date:  25 July 2023 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE PREPARATION OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations. 
 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 

directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).  
 

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.  
 

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to: 
 

a. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 

b. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 

c. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

company will continue in business. 
 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT  

TO THE MEMBERS OF NG Property (Scotland) Limited 

 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of NG Property (Scotland) Limited (the ‘company’) for the year ended 31st March 

2023 which comprise; the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings; the Statement of Financial Position; and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  The financial reporting framework that has been 

applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland] (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31st March 2023, and of its profit for the year then 

ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 

preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 

at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections 

of this report.  

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 

report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 

cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 

misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.   

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the financial statements; and 

 

• the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF NG Property (Scotland) Limited (Continued) 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 

have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 

to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 

not visited by us. 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

• the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small companies 

regime and take advantage of the small companies' exemption in preparing the Directors' Report and take advantage of 

the small companies exemption from the requirement to prepare a Strategic Report. 

 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 

as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 

a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements. 

 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with 

our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to 

which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.  

 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud  

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then 

design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

In identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance 

with laws and regulations we considered the following:  

• The nature of the company and the industry, control environment and business performance including key drivers 

for gift aid to the parent company and performance targets; and  

• Our enquiries of management about their identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities. 

Based on our understanding of the company and the industry we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws 

and regulations related to, but were not limited to;  

• Regulations and legislation pertinent to the company’s industry operations; and  

• UK tax legislation.  

We considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material impact on the financial statements. We also 

considered those laws and regulations which have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements, such as the 

Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial 

statements (including the risk of management override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to; 

• Posting inappropriate journal entries; and  

• Management bias in accounting estimates.  

 

 

90



 

 

  6 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF NG Property (Scotland) Limited (Continued) 

 
Audit response to the risks identified;  

Our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:  

• Gaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the industry in which 

it operates; 

• Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with 

provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;  

• Enquiring of management and legal advisors concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;  

• Reviewing correspondence with HMRC;  

• In addressing the risk of fraud as a result of management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal 

entries and other adjustments’ assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative 

of a potential bias; and, evaluating business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the 

normal course of business.  

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members, and 

remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.  

 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and 

regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would be to become aware 

of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through 

collusion.  

 

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 

https://www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.   

 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 

Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required 

to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 

report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Scott Gillon BA (Hons) FCCA, CA, (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

For and on behalf of Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited, Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants  

168 Bath Street  

Glasgow G2 4TP 

 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2023 

Statement of income and retained earnings for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 

 
 

 

 2023 2022 

Notes £ £ 
 

TURNOVER 763,732 492,919 
 

Cost of sales (532,226) (295,577) 
 ───────── ───────── 
Gross profit 231,506 197,342 
 

Administrative expenses (211,795) (197,082) 
  ───────── ──────── 
OPERATING PROFIT 1 19,711 260 

    

Interest payable  - - 
          ──────── ──────── 
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 19,711 260 

 

Gift aid - - 

Corporation tax for year 2 3,745 49 
          ──────── ──────── 
RETAINED PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  15,966 211 

RETAINED EARNINGS AT 1 APRIL 2022  194,034 193,823 

  ──────── ──────── 
RETAINED EARNINGS AT 31 MARCH 2023  210,000 194,034 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

  
 

The notes on pages 9 to 12 form part of these accounts. 
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Company Registration No. SC251415 

NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2023 

 

 2023 2022 

Notes £ £ 
 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Debtors 3 365,154 347,138 

Cash at bank 14,244 12,815 
 ───────── ───────── 
 379,398 359,953 

CREDITORS   

Amounts falling due within one year 4 (168,398) (164,919) 
  ───────── ───────── 
NET CURRENT ASSETS 211,000 195,034 
  ─────── ───────── 
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 211,000 195,034 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Called up equity share capital 5 1,000 1,000 

Profit and loss account  210,000 194,034 
 ─────── ─────── 
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 211,000 195,034 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject 

to the small companies regime and in accordance with the provisions of FRS 102 Section 1A- small entities. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 25 July 2023 and are 

signed on their behalf by: 
 

 

 

R Hartness 

Director 

 

The notes on pages 9 to 12 form part of these accounts. 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 

 

STATUTORY INFORMATION 

 

NG Property (Scotland) Limited is a private company, limited by shares, domiciled in Scotland, registration 

number SC251415. The registered office is 50 Reidhouse Street, Glasgow, G21 4LS. 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as 

applicable to companies subject to the small companies regime. The disclosure requirements of section 1A of FRS 

102 have been applied other than where additional disclosure is required to show a true and fair view. 

 

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary 

amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention. The principal accounting policies 

adopted are set out below. 

 

These financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 are prepared in accordance with FRS 102, The 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 

 

TURNOVER 
 

Turnover is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for sale of goods and services 

in the ordinary nature of the business. 
 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The company has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other 

Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments. 

 

Financial instruments are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company becomes 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when there is 

a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to 

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

Basic financial assets 

 

Basic financial assets, which include trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances, are initially measured 

at transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at 

the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. 

 

Other financial assets 

 

Other financial assets, including investments in equity instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates, or joint 

ventures, are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the transaction price. Such assets are subsequently 

carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss, except that investments in equity 

instruments that are not publicly traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost 

less impairment. 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Classification of financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 

the company after deducting all of its liabilities. 

 

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies and 

preference shares that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement 

constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts 

discounted at a market rate of interest. 

 

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 

business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 

less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price 

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the company’s contractual obligations expire or are discharged or 

cancelled. 
 

GOING CONCERN 

 

The company meets its day to day working capital requirements by managing its cash flow and through treasury 

operations with its parent organisation. The company’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably 

possible changes in trading performance, show that the company is continuing to reduce the need for any ongoing 

support and is well past the point where the parent owes funds to the company.  

 

As a consequence, the directors believe that the company is well placed to manage its business risks successfully. 

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to 

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern 

basis in preparing the annual report and accounts. 

 

TAXATION 

 

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 

Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported 

in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 

years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s liability for current tax is 

calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date. 

 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by 

the balance sheet date, except that the recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that the company 

anticipates making sufficient taxable profits in the future to absorb the reversal of the underlying timing 

differences. 

 

Deferred tax balances are not discounted. 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

1 OPERATING PROFIT 
 

 Operating profit is stated after charging: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Auditor's fees – External audit 

                        - Non audit 

3,595 

660 

3,470 

655 
 ═══════ ═══════ 

 

2 TAXATION ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

  

Analysis of charge in the year 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Current tax:   

UK Corporation tax based on the results for the year at 19% (2022: 

19%) 

3,745 

 

49 

 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods - - 
 ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- 

Total current tax 3,745 49 
 ═════════ ════════ 

 

3 DEBTORS 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Trade debtors 155,318 125,953 

Other debtors 11,136 8,825 

Amounts due from group companies 198,700 212,360 
 ───────── ───────── 
 365,154 347,138 
 ═════════ ════════ 

 

4 CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Other creditors 164,653 164,870 

Corporation tax  3,745 49 
 ───────── ───────── 
 168,398 164,919 
 ═════════ ════════ 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

5 SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

 Allotted, called up and fully paid: 

1,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each 1,000 1,000 
 ═══════ ═══════ 

 

6 ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY 
 

 The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of North Glasgow Housing Association.  North Glasgow 

Housing Association is a Community Benefit Society registered with the Financial Conduct Authority (Reg. 

No 1865RS). 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The following pages do not form part of the statutory financial statements 

 which are the subject of the independent auditor's report on page 4 to 6. 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 
 

TURNOVER 763,732 492,919 
 

Factoring expenditure (532,226) (295,577) 
 ───────── ───────── 
Gross profit 231,506 197,342 
 

OVERHEADS 

Administrative expenses (211,795) (197,082) 
 ──────── ──────── 
OPERATING PROFIT 19,711 260 
 

Interest paid to group undertakings - - 
 ─────── ─────── 
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 19,711 260 

 ═══════ ═══════ 
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NG Property (Scotland) Limited 
 

NOTES TO THE DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

Management charges 197,4456 183,926 
 

General expenses 

General expenses  - 

Consultancy and marketing fees 1,000 1,320 

Auditors remuneration 4,255 4,125 
 ─────── ─────── 
 202,700 5,445 

Financial costs 

Bank charges 792 679 

Collection Charges 8,303 7,032 
 ──────── ──────── 
 211,795 197,082 
 ════════ ════════ 
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NG2 Limited 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

For the year ended 31 March 2023 
 

 

The directors submit their report and financial statements of NG2 Limited for the year to 31 March 2023. 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 

The principal activity of the company during the year was the provision of cleaning and maintenance services. 
 

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS 
 

North Glasgow Housing Association Limited (NGHA) set up NG2 during 2010 as a social economy company to 

encourage local employment, provide training opportunities and to provide more efficient working practices and 

cost savings in the Association's contracted operations.  

 

The company now carries out among other activities close cleaning, bulk uplift, close maintenance, void works, 

painting, joinery work, concierge services, general environmental improvement and wider action activities.  

 

We wish to provide services to our clients which are of high quality and accountable to the residents of our 

community. We want people to live and work in an improved and appealing environment which makes them stay 

in and contribute positively to their area.  NG2 also wishes to help people out of the poverty trap by providing 

opportunities for training and employment which are sustainable and open to local people. NG2 has committed to 

pay at least the Glasgow Living Wage to its staff.  

 

We believe that NG2 has achieved some of these aims and allowed the overall NGHA group to be more responsive 

to the needs of the North Glasgow Community. This has helped to create further employment and training 

opportunities within the North Glasgow area.  

 

DIRECTORS 
 

The directors who served the company during the year were as follows: 
 

R B Hartness J Berrington   

   
 

BOARD  

 

In addition to the directors above the Board includes representatives from the Association and other independent 

parties to oversee the governance and strategy of the company. During the year these were as follows: 

     

M Thomson  I Cross  

G Satti  P Nelson  

J Thorburn     

 
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR 
 

The directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed, as far as 

they are aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware. Each of the directors 

have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to the auditor. 
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NG2 Limited 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 
 
 

 

AUDITOR 
 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited has indicated its willingness to continue in office.  
 

SMALL COMPANY PROVISIONS 
 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies entitled to the small 

companies exemption. 
 

 

On behalf of the board 
 

 

R Hartness 

Director 
 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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NG2 Limited 

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE PREPARATION OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations. 
 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 

directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).  
 

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.  
 

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to: 
 

a. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 

b. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 

c. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

company will continue in business. 
 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 TO THE MEMBERS OF NG2 LIMITED 

 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of ng2 Limited (the ‘company’) for the year ended 31st March 2023 

which comprise; the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings; the Statement of Financial Position;  and notes 

to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 

and Republic of Ireland] (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31st March 2023, and of its profit for the 

year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 

and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 

law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 

relevant sections of this report.  

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 

our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 

misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 

we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact.   

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 

• the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT  

 TO THE MEMBERS OF NG2 LIMITED (CONTINUED) 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the 

audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 

us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 

branches not visited by us. 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

• the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small companies 

regime and take advantage of the small companies' exemption in preparing the Directors' Report and take 

advantage of the small companies exemption from the requirement to prepare a Strategic Report. 

 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 

of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures 

in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, 

including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is 

detailed below.  

 
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud  

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

and then design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

In identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud and 

non-compliance with laws and regulations we considered the following:  

• The nature of the company and the industry, control environment and business performance including 

key drivers for gift aid to the parent company and performance targets; and  

• Our enquiries of management about their identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities. 

Based on our understanding of the company and the industry we identified that the principal risks of non-

compliance with laws and regulations related to, but were not limited to;  

• Regulations and legislation pertinent to the company’s industry operations; and  

• UK tax legislation.  

We considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material impact on the financial statements. We 

also considered those laws and regulations which have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial 

statements, such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for 
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of management override of controls), and 

determined that the principal risks were related to; 

• Posting inappropriate journal entries; and  

• Management bias in accounting estimates.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 TO THE MEMBERS OF NG2 LIMITED (CONTINUED) 

 

Audit response to the risks identified;  

Our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:  

• Gaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the 

industry in which it operates; 

• Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance 

with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial 

statements;  

• Enquiring of management and legal advisors concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;  

• Reviewing correspondence with HMRC;  

• In addressing the risk of fraud as a result of management override of controls, testing the appropriateness 

of journal entries and other adjustments’ assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting 
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and, evaluating business rationale of any significant 

transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.  

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 

members, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout 

the audit.  

 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance 

with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we 

would be to become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than 

the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, 

forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.  

 

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.   

 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Scott Gillon BA (Hons) FCCA, CA, (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

For and on behalf of Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited, Statutory Auditor  

168 Bath Street  

Glasgow G2 4TP 

 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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NG2 Limited 

Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2023 

Statement of income and retained earnings for the year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 

 

   

   

 2023 2022 

Notes £ £ 

TURNOVER 3,152,300 3,579,788 
 

Cost of sales 2,433,780 2,880,280 
 ──────────── ──────────── 
Gross profit 719,420 699,508 
 

Administrative expenses 654,229 531,866 

Other operating income 1 19,001 47,148 
 ───────── ───────── 
 84,122 214,790 

Interest payable  - - 
 ───────── ───────── 
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION  84,122 214,790 

Gift aid  20,000 180,000 

Taxation 3 12,937 (10,005) 

 ──────── ──────── 
RETAINED PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 51,185 44,795 

RETAINED EARNINGS AT 1 APRIL 2022  824,225 779,430 

  ──────── ──────── 
RETAINED EARNINGS AT 31 MARCH 2023  875,410 824,225 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

 

 

The notes on pages 10 to 15 form part of these accounts. 
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 Company Registration No. SC381740 

NG2 Limited 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2023 

 

 2023 2022 

Notes £ £ 

FIXED ASSETS 

Tangible assets 4 486,253 265,000 
 ───────── ──────── 
 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Stock and work in progress  372,540 158,944 

Debtors 5 147,632 487,357 

Cash at bank and in hand 114,757 107,735 
 ──────── ───────── 
 634,929 754,036 

CREDITORS   

Amounts falling due within one year 6 187,155 149,131 
 

  ───────── ───────── 
NET CURRENT ASSETS 447,774 604,905 
 ───────── ───────── 
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 934,027 869,905 
 

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES 7 58,517 45,580 
 ──────── ──────── 
 875,510 824,325 
 ════════ ════════ 
  

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Called up share capital  8 100 100 

Profit and loss account  875,410 824,225 
 ──────── ──────── 
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 875,510 824,325 
 ════════ ════════ 
 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject 

to the small companies regime and in accordance with the provisions of FRS 102 Section 1A- small entities. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 25 July 2023 and are 

signed on their behalf by: 
 

 

 

R Hartness 

Director 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 10 to 15 form part of these accounts. 
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NG2 Limited 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 

 

STATUTORY INFORMATION 

 

NG2 Limited is a private company, limited by shares, domiciled in Scotland, registration number SC381740. The 

registered office is 50 Reidhouse Street, Glasgow, G21 4LS. 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as 

applicable to companies subject to the small companies regime. The disclosure requirements of section 1A of FRS 

102 have been applied other than where additional disclosure is required to show a true and fair view. 

 

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary 

amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention. The principal accounting policies 

adopted are set out below. 

 

These financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 are prepared in accordance with FRS 102, the 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.  

 

TURNOVER 
 

Turnover is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 

services in the ordinary nature of the business. Turnover is shown net of Value Added Tax, of goods and services 

provided to customers. 
 

FIXED ASSETS 
 

All fixed assets are initially recorded at cost. 
 

DEPRECIATION 
 

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of a tangible fixed asset, less its estimated residual value, over 

the useful economic life of that asset as follows: 
 

Plant & Machinery - 33% on cost 

Motor Vehicles - 20% - 33% on cost 
 

TAXATION 

 

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 

Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported 

in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 

years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date. 

 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by 

the balance sheet date, except that the recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that the company 

anticipates making sufficient taxable profits in the future to absorb the reversal of the underlying timing 

differences. 

 

Deferred tax balances are not discounted.  
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NG2 Limited 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The company has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other 
Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments. 

 

Financial instruments are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company becomes 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when there is 

a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to 

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

Basic financial assets 

 

Basic financial assets, which include trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances, are initially measured 

at transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at 

the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. 

 

Other financial assets 

 

Other financial assets, including investments in equity instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates or joint 

ventures, are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the transaction price. Such assets are subsequently 

carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss, except that investments in equity 

instruments that are not publically traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost 

less impairment. 

 

Classification of financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 

the company after deducting all of its liabilities. 

 

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies and 

preference shares that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement 

constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts 

discounted at a market rate of interest. 

 

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 

business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 

less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price 

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the company’s contractual obligations expire or are discharged or 

cancelled. 
 

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
 

Government grants in respect of employee costs are credited to the profit and loss account as they become 

receivable. 

 

 

112



 

 

   12 

NG2 Limited 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 

 

GOING CONCERN 

 

The company meets its day to day working capital requirements by managing its cash flow and through treasury 

operations with its parent organisation (which is also its primary customer). The company’s forecasts and 
projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the company is 

continuing to reduce the need for any ongoing support.  

 

As a consequence, the directors believe that the company is well placed to manage its business risks successfully. 

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to 

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern 

basis in preparing the annual report and accounts. 
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NG2 Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year to 31 March 2023 
 

 

1 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Furlough income 3,182 47,148 
 ──────── ──────── 
 3,182 47,148 
 ════════ ════════ 

 

2 OPERATING PROFIT 
 

 Operating profit is stated after charging: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Depreciation of owned fixed assets 120,857 99,333 

Auditor's fees – External audit 

               - Non audit 

    3,582 

660 

3,780 

708 
 ════════ ════════ 

 

3 TAXATION ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
 

 Analysis of charge in the period 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

 Current tax: 

 In respect of the period: 
 

UK Corporation tax based on the results for the period at 19% (2022 - 

19%) - - 

UK Corporation tax adjustment to previous year - (33,188) 
 ─────── ─────── 
Total current tax  - (33,188) 

 

 Deferred tax: 

Origination and reversal of timing differences 

12,937 23,183 
 ─────── ─────── 
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 12,937 (10,005) 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
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NG2 Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year to 31 March 2023 
 

 

4 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 Plant & 

Machinery 

Motor  

Vehicles Total 

 £ £ £ 

 Cost 

At 1 April 2022   171,276 796,196 967,472 

Additions         72,358 272,461 344,819 

Disposals - (27,089) (27,089) 
 ──────── ───────── ───────── 
At 31 March 2023 243,634 1,041,568 1,285,202 
 ════════ ═════════ ═════════ 

 

 Depreciation 

At 1 April 2022  155,569 546,903 702,472 

Charge for the year  18,195 102,662 120,857 

Disposals - (24,380) (24,380) 
 ──────── ───────── ───────── 
At 31 March 2023 173,764 625,185 798,949 
 ═══════ ════════ ════════ 

 

 Net book value 

At 31 March 2023 69,870 416,383 486,253 
 ═══════ ═════════ ═════════ 
At 31 March 2022 15,707 249,293 265,000 
 ═══════ ═════════ ═════════ 

 

5 DEBTORS 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Trade debtors - - 

Amounts owed by group undertakings 147,632 436,857 

Other debtors - 50,500 
 ──────── ──────── 
 147,632 487,357 
 ════════ ════════ 

 

6 CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Trade creditors 181,060 143,036 

Corporation tax - - 

Other creditors 6,095 6,095 
 ───────── ───────── 
 187,155 149,131 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
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NG2 Limited 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year to 31 March 2023 
 

 
 

7 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 

 Deferred 

Taxation 

 £ 

Balance brought forward 45,580 

Movement in the year 12,937 
 ─────── 
Balance carried forward 58,517 
 ═══════ 

 

 The provision for deferred taxation consists of the tax effect of timing differences in respect of: 
 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Excess of taxation allowances over depreciation on fixed assets 58,517 45,580 
 ─────── ─────── 
 58,517 45,580 
 ═══════ ═══════ 

8 SHARE CAPITAL 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

 Allotted, called up and fully paid: 

100 Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 100 
 ════ ════ 

 

9. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY 
 

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of North Glasgow Housing Association.  North Glasgow Housing 

Association is a Community Benefit Society registered with the Financial Conduct Authority (Reg. No 1865RS). 
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NG2 Limited 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 

for the year to 31 March 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The following pages do not form part of the statutory financial statements 

 which are the subject of the independent auditor's report on pages 5 to 7. 
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NG2 Limited 

DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

for the year to 31 March 2023 
 

 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

TURNOVER 3,152,300 3,579,788 
 

COST OF SALES 

Purchases 577,054 1,237,049 

Direct wages 1,856,726 1,634,231 
 ──────────── ──────────── 
 2,433,780 2,880,280 
 ──────────── ──────────── 
Gross profit 719,420 699,508 
 

OVERHEADS 

Administrative expenses 654,229 531,866 
 ───────── ───────── 
  73,291 167,642 

 

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 19,001 47,148 
 ──────── ──────── 
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 84,122 214,790 
 ════════ ════════ 
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NG2 Limited 

NOTES TO THE DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

for the year to 31 March 2023 
 

 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

Personnel costs 

Wages and salaries 89.003 77,658 
 

Establishment expenses 

Rent, rates and water 24,636 25,220 

Insurance 4,000 4,000 

Repairs and maintenance 1,600 531 
 ──────── ──────── 
 30,236 29,751 

General expenses 

Motor expenses 266,965 206,644 

Telephone and IT 4,000 4,000 

Hire of equipment 3,118 3,115 

Printing, stationery and advertising 4,296 2,378 

Staff training 27,254 8,031 

General expenses 3,878 4,455 

Clothing and safety goods 28,816 24,756 

Management charges payable 60,000 60,000 

Legal and professional fees 11,314 7,134 

Auditors remuneration 4,242 4,388 

Depreciation 120,857 99,333 
 ───────── ───────── 
 534,740 424,234 

Financial costs 

Bank charges 250 223 
 ───────── ───────── 
 654.229 531,866 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

Gain on sale of fixed assets 15,819 - 

Furlough income 3,182 47,148 
 ──────── ──────── 
 19,001 47,148 
 ════════ ════════ 
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1. Executive Summary 

1.1 Financial Review 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year shows a deficit of £2,286,291 (2022: 

surplus of £643,003). 

The Balance Sheet shows a net asset position of £75,728,294 compared to £78,014,609 in 

the prior year. The decrease is due to the loss generated in the year to 31 March 2023. 

2.2 Financial Statements 

We expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the accounts of North Glasgow Housing 

Association Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023. 

1.3 Recommendations to Management 

We have not identified any new recommendations for management this year. There were no 

brought forward recommendations in relation to the 2022 audit requiring to be resolved. 
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2. Introduction 

2.1 Appointment 

Wylie & Bisset were re-appointed as the External Auditors of North Glasgow Housing 

Association Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023.  This Annual Report has been prepared 

following the conclusion of our audit of the financial statements of the company for that year. 

2.2 Respective Responsibilities 

Our audit has been carried out in accordance with our statutory responsibilities and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  An audit 

includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements.  It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and 

judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of 

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed. 

2.3 Reporting 

Our audit report on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 is expected to 

be unqualified.  

Our audit work has been designed to enable us to form an audit opinion on the financial 

statements of the company and should not be relied upon to disclose all weaknesses in 

internal controls in relation to the company’s systems and financial statements. 

This Annual Report has been prepared for the purposes of the management and Directors 

and should not be issued to third parties without our prior written consent.  We would 

emphasise that our comments in this report are not intended to be any reflection on the 

integrity of the company’s employees whom we would like to thank for their help and 

assistance throughout our audit work.   

Should you have any queries on the contents of the Annual Report please do not hesitate to 

contact us. Details of the senior members of the audit team are included in Appendix C. 
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3. Financial Review 

3.1 Financial Statements 

The financial statements of the company are the means by which it accounts for its 

stewardship of the resources made available to it and its financial performance in the use of 

these resources.  In accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), it is the responsibility 

of the Directors to prepare financial statements, which give a true and fair view of the 

Association’s financial position and the income and expenditure for the year. As a registered 

social landlord, North Glasgow Housing Association Limited is required to comply with the 

Statement of Recommended Practice for Social Housing Providers 2018 (“The FRS102 

SORP”).  

3.2 Audit Opinion 

We are pleased to record that there are no anticipated qualifications in our audit opinion on 

the company’s accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023, as in our opinion, the financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position and the income and 

expenditure for the year and have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, the requirements of the Financial Reporting 

Standard 102, the Social Housing Providers SORP 2018 and the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

3.3 Submission of Working Papers  

The working papers that were provided to us for our audit were of a good standard and 

increased the efficiency of our audit testing. 
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3.4 Statement of Comprehensive Income 

+ Revenue has increased by £1.1m in the year. This is largely due to a 2.9% rent 

increase during the year, as well as an increased grant release. 

+ Operating costs increased by £788k in the year, mainly due to increases in the 

depreciation charge and admin and service costs, partially offset by a reduction in 

maintenance costs. 

+ Interest receivable has increased by £150k during the year as the Association took 

advantage of improved interest rates on deposits. 

+ The Association generated a deficit pre gift and actuarial movements of £2,563,334 

(2022: £3,080,869) and had a deficit on total comprehensive income of £2,286,291 

(2022: £643,003 surplus) after accounting for gift aid and actuarial movements.  

 

 31 March 
2023 

 
£ 

 31 March 
2022 

 
£ 

Revenue     27,405,224 26,287,331 
   
Operating costs (28,808,051) (28,020,278) 
   

Operating (deficit) (1,402,827) (1,732,947) 
   
   
Gain on sale of housing stock - 33,029 
Interest receivable and other income 200,614 51,052 
Interest payable and other charges (1,336,074) (1,340,939) 
Other finance charges (25,047) (91,064) 

(Deficit) for year (2,563,334) (3,080,869) 
Gift aid 20,000 180,000 
Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes 257,043 3,543,872 
   

Total Comprehensive Income (2,286,291) 643,003 
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3.5 Statement of Financial Position 

+ Tangible fixed assets increased by £884k due to additions of £5.9m and a depreciation charge 

for the year of £5m. 

+ The overall decrease in other fixed assets reflects additions in the year of £133k and a 

depreciation charge of £308k. 

+ Stock has decreased by £78k as this was utilised for installations in the year. 

+ The debtor increase is mainly due to the timing of the insurance invoice resulting in this being 

shown as a prepayment in the current year. 

+ Creditors have decreased by £1.04m mainly due to the timing of the final supplier payment run 

falling just before the year end this year. 

+ Deferred income has increased due to grant receipts of £4.5m partially offset by the release of 

£739k. 

 

 31 March  
2023 

£ 

31 March 
2022 

£ 
   
Tangible Fixed Assets 
Housing properties 117,650,188 116,765,774 
   
Other non-current assets 1,359,848 1,534,382 

 119,010,036 118,300,156 
Investments – subsidiaries 1,300 1,300 

 119,011,336 118,301,456 
Current Assets   
Stocks 25,721 103,476 
Debtors 2,363,659 1,801,407 
Cash in hand and at bank 19,352,000 21,752,552 

 21,741,380 23,657,435 
Current Liabilities 
Creditors due within one year (7,240,225) (8,282,275) 

   
Net Current Assets 14,501,155 15,375,160 
   

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 133,512,491 133,676,616 
   
Creditors due after more than one year (42,193,464) (43,180,346) 

 91,319,027 90,496,270 
Deferred income (14,933,733) (11,544,661) 
Provision for pension liability (657,000) (937,000) 

 75,728,294 78,014,609 

   
Capital and Reserves   
Share Capital 87 111 
Revenue Reserves 35,693,243 36,859,611 
Revaluation Reserve 40,034,964 41,154,887 

 75,728,294 78,014,609 
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4. Audit Approach & Key Findings 

4.1 Our Approach 

Our audit approach is risk based and focused on the key risks facing the company.  

During our initial planning procedures, we identified a number of areas where we considered 

the risk of misstatement in the financial statements to be greater than normal.  Our audit 

procedures were designed and undertaken to ensure greater focus on these risk areas in 

order that specific conclusions could be made with regard to the identified risks.  Details of the 

risks identified, and our proposed audit response were communicated to the Board of 

Management via our audit planning memorandum.  Our conclusions with regard to these areas 

are included within Appendix B.  

As part of our planning procedures, we documented the systems and controls in place at the 

company and obtained an understanding of their operation. In accordance with auditing 

standards, we confirmed our documented understanding of the main operating cycles and 

associated accounting systems via interviews of staff and the performance of walk-through 

tests.  This process has allowed us to review, in the course of our audit, the key elements of 

the company’s systems of internal financial controls in the main operating cycles.  

Based on our audit procedures, we have not identified any areas where we believe the 

operation of internal financial controls could be improved.  

It should be noted that the primary objective of our audit is to express an opinion on the truth 

and fairness of the company’s financial statements as a whole.  An audit does not examine 

every operating activity and accounting procedure in the company, nor does it provide a 

substitute for management’s responsibility to maintain adequate controls over the company’s 

activities.  Our work is not designed therefore to provide a comprehensive statement of all 

weaknesses or inefficiencies that may exist in the company systems and working practices, 

or of all improvements that could be made. 

4.2 Audit Issues Arising 

During the course of the audit a number of discussion points arose which were resolved in 

discussion with, or formally reported to the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.  This practice is 

an established part of the audit process.  This report draws to the attention of the Board of 

Management any matters of particular significance or interest, which arose from the audit. 
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4.3 Unadjusted Errors 

Appendix A includes a copy of the letter of representation which we have sought from the 

Board of Directors in support of the matters reported to us during our audit procedures.  This 

also includes reference to the summary of unadjusted errors and deviations. 

4.4 Independence 

Our professional standards require that we communicate at least annually with you regarding 

all relationships between our firm and North Glasgow Housing Association Limited which, in 

our professional judgement, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and the 

objectivity of the audit engagement partner and the audit staff and to detail the related 

safeguards in place.  

There is one issue arising which can be addressed by the safeguard implemented below. 

Ethical Threat  Safeguard  

Self-review threat as Wylie & Bisset’s 

Tax department prepare the year end 

Corporation Tax return for the various 

group entities.  

The staff involved in the audit were independent 

to the Tax function and appropriate Ethical 

Screens were put in place between the two 

teams to ensure the audit team’s independence 

was not affected.  

In our professional judgement, as of the date of this report, Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited is 

independent of North Glasgow Housing Association Limited within the meaning of United 

Kingdom regulatory and professional requirements and the objectivity of Scott Gillon, and 

the audit staff is not impaired.  
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5. Governance and Internal Controls 

5.1 Governance 

Governance is concerned with structures and processes for decision making, accountability, 

control and behaviour at the upper levels of an organisation. The respective responsibilities of 

the company and Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited are summarised in Directors’ Report.  

Although we are not required to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

individual components of internal control the scope of our procedures will include a review of 

such. We will bring to your attention any deficiencies of which we become aware.  

5.2 Governance Arrangements 

As part of our audit, we have performed a limited review and assessment of the company’s 

Corporate Governance systems relating to standards of conduct, openness and integrity.  In 

addition, we reviewed the company’s risk register and risk management arrangements along 

with the minutes of meetings of key company committees issued during the year.   

Based on our limited review, we are satisfied that the company operates appropriate 

Governance procedures, and that management has adequate arrangements in place covering 

standards of conduct.   

We found no matters therein to impact upon our audit opinion. 

5.3 Internal Controls 

We have reviewed in the course of our audit the key elements of the company’s systems of 

internal financial controls in the main operating cycles.   

In reaching our audit opinion we carried out our audit work based on the audit plan with 

evidence obtained by: 

+ Discussions with senior management and staff at the company; 

+ Completing appropriate audit programmes; 

+ Carrying out analytical review procedures; 

+ Carrying out substantive and compliance audit tests on a judgemental basis; and, 

+ Review of minutes of Board and management meetings. 

Based on our review we have not identified any areas where the operation of internal 

financial controls could be improved.  
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6. Fraud and Irregularities 

6.1 Best Practice 

Best practice requires that the company should establish arrangements for the prevention and 

detection of fraud and other irregularities as part of its Governance procedures. 

An assessment was made of the adequacy of the systems and controls for the prevention and 

detection of fraud and irregularities during our audit planning procedures.  

6.2 Audit Findings 

In the course of the audit we have reviewed the following areas with regard to the prevention 

and detection of fraud and irregularities: 

+ The monitoring and compliance with financial procedures; 

+ The company’s strategy to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities; 

+ The internal controls operated for segregation of duties, authorisation and approval 

processes and reconciliation procedures. 

No areas of significant concern were found during normal audit procedures.  

We emphasise that our audit of the financial statements is planned to ensure there is a 

reasonable expectation of detecting misstatements arising from fraud or other irregularity that 

are material in relation to those financial statements but cannot be relied upon to detect all 

frauds and irregularities.  
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7. Audit Recommendations - Prior Year 
There were no recommendations in the prior year which require to be followed up on.  
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8. Audit Recommendations – Current 

Year  

8.1 Current Year Recommendations 

There are no new points to bring to the Directors’ attention in relation to the current year. 
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A. Letter of Representation – North 

Glasgow Housing Association 

 

The following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff 

with relevant knowledge and experience such as we consider necessary in connection with 

your audit of the Registered Social Landlord’s (RSL's) financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2023. These enquiries have included inspection of supporting 

documentation where appropriate and are sufficient to satisfy ourselves that we can make 

each of the following representations.  All representations are made to the best of our 

knowledge and belief. 

 

General 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities as members of the Board, as set out in the 

terms of your engagement letter dated 8th June 2023, under the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing (Scotland) Act 2010 and the 

Determination of Accounting Requirements 2019 for preparing financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 

Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), for being satisfied that they give 

a true and fair view and for making accurate representations to you. 

 

2. All the transactions undertaken by the RSL have been properly reflected and 

recorded in the accounting records. 

 

3. All the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your 

audit.  We have provided you with unrestricted access to all appropriate persons 

within the RSL, and with all other records and related information requested, 

including minutes of all Board, general and management meetings, and 

correspondence with the RSL’s regulatory body. 
 

4. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

 

5. The effects of uncorrected misstatements (as set out in the appendix to this letter) 

are immaterial both individually and in total. 
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Internal control and fraud 

6. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance 

of internal control systems to prevent and detect fraud and error. We have disclosed 

to you the results of our risk assessment that the financial statements may be 

misstated as a result of fraud. 

 

7. We have disclosed to you all instances of known or suspected fraud affecting the 

RSHP involving management, employees who have a significant role in internal 

control or others that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 

8. We have also disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud or 

suspected fraud affecting the RSL’s financial statements communicated by current or 
former employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

 

Assets and liabilities 

9. The RSL has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances 

on the RSL’s assets, except for those that are disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements. 

 

10. All actual liabilities, contingent liabilities and guarantees given to third parties have 

been recorded or disclosed as appropriate. 

 

11. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value and, 

where relevant, the fair value measurements or classification of assets and liabilities 

reflected in the financial statements. 

 

12. We have not breached any covenants which might affect any outstanding loans. 

 

Accounting estimates 

13. The methods, data and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting 

estimates, and their related disclosures, are appropriate to achieve recognition, 

measurement and disclosure that is reasonable in the context of the applicable 

financial reporting framework. 
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Loans and arrangements 

14. The company has not granted any advances or credits to, or made guarantees on 

behalf of, directors other than those disclosed in the financial statements. 

 

Legal claims 

15. We have disclosed to you all claims in connection with litigation that have been, or 

are expected to be, received and such matters, as appropriate, have been properly 

accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements. 

 

Laws and regulations 

16. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-

compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when 

preparing the financial statements. 

 

Related parties 

17. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for 

and disclosed in the financial statements. We have disclosed to you all relevant 

information concerning such relationships and transactions and are not aware of any 

other matters which require disclosure in order to comply with the requirements of 

company law or accounting standards. 

 

Subsequent events 

18. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements which require 

adjustment or disclosure have been properly accounted for and disclosed. 

 

Going concern 

19. We believe that the RSL’s financial statements should be prepared on a going 

concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support 

will be more than adequate for the RSL’s needs. We also confirm our plans for future 
action(s) required to enable the RSHP to continue as a going concern are feasible.  

We have considered a period of twelve months from the date of approval of the 

financial statements.  We believe that no further disclosures relating to the RSL’s 
ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements. 
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Yours faithfully 

 

 

……………………………………………. Board Member 

 

 

……………………………………………. Secretary 

 

 

……………………………………………. Finance Director  
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Loan covenant compliance 

There is a risk of loan 

covenants being breached 

which could ultimately lead to 

penalties and early settlement 

of outstanding loans.  

 

 

We will ensure, as part of our 

audit procedures, there are 

no technical breaches in loan 

covenants. Any breaches 

uncovered will be brought to 

the attention of senior 

management. 

 

No breaches of loan 

covenants were 

identified during our 

audit testing.  
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Charity No: SC030635  

NORTH GLASGOW HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 

 
Possilpark Office 

Saracen House 
139 Saracen Street 

Possilpark 
Glasgow 
G22 5AZ 

 
25 July 2023 

 
Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited 
Chartered Accountants 
168 Bath Street  
Glasgow 
G2 4TP 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
The following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant 
knowledge and experience such as we consider necessary in connection with your audit of the 
Registered Social Landlord’s (RSL's) financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. These 
enquiries have included inspection of supporting documentation where appropriate, and are sufficient to 
satisfy ourselves that we can make each of the following representations.  All representations are made 
to the best of our knowledge and belief. 
 

General 
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities as members of the Board, as set out in the terms of your 

engagement letter dated 8th June 2023, under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Housing (Scotland) Act 2010 and the Determination of Accounting 
Requirements 2019 for preparing financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice), for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and for making accurate 
representations to you. 
 

2. All the transactions undertaken by the RSL have been properly reflected and recorded in the 
accounting records. 
 

3. All the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit.  We 
have provided you with unrestricted access to all appropriate persons within the RSL, and with 
all other records and related information requested, including minutes of all Board, general and 
management meetings, and correspondence with the RSL’s regulatory body. 
 

4. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 
 

5. The effects of uncorrected misstatements (as set out in the appendix to this letter) are immaterial 
both individually and in total. 
 

Internal control and fraud 
6. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 

control systems to prevent and detect fraud and error. We have disclosed to you the results of 
our risk assessment that the financial statements may be misstated as a result of fraud. 
 

7. We have disclosed to you all instances of known or suspected fraud affecting the RSHP involving 
management, employees who have a significant role in internal control or others that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

8. We have also disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud or suspected 
fraud affecting the RSL’s financial statements communicated by current or former employees, 
analysts, regulators or others. 
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Assets and liabilities 
9. The RSL has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on  the RSL’s 

assets, except for those that are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 

10. All actual liabilities, contingent liabilities and guarantees given to third parties have been 
recorded or disclosed as appropriate. 

 
11. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value and, where relevant, 

the fair value measurements or classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial 
statements. 

 
12. We have not breached any covenants which might affect any outstanding loans. 

 
Accounting estimates 
13. The methods, data and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, and 

their related disclosures, are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement and disclosure 
that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework. 

 
Loans and arrangements 
14. The company has not granted any advances or credits to, or made guarantees on behalf of, 

directors other than those disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Legal claims 
15. We have disclosed to you all claims in connection with litigation that have been, or are expected 

to be, received and such matters, as appropriate, have been properly accounted for and 
disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Laws and regulations 
16. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance 

with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial 
statements. 
 

Related parties 
17. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed in the financial statements. We have disclosed to you all relevant information 
concerning such relationships and transactions and are not aware of any other matters which 
require disclosure in order to comply with the requirements of company law or accounting 
standards. 
 

Subsequent events 
18. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements which require adjustment or 

disclosure have been properly accounted for and disclosed. 
 

Going concern 
19. We believe that the RSL’s financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis on 

the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than adequate for 
the RSL’s needs. We also confirm our plans for future action(s) required to enable the RSHP to 
continue as a going concern are feasible.  We have considered a period of twelve months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements.  We believe that no further disclosures relating 
to the RSL’s ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 
 
……………………………………………. Board Member 
 
 
……………………………………………. Secretary 
 
 
……………………………………………. Finance Director 
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  Accountants, Business  

                                                                                                                   & Tax Advisers 

+ Wylie & Bisset – Annual Report to the Board of Management 

 

NG Property (Scotland) Limited 

50 Reidhouse Street 

Glasgow 

G21 4LS 

 

 

Dear Sirs, 

 

REPORT TO MANAGEMENT 

 

During the course of our audit for the period ended 31 March 2023 we performed a number of audit 

tests.  These tests provided us with a level of understanding of your systems and an insight into the 

operations of your business and controls. We have no recommendations for management.  

 

Please note that our audit tests were designed to assist us in forming our opinion on the financial 

statements and may not necessarily disclose all errors or irregularities whether within the financial 

statements or your systems of control and hence should not be relied upon to do so.  Accordingly, this 

report should not be considered as confirmation that no weaknesses exist within your systems nor 

that there are no improvements which could be made.  

 

We should like to take this opportunity to express our thanks to all members of the company’s staff 

who assisted us in carrying out our work.  

 

Yours faithfully 

 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Ltd 
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Registered Office: 50 Reidhouse Street, Glasgow G21 4LS 

NG Property Scotland 
 
 

50 Reidhouse Street 
Glasgow 
G21 4LS 

 
 

 
Date: 25 July 2023  

 
Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited 
Chartered Accountants 
168 Bath Street 
Glasgow 
G2 4TP 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
The following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant 
knowledge and experience such as we consider necessary in connection with your audit of the 
company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. These enquiries have included 
inspection of supporting documentation, where appropriate, and are sufficient to satisfy ourselves that 
we can make each of the following representations.  All representations are made to the best of our 
knowledge and belief. 
 

General 
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities as directors, as set out in the terms of your engagement 

letter dated 08 June 2023 under the Companies Act 2006, for preparing financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and for 
making accurate representations to you. 

 
2. All the transactions undertaken by the company have been properly reflected and recorded in the 

accounting records. 
 

3. All the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit. We 
have provided you with unrestricted access to all appropriate persons within the company, and 
with all other records and related information requested, including minutes of all management 
and shareholder meetings. 

 
4. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

 
5. We confirm we are satisfied the notes to the accounts are sufficient for the financial statements 

to give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and its profit 
for the year then ended.  

 
6. The effects of uncorrected misstatements noted below are immaterial both individually and in 

total. 
 

Nature of deviation & reason for it 
 

Actual 
deviation 

         £ 

Unadjusted 
profit effect 

Dr / (Cr) 
        £  

Unadjusted 
Balance Sheet 
effect Dr / (Cr) 

        £ 

Being correction of year-end intercompany 
debtor 

1,353 - 1,353 
(1,353) 
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Internal control and fraud 
7. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 

control systems to prevent and detect fraud and error. We have disclosed to you the results of 
our risk assessment that the financial statements may be misstated as a result of fraud. 
 

8. We have disclosed to you all instances of known or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving 
management, employees who have a significant role in internal control or others that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

9. We have also disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud or suspected 
fraud affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by current or former employees, 
analysts, regulators or others. 
 

Assets and liabilities 
10. The company has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on the 

company’s assets, except for those that are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 

11. All actual liabilities, contingent liabilities and guarantees given to third parties have been 
recorded or disclosed as appropriate. 

 
12. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value and, where relevant, 

the fair value measurements or classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial 
statements. 

 
Accounting estimates 
13. The methods, data and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, and 

their related disclosures, are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement and disclosure 
that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework. 
 

Loans and arrangements 
14. The company has not granted any advances or credits to, or made guarantees on behalf of, 

directors other than those disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Legal claims 
15. We have disclosed to you all claims in connection with litigation that have been, or are expected 

to be, received and such matters, as appropriate, have been properly accounted for and 
disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Laws and regulations 
16. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance 

with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial 
statements. 
 

Related parties 
17. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed in the financial statements. We have disclosed to you all relevant information 
concerning such relationships and transactions and are not aware of any other matters which 
require disclosure in order to comply with the requirements of company law or accounting 
standards. 
 

Subsequent events 
18. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements which require adjustment or 

disclosure have been properly accounted for and disclosed. 
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Going concern 
19. We believe that the company's financial statements should be prepared on a going concern 

basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than 
adequate for the company's needs.  We also confirm our plans for future action(s) required to 
enable the company to continue as a going concern are feasible. We have considered a period 
of twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We believe that no further 
disclosures relating to the company's ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in 
the financial statements. 

 
We acknowledge our legal responsibilities regarding disclosure of information to you as auditors and 
confirm that so far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information needed by you in connection 
with preparing your audit report of which you are unaware. 
 
Each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you are aware of that information. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
  
 
 
.............................................................................................................................. 
Signed on behalf of the board of directors 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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  Accountants, Business  

                                                                                                                   & Tax Advisers 

+ Wylie & Bisset – Annual Report to the Board of Management 

 

Design Services Glasgow Limited 

50 Reidhouse Street 

Glasgow 

G21 4LS 

 

 

Dear Sirs, 

 

REPORT TO MANAGEMENT 

 

During the course of our audit for the period ended 31 March 2023 we performed a number of audit 

tests.  These tests provided us with a level of understanding of your systems and an insight into the 

operations of your business and controls. We have no recommendations for management.  

 

Please note that our audit tests were designed to assist us in forming our opinion on the financial 

statements and may not necessarily disclose all errors or irregularities whether within the financial 

statements or your systems of control and hence should not be relied upon to do so.  Accordingly, this 

report should not be considered as confirmation that no weaknesses exist within your systems nor 

that there are no improvements which could be made.  

 

We should like to take this opportunity to express our thanks to all members of the company’s staff 

who assisted us in carrying out our work.  

 

Yours faithfully 

 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Ltd 
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Design Services Glasgow Limited 
 
 

50 Reidhouse Street 
Glasgow 
G21 4LS 

 
 

 
Date: 25 July 2023  

 
Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited 
Chartered Accountants 
168 Bath Street 
Glasgow 
G2 4TP 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
The following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant 
knowledge and experience such as we consider necessary in connection with your audit of the 
company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. These enquiries have included 
inspection of supporting documentation, where appropriate, and are sufficient to satisfy ourselves that 
we can make each of the following representations.  All representations are made to the best of our 
knowledge and belief. 
 

General 
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities as directors, as set out in the terms of your engagement 

letter dated 08 June 2023 under the Companies Act 2006, for preparing financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and for 
making accurate representations to you. 

 
2. All the transactions undertaken by the company have been properly reflected and recorded in the 

accounting records. 
 

3. All the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit. We 
have provided you with unrestricted access to all appropriate persons within the company, and 
with all other records and related information requested, including minutes of all management 
and shareholder meetings. 

 
4. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

 
5. We confirm we are satisfied the notes to the accounts are sufficient for the financial statements 

to give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and its profit 
for the year then ended.  

 
6. The effects of uncorrected misstatements noted below are immaterial both individually and in 

total. 
 

Nature of deviation & reason for it 
 

Actual 
deviation 

         £ 

Unadjusted 
profit effect 

Dr / (Cr) 
        £  

Unadjusted 
Balance Sheet 
effect Dr / (Cr) 

        £ 

Being correction of audit accrual 700                    700 (700) 
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Internal control and fraud 
7. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 

control systems to prevent and detect fraud and error. We have disclosed to you the results of 
our risk assessment that the financial statements may be misstated as a result of fraud. 
 

8. We have disclosed to you all instances of known or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving 
management, employees who have a significant role in internal control or others that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

9. We have also disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud or suspected 
fraud affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by current or former employees, 
analysts, regulators or others. 
 

Assets and liabilities 
10. The company has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on the 

company’s assets, except for those that are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 

11. All actual liabilities, contingent liabilities and guarantees given to third parties have been 
recorded or disclosed as appropriate. 

 
12. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value and, where relevant, 

the fair value measurements or classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial 
statements. 

 
Accounting estimates 
13. The methods, data and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, and 

their related disclosures, are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement and disclosure 
that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework. 
 

Loans and arrangements 
14. The company has not granted any advances or credits to, or made guarantees on behalf of, 

directors other than those disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Legal claims 
15. We have disclosed to you all claims in connection with litigation that have been, or are expected 

to be, received and such matters, as appropriate, have been properly accounted for and 
disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Laws and regulations 
16. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance 

with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial 
statements. 
 

Related parties 
17. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed in the financial statements. We have disclosed to you all relevant information 
concerning such relationships and transactions and are not aware of any other matters which 
require disclosure in order to comply with the requirements of company law or accounting 
standards. 
 

Subsequent events 
18. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements which require adjustment or 

disclosure have been properly accounted for and disclosed. 
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Going concern 
19. We believe that the company's financial statements should be prepared on a going concern 

basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than 
adequate for the company's needs.  We also confirm our plans for future action(s) required to 
enable the company to continue as a going concern are feasible. We have considered a period 
of twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We believe that no further 
disclosures relating to the company's ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in 
the financial statements. 

 
We acknowledge our legal responsibilities regarding disclosure of information to you as auditors and 
confirm that so far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information needed by you in connection 
with preparing your audit report of which you are unaware. 
 
Each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you are aware of that information. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
  
 
 
.............................................................................................................................. 
Signed on behalf of the board of directors 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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  Accountants, Business  

                                                                                                                   & Tax Advisers 

+ Wylie & Bisset – Annual Report to the Board of Management 

 

NG 2 Limited 

50 Reidhouse Street 

Glasgow 

G21 4LS 

 

 

Dear Sirs, 

 

REPORT TO MANAGEMENT 

 

During the course of our audit for the period ended 31 March 2023 we performed a number of audit 

tests.  These tests provided us with a level of understanding of your systems and an insight into the 

operations of your business and controls.  

 

Accompanying this letter is a memorandum noting our points together with the recommendations we 

have for possible improvements which could be made. We have raised one new point.  Please note 

that our audit tests were designed to assist us in forming our opinion on the financial statements and 

may not necessarily disclose all errors or irregularities wither within the financial statements or your 

systems of control and hence should not be relied upon to do so. However, if any irregularity did come 

to our attention during our audit tests, we would, of course, inform you immediately. 

 

This report has been prepared for the sole use of the directors of NG 2 Limited and must not be 

shown to third parties without our prior consent.  No responsibilities are accepted by Wylie & Bisset 

towards any party acting or refraining from action as a result of this report. 

 

We should like to take this opportunity to express our thanks to all members of the company’s staff 

who assisted us in carrying out our work.  

 

Yours faithfully 
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 Wylie & Bisset – Annual Report to the Board of Management 1 

Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Ltd 

 

PRIOR YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS 

No recommendation was noted in the prior year. 

 

CURRENT YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 

 

Background Recommendations Priority 

   

   

1. We noted that there are 
some stock items with nil 
value, there is a risk that the 
stock is understated. 

We recommend that stock listing 

be updated to reflect the true 

stock position in value and 

quantity. 

Low 

Management Response:    
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NG 2 Limited 
 
 

50 Reidhouse Street 
Glasgow 
G21 4LS 

 
 

 
Date: 25 July 2023  

 
Wylie & Bisset (Audit) Limited 
Chartered Accountants 
168 Bath Street 
Glasgow 
G2 4TP 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
The following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant 
knowledge and experience such as we consider necessary in connection with your audit of the 
company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. These enquiries have included 
inspection of supporting documentation, where appropriate, and are sufficient to satisfy ourselves that 
we can make each of the following representations.  All representations are made to the best of our 
knowledge and belief. 
 

General 
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities as directors, as set out in the terms of your engagement 

letter dated 08 June 2023 under the Companies Act 2006, for preparing financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and for 
making accurate representations to you. 

 
2. All the transactions undertaken by the company have been properly reflected and recorded in the 

accounting records. 
 

3. All the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit. We 
have provided you with unrestricted access to all appropriate persons within the company, and 
with all other records and related information requested, including minutes of all management 
and shareholder meetings. 

 
4. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

 
5. We confirm we are satisfied the notes to the accounts are sufficient for the financial statements 

to give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and its profit 
for the year then ended.  

 
6. The effects of uncorrected misstatements noted below are immaterial both individually and in 

total. 
 

Nature of deviation & reason for it 
 

Actual 
deviation 

         £ 

Unadjusted 
profit effect 

Dr / (Cr) 
        £  

Unadjusted 
Balance Sheet 
effect Dr / (Cr) 

        £ 

Being extrapolated error supplier statements  16,047 16,074 (16,074) 
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7. We confirm that we approve the journal adjustments detailed below which have been processed 
in drafting the statutory accounts. 

Nature of deviation & reason for it 
 

Actual 
deviation 

         £ 

Adjusted 
profit effect 

Dr / (Cr) 
        £  

Adjusted 
Balance Sheet 
effect Dr / (Cr) 

        £ 

Being deferred tax movement  12,937 12,937 (12,937) 

Being reclassification from trade debtors to 
inter-company  

81,201 
 

- 81,201  
 (100) 

 (81,101) 

Being reclassification from WIP to inter-co 144 - 144  
 (144) 

 
 

Internal control and fraud 
8. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 

control systems to prevent and detect fraud and error. We have disclosed to you the results of 
our risk assessment that the financial statements may be misstated as a result of fraud. 
 

9. We have disclosed to you all instances of known or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving 
management, employees who have a significant role in internal control or others that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

10. We have also disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud or suspected 
fraud affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by current or former employees, 
analysts, regulators or others. 
 

Assets and liabilities 
11. The company has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on the 

company’s assets, except for those that are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 

12. All actual liabilities, contingent liabilities and guarantees given to third parties have been 
recorded or disclosed as appropriate. 

 
13. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value and, where relevant, 

the fair value measurements or classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial 
statements. 

 
Accounting estimates 
14. The methods, data and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, and 

their related disclosures, are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement and disclosure 
that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework. 
 

Loans and arrangements 
15. The company has not granted any advances or credits to, or made guarantees on behalf of, 

directors other than those disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Legal claims 
16. We have disclosed to you all claims in connection with litigation that have been, or are expected 

to be, received and such matters, as appropriate, have been properly accounted for and 
disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

Laws and regulations 
17. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance 

with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial 
statements. 
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Related parties 
18. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed in the financial statements. We have disclosed to you all relevant information 
concerning such relationships and transactions and are not aware of any other matters which 
require disclosure in order to comply with the requirements of company law or accounting 
standards. 
 

Subsequent events 
19. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements which require adjustment or 

disclosure have been properly accounted for and disclosed. 
 

Going concern 
20. We believe that the company's financial statements should be prepared on a going concern 

basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than 
adequate for the company's needs.  We also confirm our plans for future action(s) required to 
enable the company to continue as a going concern are feasible. We have considered a period 
of twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We believe that no further 
disclosures relating to the company's ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in 
the financial statements. 

 
We acknowledge our legal responsibilities regarding disclosure of information to you as auditors and 
confirm that so far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information needed by you in connection 
with preparing your audit report of which you are unaware. 
 
Each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you are aware of that information. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
  
 
 
.............................................................................................................................. 
Signed on behalf of the board of directors 

Date: 25 July 2023 
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FCA  Mutuals Annual Return (AR3)  Release 4  February 2019 Page 1 of 12 

 

 

Annual Return (AR30) form 
 

Section 1 – About this form 

 

An Annual Return must be completed by all societies registered under the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 (‘the Act’) (including any 

societies previously registered under the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 

1965) or the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act (Northern 

Ireland) 1969 (‘the Act’) (including any societies previously registered under the 

Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1969). The Annual Return must include: 

 this form; 

 a set of the society’s accounts; and 

 where required, an audit report or report on the accounts.  

A society must submit the Annual Return within 7 months of the end of the 

society’s financial year. Failure to submit on time is a prosecutable offence.  

Please note that this form, including any details provided on the form, will be 

made available to the public through the Mutuals Public Register 

https://mutuals.fca.org.uk.  

 

For guidance on our registration function for societies under the Co-operative 

and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, which includes guidance on the 

requirement to submit an Annual Return, please see here: 

https://www.fca.org.uk/publication/finalised-guidance/fg15-12.pdf   

Section 2 – About this application 

 

Society name North Glasgow Housing Association Limited 

Register number 1865RS 

Registered address 50 Reidhouse Street, Glasgow 

Postcode G21 4LS 
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2.1 What date did the financial year covered by these accounts end? 

3 1  0 3  2 0 2 3 

 

Section 3 – People 

 

3.1 Please provide the names of the people who were directors of the 

society during the financial year this return covers. Some societies use the 

term ‘committee member’ or ‘trustee’ instead of ‘director’. For ease of reference, 

we use ‘director’ throughout this form.  

Name of director Month and year of birth 

John Thorburn January 1958 

James Berrington March 1953 

Paul Nelson February 1962 

Gino Satti August 1961 

Catherine Rossine July 1952 

John McLeod June 1960 

Allan Gow May 1963 

Isabel Cross January 1934 

Margaret Thomson October 1926 

Frank Malcolm April 1975 

James Kennedy May 1974 

Mairead Grimley May 1988 

Continue on to a separate sheet if necessary.  

3.2 All directors must be 16 or older. Please confirm this is this case: 

All directors are aged 16 or over  ☒ 

 

3.3 Societies are within the scope of the Company Directors 

Disqualification Act 1986 (CDDA). Please confirm that no director is 

disqualified under that Act: 

No director is disqualified    ☒ 
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3.4 Please state any close links which any of the directors has with any 

society, company or authority. ‘Close links’ includes any directorships or 

senior positions held by directors of the society in other organisations.  

James Berrington – Director Ng2 Limited 

 

 

 

3.5 Please provide the name of the person who was secretary at the end 

of the financial year this return covers. Societies must have a secretary. 

Name of secretary Month and year of birth 

James Berrington March 1953 

 

Section 4 – Financial information  

 

4.1 Please confirm that: 

accounts are being submitted with this form ☒ 

the accounts comply with relevant statutory and 
accounting requirements 

☒ 

the accounts are signed by two members and 
the secretary (3 signatures in total) 

☒ 

 

4.2 Based on the accounts, please provide the information requested 

below for the financial year covered by this return.  

Number of members 87 

Turnover £27,405,224 

Assets £140.752,716 

Number of employees (if any) 117 

Share capital  £87 

Highest rate of interest paid on shares (if any) 0% 
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4.3 What Standard Industrial Classification code best describes the 

society’s main business? Where more than one code applies, please select the 

code that you feel best describes the society’s main business activity. You will find a 

full list of codes here: http://resources.companieshouse.gov.uk/sic/   

68201 

 

Section 5 – Audit  

 

Societies are required to appoint an auditor to audited unless they are small or 

have disapplied this requirement. For further guidance see chapter 7 of our 

guidance: https://www.fca.org.uk/publication/finalised-guidance/fg15-

12.pdf    

 

5.1 Please select the audit option the society has complied with: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2 Please confirm the audit option used by the society is compliant with 

the society’s own rules and the Act 

 

We have complied with the audit requirements ☒ 

 

 

5.3 Please confirm any audit report (where required) is being submitted 

with this Annual Return 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The information below impacts the level of audit required of the society’s 
accounts. Please provide answers to the following questions.  

 

 

Full professional audit ☒ 

Auditor’s report on the accounts ☐ 

Lay audit ☐ 

No audit ☐ 

Yes ☒ 

Not applicable ☐ 
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5.4 Is this society accepted by HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) as a 

charity for tax purposes? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.5 If the society is registered with the Office of the Scottish Charity 

Regulator (OSCR) please provide your OSCR registration number. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.6 Is the society a housing association?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.7 Please confirm which housing regulator you are registered with, and 

provide the registration number they have given you: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☒ 

No ☐ 

Not applicable ☐ 

OSCR number: SC030635 

No ☐ Go to section 6 

Yes ☒ Go to question 5.7 

  Registration number 

Homes and Communities Agency ☐  

Scottish Housing Regulator ☒ HCB187 

The Welsh Ministers ☐  

Department for Communities 
(Northern Ireland) 

☐  
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Section 6 – Subsidiaries  

 

6.1 Is the society a subsidiary of another society? 

 

 

 

6.2 Does the society have one or more subsidiaries? (As defined in 

sections 100 and 101 of the Act) 

 

 

 

6.3 If the society has subsidiaries, please provide the names of them 

below (or attach an additional sheet) 

Registration 
Number 

Name 

SC251415 NG Property (Scotland) Limited 

SC359676 Design Services Glasgow Limited 

SC381740 NG2 Limited 

SC378119 NG3 Limited 

 

6.4 Please provide below (or on a separate sheet) the names of 

subsidiaries not dealt with in group accounts (if any) and reasons for 

exclusions: (the society must have written authority from us to exclude a 

subsidiary from group accounts) 

Registration 

Number 
Name Reason for exclusion 

SC251415 NG Property (Scotland) 
Limited 

No value to the 
members 

SC359676 Design Services Glasgow 

Limited 

No value to the 

members 

SC381740 NG2 Limited No value to the 
members 

SC378119 NG3 Limited Dormant 

 

Yes ☐ 

No ☒ 

Yes ☒ Continue to question 6.3 

No ☐ Continue to Section 7 
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Section 7– Condition for registration  

 

All societies are registered meeting one of two conditions for registration. These 

are that the society is either: 

 

 a bona fide co-operative society (‘co-operative society’); or 

 are conducting business for the benefit of the community (‘community 

benefit society’).  
 

A society must answer the questions set out in either Section 7A or Section 7B of 

this form, depending on which condition of registration it meets. 

If you are not sure which condition for registration applies to the society please 

see chapters 4 and 5 of our guidance: 

https://www.fca.org.uk/publication/finalised-guidance/fg15-12.pdf    
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Section 7A - Co-operative societies 

Co-operative societies must answer the following questions in relation to the 

financial year covered by this return. 

7A.1 What is the business of the society?  For example, did you provide 

housing, manufacture goods, develop IT systems etc.  

 

 

7A.2 Please describe the members’ common economic, social and 

cultural needs and aspirations. In answering this question, please make sure 

it is clear what needs and aspirations members had in common.  

 

 

 

 

7A.3 How did the society’s business meet those needs and aspirations? 

You have described the society’s business answer to question 7A.1, and in 

question 7A.2 you have described the common needs and aspirations of 

members. Please now describe how during the year that business met those 

common needs and aspirations.  

 

 

 

7A.4 How did members democratically control the society? For example, 

did the members elect a board at an annual general meeting; did all members 

collectively run the society.  
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7A.5 What did the society do with any surplus or profit? For instance, did 

you pay a dividend to members (and if so, on what basis); did money get 

reinvested in the business; put into reserves; used for some other purpose? 
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Section 7B - Community benefit societies 

Community benefit societies must answer the following questions in relation to 

the financial year covered by this return.  

7B.1 What is the business of the society?  For example, did you provide 

social housing, run an amateur sports club etc.  

 

As a Housing Association for those wishing to obtain housing at a 

fair social rent that wish to reside in the North Glasgow area. 

 

 

7B.2 Please describe the benefits to the community the society 

delivered? Here we are looking to see what the benefits to the community 

were. Community can be said to be the community at large. For example, did 

you relieve poverty or homelessness through the provision of social housing. 

 

By providing over 5,400 properties at a fair social rent. This helped 

reduce poverty and the City Council had 50% nominations rights to 

properties that mostly went to homeless. By undertaking various 

wider action activities that provided sporting, educational and 

cultural opportunities to the residents of North Glasgow. 

 

 

7B.3 Please describe how the society’s business delivered these 

benefits? The business of the society must be conducted for the benefit of the 

community. Please describe how the society’s business (as described in answer 

to question 7B.1) provided benefit to the community.  

 

By providing over 5,400 properties at a fair social rent. We do not 

do “affordable” rents as everything is at a social rent. By 

undertaking various wider action activities that provided sporting, 

educational and cultural opportunities to the residents of North 

Glasgow. 

 

 

7B.4 Did the society work with a specific community, and if so, please 

describe it here? For instance, were the society’s activities confined to a 
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specific location; or to a specific group of people? Please note that in serving the 

needs of any defined community, the society should not inhibit the benefit to the 

community at large. 

The Associations area of operation is in the postcodes G21 and 

G22. We are highly concentrated as we are the largest community 

based housing association in Scotland. We accept applications for 

housing from anywhere. 

 

 

7B.5 What did the society do with any surplus or profit? For instance, did 

you donate the money; did money get reinvested in the business; put into 

reserves; used for some other purpose? 

To build up reserves for future planned maintenance programmes 

and to prepare for a programme of new build social housing for 

rent at a fair social rent. 

 

7B.6 Please state any significant commercial arrangements that the 

society has, or had, with any other organisation that could create, or be 

perceived as creating, a conflict of interest. Please tell us how you ensured 

that any such conflict of interest did not prevent the society from acting for the 

benefit of the community. 

No conflicts of interest. All of the subsidiaries are 100% owned and 

are there for the purpose of value for money or ensuring the 

Association’s charitable status is not compromised.  
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Section 8– Declaration 

 

The secretary of the society must complete this section.  

Name Jim Berrington 

My signature below confirms that the information in this form is accurate 
to the best of my knowledge 

Signature  

 
 
 

Position Secretary 

Date 25/7/2023 

 

Section 9 – Submitting this form 

Please submit a signed, scanned version of this form along with your accounts 

and any auditor’s report by email to: mutualsannrtns@fca.org.uk.  

Or you can post the form to: 

Mutual Societies 

Financial Conduct Authority 

12 Endeavour Square 

London  

E20 1JN 

 

This form is available on the Mutuals Society Portal: 

https://societyportal.fca.org.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Registered as a Limited Company in England and Wales No. 1920623. Registered office as above. 
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North Glasgow Housing Association 

1865RS 

` 

 

3. Details of members of the Committee (contd) 

 

Name Month of Birth Year of birth 

Mary Lam November 1952 

Jacqueline Fernie November 1977 
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ng homes is a trading name of North Glasgow Housing Association Ltd. 

 

Item 

4(f) 

 

 
 

 

SUBJECT:   REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE POLICY DATE: 25 JULY 2023 

 

1. Introduction  

 

The Maintenance Policy was last reviewed and approved at the Board on 28 March 2023 to 

change the response timescale for complex repairs from 20 to 30 working days. Ordinarily 

the Policy would not have been revisited for a further three years, however, since the repairs 

service delivery was under review and the Repairs Team were being transferred to the 

Property Services Team, it was agreed that the Policy would be fully reviewed again in Q1 

2023. 

2. Changes to the Policy 

 

A full review of the Policy has now been undertaken and several changes made as follows: 

  

• The Maintenance Policy has been renamed Repairs and Maintenance Policy to more 

accurately reflect the areas of work encompassed within it. 

• Reference to the Property Factors (Scotland) Act 2011 and Code of Conduct has been 

added under the heading of Legal Obligations. 

• The order of some paragraphs has been amended to clarify  repairs and maintenance 

that the Association is not responsible for. 

• The water hygiene requirements which minimise the risk of exposure to Legionella 

now also states ‘or other water-borne diseases’.  

• The policy review period now refers to any changes in good practice as well as 

legislative or regulatory requirement changes.  

• The definition of complex repairs has been extended to include works with long 

material supply lead-in times.  

• A section listing other related strategies, policies and procedures has been added. 

3. Policy Review 

 
The Policy will be reviewed every three years, or earlier, in line with legislative or regulatory 

changes and/ or good practice guidelines.  

4. Risk and Mitigation  

 
The risk associated with not having a Repairs and Maintenance policy is that it impacts on 

service delivery to our customers and the repairing standard in our homes.  The mitigation 

To: Board  
From: Deputy Director of Property Services 

Board Meeting  

For Approval 
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ng homes is a trading name of North Glasgow Housing Association Ltd. 

 

Item 

4(f) 

is to have a regular review of the policy to ensure everything is in line with current 

regulations, legislation, and good practice and to ensure the Policy is strictly followed. 

5. Recommendation 

 The Board is asked to APPROVE the revised Repairs and Maintenance Policy.  
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1. Introduction 

 

The objective of ng homes’  Repairs and Maintenance Policy is to: 

 

Meet the Association’s repairs and maintenance responsibilities and obligations in 

compliance with Section 5 of the Association’s secure tenancy agreement. 

 

Deliver a high-quality responsive repairs and maintenance service that meets the 

expectations of our customers. 

 

Deliver cyclical and planned investment that keeps the housing stock in good condition, 

in demand and performing well. 

 

Guide ng homes to compliance with the Scottish Housing Quality Standard (SHQS), 

Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing (EESSH) and all other statutory and 

regulatory obligations and frameworks. 

 

2. Legal Obligations 

 

ng homes will adhere to the following legislation to ensure the statutory and legal 

objections are  fulfilled: 

 

 Housing (Scotland) Act 2014 and any future amendments 

 The Building (Scotland) Regulations &  Building Standards 2017 

 Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 

 The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 and the Gas Safety (Installation 

and Use) (Amendment) Regulations 2018  

 The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 

 Right to Repair (Housing Scotland Act 1987 as amended 2001 and 2010) 

 Right to Compensation for Improvements (Housing Scotland Act 1987 as amended 2001 

and 2010) 

 Health and Safety Executive Guidance 

 The Property Factors (Scotland) Act 2011 and Code of Conduct 
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3. Equal Opportunities 

 

Our Repairs and Maintenance Policy complies with ng homes Equalities and Diversity 

Policy to ensure  equality of treatment for all service users without discrimination or 

prejudice.  At all times ng homes will provide services and meet our responsibilities 

including the nine groups with ‘protected charatistics’ as defined by the Act which include 

sex, faith or religion, race, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, mental or physical health, 

disability or marital status. 

4. General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 

 

ng homes will ensure that we safeguard the data we process.  All personal data will be 

treated  in line with our obligations under the General Data Protection Regulations 

(GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018, as well as the terms of the tenancy 

agreement.  Information regarding how personal data will be used and the basis for 

processing such data is provided in the Association’s privacy notice. 

5. Landlord Responsibilities  

ng homes has a legal responsibility to ensure that the repair  and maintenance 

requirements of our tenancy agreements are met.  

  

 ng homes will keep the interior, exterior and structure of homes in good repair, 

including: 

 

 Drains, gutters and external pipes (this does not include the clearance of blockages 

caused by the tenants’ negligence) 

 Roof 

 Outside walls, outside doors, windowsills, window catches, sash cords and window 

frames, including external painting and decoration 

 Internal walls, floors and ceilings, doors, door frames and internal staircases and 

landings (but not including painting and decoration) 

 Chimney, chimney stack and flues (but not including chimney sweeping) 

 Pathway, steps, or other means of access 

 Plasterwork 

 Integral garages and stores 

 Boundary walls and fences 
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 Installations for space heating, water heating and sanitation and for the supply of water, 

gas and electricity including:basins, sinks, baths, toilets, flushing systems and waste 

pipes, showers, water tanks 

 Electrical wiring, fireplaces, fitted fires and central heating installations, door entry 

systems, communal TV aerials and extractor fans. 

 Installations including those that ng homes own or lease which directly or indirectly 

serve the house.  

 

The Association will not be held responsible for: 

 

 The repair of any fixtures and fittings not belonging to ng homes which make use of gas, 

electricity or water. 

 The repairs or maintenance of anything installed by, or belonging to, a tenant which 

should have been removed at the end of the tenancy. 

 

If a home is served by a communal television or communications aerial provided by ng 

homes, the Association will take reasonable steps to repair any defect within a 

reasonable period. However, should the system become obsolete the Association will not 

be responsible for upgrading to a new system. Where repairs or maintenance have to be 

completed, the Association  will make reasonable efforts to minimise disruption to 

tenants. 

 

6. Classification of Repairs 

 

Emergency Repairs:  

Generally a repair is categorised as an Emergency and responded to within 24 hours if it: 

 

 Poses a significant threat to health and safety  

 Poses a serious risk to the structure of the property 

 Results in the property being insecure 
 

Urgent Repairs:  

Generally a repair is categorised as Urgent and responded to within three full working 

days where there is a: 

 

 Medium or moderate threat to health and safety.  

 Medium or moderate risk to the structure of the property. 
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Routine Repairs: 

 

Generally a repair is categorised as Routine and responded to within five working full 

days where there is a: 

 

 Low or minimal threat to health and safety.  

 Low or minimal risk to the structure of the property. 
 

Complex Repairs  

 

These are repairs which are likely to involve multi-trades and can include works of high 

value,  those requiring long material supply  lead-in times or drying out times, removal 

of asbestos, or works requiring owners or  insurance approval. The response target time 

is within 30 full working days. 

 

7. Void Properties 

 

A void is defined as a property for which rent is chargeable, but there is no tenant. It is 

the Association’s aim to minimise the period that any void property lies unoccupied by 

completing all repairs and returning the property to the Housing Officer within ten full 

working days.  A void property inspection is carried out in conjunction with the Housing 

Officer to identify the necessary repairs and safety checks, in order that the flat can be 

brought up to the Association’s  lettable standard. An Electrical Installation Condition 

Report (EICR) and gas safety check must be carried out  at the end of every tenancy. 

 

8. Pre and Post Inspection  

 

Pre and post inspections will be carried out to ensure  good workmanship and high 

quality of service to customers as follows: 

 

 All void properties (pre and post) 

 5% of all reactive repairs (pre and post), to be increased to 10% if unsatisfactory 

repairs are found to be of a poor quality workmanship 

 10% common repairs affecting owner- occupiers (pre and post), to be increased 

to 15% if unsatisfactory repairs are found to be of a poor quality workmanship 
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 10% of out of hours emergencies (post)  

 All medical adaptations (pre and post) 

 10% contract works (post), to be increased to 15% if unsatisfactory repairs jobs 

are found to be of a poor quality. 

9. Right to Repair 

 

Under the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001 (amended 2010) and Scottish Secure Tenant and 

Short Scottish secure tenants (Right to Repair) Regulations 2002 (Scottish Statutory 

Instrument 2002/316), tenants have the right to have certain urgent repairs carried out 

within a given timescale. 

 

Repairs which qualify for this Right to Repair Scheme include: 

 

 

Number 

 

Repair 

Full 

working 

days to 

complete 

repair 

1 Blocked flue to open fire or boiler. 1 

2 Blocked or leaking foul drains, soil stacks or toilet pans where there is 

no other toilet in the house 

1 

3 Blocked sink, bath or drain 1 

4 Loss of electric power 1 

5 Partial loss of electric power 3 

6 Insecure external window, door or lock 1 

7 Unsafe access path or step 1 

8 Significant leaks or flooding from water or heating pipes, tanks, 

cisterns 

1 

9 Loss or partial loss of gas supply 1 

10 Loss or partial loss of space or water heating where no alternative 

heating is available  

1 

11 Toilet not flushing where there is no other toilet in the house 1 

 

12 Unsafe power or lighting socket, or electrical fitting 1 

13a Full loss of water supply 1 
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13b Partial loss of water supply 3 

14 Loose or detached banister or handrail 3 

15 Unsafe timber flooring or stair treads 3 

16 Mechanical extractor fan in internal kitchen or bathroom not working 7 

 

Any compensation will be calculated as laid down by the Act, should work not be 

completed on time. 

 

Any compensation paid to the tenant will be deducted from the Contractor. 

 

Further details and procedures are contained in the Right to Repair Policy of the 

Association and the Right to Repair leaflet published by the Scottish Government.  

10.  Alterations and Improvements 

 

ng homes will fully support its tenants’ right to carry out improvements and alterations 

to their home.  

 

In order to carry out alterations or improvements to the property, permission must be 

sought from ng homes before work is carried out in accordance with the tenants’ tenancy 

agreement. 

11.  Cyclical and Planned Maintenance  

 

Cyclical maintenance is defined as a programme that anticipates and makes provision for 

the gradual deterioration of building components and finishes over a short to medium 

term. It consists of cyclical inspections at planned intervals of building components and 

maintenance works arising from these inspections. 

 

Examples of cyclical maintenance works are: 

 

 Pre-painting inspections 

 Decoration to communal areas 

 Gutter cleaning and roof inspections 

 Electrical installation condition reports (EICRs) 

 Gas servicing 

 Water pump inspections 
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 Tank inspection and  water hygiene  

 Fire system testing 

 Dry riser testing 

 Communal ventilation fan maintenance 

 Lightning conductor testing 

 

Cyclical maintenance is carried out at agreed intervals and usually involves inspection, 

servicing or cleaning. The allocated contract spend and any repair or remedial works  for 

cyclical projects is recorded under the cyclical cost code. Where appropriate, any large 

scale repair works identified as part of a cycical contract will be collated and 

programmed in as a planned maintenance contract.   

 

Planned maintenance is work which is programmed in advance, normally over a five or 

thirty year period, and which usually involves the replacement of external or internal 

components of the property or common parts.  

 

Planned maintenance will be programmed in line with our Asset Management Strategy 

and  regularly updated with stock condition survey information. Components will be 

replaced in accordance with their anticipated lifecycle.  

 

There may be occasions when there is a premature failure or damage of a component 

outwith planned programmes. The Association will adjust its scenario planning software 

that updates its asset information and will budget  annually for such works. 

 

Examples of planned investment works are: 

 

 Lift renewal 

 Overcladding and re-roofing 

 Full heating renewals 

 Kitchen and bathroom replacement 

 Full electrical rewiring 

 Full replacement double glazing and door sets 
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12.  Gas Responsibilities  

 

The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 places a legal duty on ng homes 

to complete an annual inspection of gas appliances, pipework and flues provided by the 

Association within a 12 month period of the previous inspection.  

 ng homes will inspect annually any gas installation in the house provided by the 

Association             and will provide the tenant with a copy of the current inspection 

record before the beginning of the     tenancy. In addition, a gas safety check is carried 

out at every change of tenancy when there is a gas appliance within the property. 

Further guidance is contained within the Gas Safety Policy. 

 

13.  Stock Condition Surveys and Life Cycle Costing  

 

In order to deliver sustainable buildings, ng homes needs to consider  current stock 

condition and future expenditure and will use the standard method of life cycle costing 

which aligns with the maximum lifespans within the Building Cost Information Service 

(BCIS) and published in the "Life Expectancy of Building Components" and BCIS Building 

Running Costs online. ng homes operates a 5 year and 30 year planned maintenance 

programme of component renewals in its  properties based on the standard BCIS 

element life cycles.  

 

The Association will carry out a stock condition survey at void stage if it has not been 

done within a 5 year period, or as part of a planned maintenance project at five yearly 

intervals to enable the life cycle costings to be updated.  All stock condition survey 

information will include the elements required for compliance with the Scottish Housing 

Quality Standard and the Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing. 

 

14.  Rechargeable Repairs 

 

In compliance with Clause 5.9 of the Association’s secure tenancy agreement, repairs 

that are the responsibility of the tenant shall be re-charged appropriately to the tenant. 

 

Examples of rechargeable repairs include (but are not limited to): 

 

 Vandalism or wilful damage 
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 Replacing lost or supplying additional keys/key fobs 

 Forcing access and/or repairing damage after losing keys 

 Call outs as a result of tenant’s own equipment being faulty  

 Tenant negligence 

 Failure to clear out voids of all furniture, possessions etc. 

 

In all circumstances, tenants will be advised of costs and agreement sought regarding 

payment before any work is carried out.  

 

Where non-payment occurs post repair, the cost of the repair will be recovered in 

compliance with the Association’s Debt Recovery Policy. 

 

15.  Asbestos Control 

 

It is the policy of ng homes to ensure that, as far as is reasonably practical, no person is 

exposed to any asbestos containing materials that may be present in any of the 

properties it owns, occupies, or manages. 

 

ng homes will comply with all legal requirements and responsibilities in terms of 

managing asbestos safely. 

 

ng homes’  Asbestos Management Policy and Procedures conforms with the Health and 

Safety at Work Act 1974, and the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012, and will apply to 

all buildings and all individuals employed, engaged, appointed or contracted by ng 

homes without exception. 

 

16.  Water Hygiene and Legionella Control 

  

ng homes is  responsible for health and safety and needs to take the right precautions to 

reduce the risks of exposure to legionella or other water-borne diseases.  

 

 The Association will: 

 Identify and assess sources of risk  

 Manage any risks (Legionella Risk Assessments)  

 Prevent or control any risks 
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 Keep and maintain  correct records 

 Carry out any other duties we may have with regards to compliance with all water 

hygiene and legionella legislation 

 

17.  Scottish Housing Quality Standards (SHQS) 

 

To continue to achieve or exceed the standards defined in the Scottish Housing Quality 

Standard (SHQS) and the Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing (EESSH)  

 

The SHQS is a national standard based on a minimum set of quality measures for all 

houses in the social rented sector.  

 

The Association had an obligation to comply with these standards by 2015. This standard 

requires all property to be: 

 

 Compliant with the tolerable standard 

 Free from serious disrepair 

 Energy efficient 

 Provided with modern facilities and services 

 Healthy, safe and secure. 

 

These standards are continually monitored by Housing Officers during annual inspections 

and implemented  through cyclical and planned maintenance projects and repairs. 

 

18.  Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing (EESSH & EESSH2) 

 

The Scottish Government  introduced EESSH in March 2014 and set a first milestone for 

social landlords to meet for social rented homes by 31 December 2020. A second 

milestone, EESSH 2 was confirmed in June 2019, to be met by December 2032. 

 

 The EESSH 2 milestone is that “All social housing meets, or can be treated as 

meeting, EPC Band B (Energy Efficiency rating) or is as energy efficient as 

practically possible, by the end of December 2032 and within the limits of cost, 

technology and necessary consent.” 
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 The standard does not prescribe how RSLs are to achieve these recommended 

minimum energy efficiency ratings but provides a list of ‘reasonable measures’ 

that must be considered when deciding what works will be undertaken to bring 

properties up to the minimum rating.   

 

 No social housing below EPC Band D should be re-let from December 2025, 

subject to temporary specified exemptions. 

 

 The Association will individually assess our properies at void stage and if any cost 

effective measures (such as low energy lighting for all fixed outlets or routine 

cyclical replacement of elements) can be implemented to bring the EE rating up 

to the next band then this work will be included. 

 

 The Association will complete new EPCs at void stage and during planned 

mainenance improvement works. New EPC data and SAP calculations will be used 

on an ongoing basis to check and refine the quality of modelling. 

 

The Association will produce an EESSH2 strategy in preparation for the 2025 review to 

confirm the 2032 milestone of meeting Band B. In line with the EESSH 2 and Asset 

Management Strategy, the Association will investigate the implementation of more 

extensive measures, such as external or internal wall/floor insulation.   

 

19.  Medical Adaptations  

 

The Association will adapt (and keep in good repair) any property that suits the changing 

needs of a tenant or a member of the tenant’s household subject to:  

 

 The provisions laid down in the Association’s Adaptations Policy. 

 

 Grant funding or some other form of financial provision being confirmed.     

 

20.  Tenant Satisfaction 

 

ng homes will continually assess tenant satisfaction of the maintenance service. 

Currently this is being carried out via a third party.  
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21. Other Related Strategies, Policies and Procedures 

 Asset Management Strategy 

 Risk Management Strategy 

 Complaints Policy 

 No Access Policy  

 Data Protection Policy 

 Estate Management Policy 

 Adaptations Policy 

 Void Management policy 

 Customer Care Policy 

 Asbestos Management Policy 

 Gas Safety Policy 

 Electrical Safety Policy 

 Electrical Safety in Multi-Storey Blocks Policy 

 Emergency Lighting in Multi-Storey Blocks Policy 

 Fire Safety in Multi-Storey Blocks Policy 

 Tenants Right to Repair Policy 

 Clerk of Works Procedures 

 Design and Specification Policy 

 Development Defects Policy and Procedures 

 Development Handover Procedures Policy 

22.  Review of Policy 

 

The Repairs and Maintenance Policy will be reviewed in 3 years, or sooner, if legislative, 

regulatory or good practice requirements change. 
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1. Scope of Policy 

 

This policy sets out the framework used by ng homes to ensure access to all of its social 

housing stock when required.  ng homes have many legal, regulatory and contractual 

duties as a social landlord.  These include ensuring its social housing stock meets 

national legal standards in terms of conditions, as well as ensuring the safety of all their 

tenants.  To enable ng homes to meet the duties, it is vital that there are no barriers to 

accessing any of its tenants houses when necessary.  Where barriers do exist ng homes 

will work with the tenant to ensure the access is mutually agreeable, providing support 

to the tenant where required. 

2. Context 

 

The No Access Policy will assist ng homes to meet the aims of its Physical Regeneration 

Strategy and the Business Plan 

3. Objective and Principle of this Policy Objective and Principle of this Policy 

The overall aim of ng homes’ No Access Policy is to ensure that its social housing stock is 

safe and meets all minimum required standards as set out in legislation, regulation and 

any contractual obligations.  

The specific objectives of the Policy are:  

 

 to ensure a robust escalation process is in place to provide the tenant with the 

opportunity to give access at a mutually convenient time while advising that it 

may lead to forced entry where no access is provided;  

 to allow ng homes to exercise its legal right as a landlord to enter the property, 

having given the tenant the legally required notice of 24 hours,  

 to inspect the property’s condition or carry out works required to meet any legal, 

regulatory and/or contractual obligations;  

 to provide a fair and transparent process to gain access to the property where the 

tenant has either: 

 not agreed to give access; or 

 ignores any contact requesting access;  

 to ensure that any forced entries are carried out with minimum disruption, 

complying with relevant legislation and good practice;  

 to ensure that any tenant(s) who do not allow access to a ng homes property are 

re-charged for any associated costs ng homes incurs by having to force entry.  
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4. The Principle of Unpderpinning the Policy 

 

The overall aim of ng homes’ No Access Policy is to ensure that its social housing stock is 

safe and meets all minimum required standards as set out in legislation, regulation and 

any contractual obligations.  

The specific objectives of the Policy are:  

 

 to ensure a robust escalation process is in place to provide the tenant with the 

opportunity to give access at a mutually convenient time while advising that it 

may lead to forced entry where no access is provided;  

 to allow ng homes to exercise its legal right as a landlord to enter the property, 

having given the tenant the legally required notice of 24 hours,  

 to inspect the property’s condition or carry out works required to meet any legal, 

regulatory and/or contractual obligations;  

 to provide a fair and transparent process to gain access to the property where the 

tenant has either: 

 not agreed to give access; or 

 ignores any contact requesting access;  

 to ensure that any forced entries are carried out with minimum disruption, 

complying with relevant legislation and good practice;  

 to ensure that any tenant(s) who do not allow access to a ng homes property are 

re-charged for any associated costs ng homes incurs by having to force entry.  

 

The principles underpinning the Policy are:  

 

 ng homes will implement supporting procedures to ensure compliance. These will 

incorporate agreed good practice to ensure consistency;  

 staff training will be provided to ensure that staff are equipped to carry out the 

roles expected of them;  

 communication with tenants and service users will be in ‘plain language’; and  

 performance will be monitored to ensure the policy is being adhered to.  

 

5. Legal Provisionsm Regulations and standards 

 

The primary housing legislation governing the rights of a landlord in relation to property 

condition and repairs, including access to carry out necessary repairs, is contained within 
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the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 as amended by the Housing (Scotland) Acts 2001, 2006 

and the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 (Tolerable Standard) Extension of Criterion) Order 

2019.  

Section 86 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 sets out a ‘Tolerable Standard’ which is 

the minimum standard required for all housing. Any property below this standard is unfit 

for human habitation. The Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 (Tolerable Standard) (Extension 

of Criterion) Order 2019 revises the tolerable standard to include: 

 

 satisfactory equipment for detecting and warning in the event of fire or suspected 

fires; and  

 satisfactory equipment for early detection and warning of carbon monoxide (CO) 

at hazardous levels.  

 

Schedule 4 of the 2001 Act states that landlords have a duty to ensure that a house is 

wind and watertight and reasonably fit for human habitation, both at the beginning of 

the tenancy and throughout its term:  

 

1) The landlord in a Scottish secure tenancy must—  

 

(a) ensure that the house is, at the commencement of the tenancy, wind and 

watertight and in all other respects reasonably fit for human habitation, and  

(b) keep the house in such condition throughout the tenancy.  

 

2) The landlord must, before the commencement of the tenancy—  

 

  (a) inspect the house and identify any work necessary to comply with the duty in 

paragraph 1(a), and  

(b) notify the tenant of any such work.  

 

3) The landlord must—  

 

(a) ensure that any work necessary to comply with the duty in paragraph 1(b) is 

carried out within a reasonable time of the tenant notifying the landlord, or the 

landlord otherwise becoming aware, that it is required, and  

(b) make good any damage caused by the carrying out of the work.  
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4) The landlord, or any person authorised by it in writing, may at any reasonable 

time, on giving 24 hours’ notice in writing to the tenant or occupier, enter the house 

for the purpose of—  

 

(a) viewing its state and condition,  

(b) carrying out any work necessary to comply with the duty in paragraph 1(b) or  

 

Part 3 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2010 governs the performance of Social landlords 

through the introduction of the Scottish Social Housing Charter outcomes. This set out 

the standards and outcomes tenants can expect from social landlords regarding the 

quality and standard of their home, as well as the value for money regarding the 

services they receive. 

 

Outcome 4 - Quality of Housing - All ng homes properties should meet the Scottish 

Housing Quality Standards (SHQS) at the time of allocation, meaning they are clean, tidy 

and in a good state of repair. These standards describe what all social landlords should 

be achieving in all their properties unless there are exemptions. This outcome also 

incorporates the Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing (EESSH) which plays a 

vital part in meeting national energy efficiency standards set by the Scottish 

Government’s aim of warm, high quality, affordable, low carbon homes across Scotland. 

SHQS Technical Guidance for Social Landlords sets out the minimum housing standards 

required. 

 

The Scottish Secure Tenancy Agreement (SST) is a legally binding contract based on the 

above legislation and must be signed by all tenants. It protects both the tenants’ and the 

ng homes interests as well as setting out the responsibilities of both parties.  

Section 5 of the SST states ng homes right and responsibilities as a landlord to carry out 

any work (repairs) necessary to put the house into a state which is wind and watertight 

and, in all respects, reasonably fit for human habitation. This duty includes:  

 

 taking into account the extent to which the house falls short of any current 

building regulations and or safety standards; and  

 keeping in repair the structure and exterior of the house;  

 keep in repair and in proper working order, any installations in the house 

provided by us for:  

 the supply of water, gas and electricity;  

 sanitation (for example basins, sinks, baths, showers, toilets);  
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 hot water heating;  

 space heating (for example central heating) including fireplaces, flues and 

chimneys.  

 the right of access in order to lay wires, cables and pipes for the purposes of 

telecommunications, water, gas, electricity. 

 

It explains ng homes right to enter the property, having given 24 hours’ notice in 

writing. Where entry is refused, forcible entry can be made provided the tenant has been 

given every reasonable opportunity to give access voluntarily. The tenant will be liable 

for the costs of any damage reasonably caused by ng homes due to forcing entry to the 

property.  

 

Other relevant provisions include, but are not restricted to, the following:  

 The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 as amended by the Gas 

Safety (installation and Use) (Amendment) Regulations 2018. These are 

supported by the Health and Safety Executive’s (HSE’s) Approved Code of 

Practice (ACOP). 

 General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 – 

ng homes will ensure that any information obtained will be processed and used 

accordingly.  

 Equality Act 2010 

 Human Rights Act 1998 – right to property (article 1 of protocol 1) and right to 

privacy (article 8) apply however the safety of tenant’s would provide an 

objective justification with these rights due to it being a proportionate means to a 

legitimate aim.  

6. Reason for Access 

The main reasons ng homes would require access are listed as follows:  

 

 Servicing  

 Any legally required safety checks or services to all heating system types, gas 

appliances, flues, chimneys, smoke alarms, carbon monoxide alarms or any other 

landlord duty covered by Section 4 above. This would include any tenant installed 

systems ng homes have taken over responsibility for. 

 Improvement Works 

 Any improvement work or upgrade needed to meet new safety or energy 

efficiency legislation, regulations or standards will be prioritised. ng homes must 
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fulfil its duties as a landlord in terms of safety of tenants, neighbours and 

communities. This may include electrical re-wiring, upgrades to smoke alarms 

and carbon monoxide alarms, energy efficiency measures such as insulation 

heating system upgrades, carrying out EPC surveys, asbestos surveys etc. 

 New Build Housing  

Each new build house has a one year defects period to identify and/or address 

any issues with the property. The terms of construction contracts requires each 

contractor to fulfil their obligations in terms of addressing any defects within a set 

timescale. These include value for money and a set specification for standards.  

 Property Inspections  

ng homes has the right to access any of its properties to view the condition of the 

property so long as they have given the tenant 24 hours’ notice in writing.  

 

This list is not exhaustive and will apply to any situation where ng homes need access to 

a property to inspect or carry out work required to meet any legal and regulatory 

standard or contractual obligation.  

 

Each scenario will be assessed in accordance with the relevant legislation in relation to it 

at the time.  

7. Notice 

ng homes will always attempt to make contact with the tenant(s) to give prior warning 

of any work/inspection required, giving as much notice as possible to arrange a mutually 

convenient time for the work/inspection to be carried out. 

 

Following any initial, unsuccessful attempts to make contact, normally carried out by our 

Contractor, ng homes will send a letter to the tenant advising of works required and 

asking tenant to make contact to arrange an appointment.   

Following further no contact from the tenant after 5 working days from the 1st Letter a 

2nd No access Letter will be delivered, this will be strongly worded to advise that forced 

access arrangements will be made if no contact is made in the next 7 days. 

If there is no contact  then the 3rd Letter which is a Notice of Intention to Enter will be 

issued giving a minimum of 24 hours notice and a maximum of 7 days notice of the date 

and time arrangement as have been made to force entry to the property. 
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8. Summary 

 

Letter 1 - Initial letter to advise contractor/nghomes has been unable to contact to 

arrange appointment and tenant must contact within 7 days advising of consequences if 

no contact is made. 

 

7 Days 

Letter 2 - 2nd Letter Further letter advising again a further 5 working days to contact   

or forced access arrangements will be made.  

 

7 Days 

Letter 3 -  Notice Of Intention To Enter (NOITE) detailing time and date of forced Access, 

detailing recharge. 

9. Special Circumstances 

 

ng homes will always take into account any special circumstances that tenants may have 

which may affect access to carry out any work. Where it is identified that the tenant has 

any physical or mental impairment, medical issues, disabilities and/or vulnerabilities that 

will prevent the work or inspection from going ahead, ng homes will work with the 

tenant to try and find a mutually convenient solution to allow the work to be carried out 

with minimal disruption or where possible delay the work to a more convenient time.  

 

ng homes will provide assistance to the tenant. The level of assistance provided will 

depend on whether the tenant has household and/or family members who could be 

reasonably expected to support and assist them. ng homes will use its discretion to 

establish the level of assistance that will need to be provided in line with the 

circumstances of each case. 

10. Forced Entry 

 

Where the tenant has failed to engage or give access, ng homes will follow their 

supporting escalation procedures, up to and including forced entry to the property where 

necessary.  

 

Each case will be assessed and authorised by the relevant Manager. 
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A Notice of Intention to Enter (NOITE) will be hand delivered to the property giving a 

minimum of 24 hours’ notice from the date and time of the appointment specified in the 

notice. This date will not be changed unless in exceptional circumstances and only if 

approved by an ng homes Manager or Director. 

 

An ng homes representative  and any relevant tradesperson will be present at each 

forced entry. If there is any concern in relation to safety ng homes will -liaise with Police 

Scotland regarding their attendance at the forced entry appointment.  

 

ng homes will ensure the property is secure following a forced entry and will change 

locks where necessary, ng homes will leave information at the property advising the 

tenant where they can collect new keys and of the re-charges they will incur for not 

allowing access to the property. ng homes will request the tenant shows suitable 

identification before allowing the new keys to be collected. 

11.  Rechargeable Costs 

 

ng homes will re-charge the tenant(s) for any costs associated with the enforcement of a 

NOITE. The re-charges will be based on the Schedule of Rates for the relevant financial 

year. This will include the costs of trades’ time and any materials required to repair the 

damage caused by forcing entry such as locks.  

 

In cases where the tenant initially agrees to give access for the work but then refuses at 

a later stage, ng homes will also seek to recover any abortive costs that have been 

incurred at the date of the subsequent refusal. This may include design costs, materials, 

bespoke materials and so on. 

 

In line with ng homes Rechargeable Repairs Policy, where re-charges cause financial 

pressure, affordable repayment agreements be offered to the tenant. Any re-charges not 

paid will be escalated to ng homes debt recovery process which can lead to any future 

offers of housing being suspended. 

12.  Complaints 

 

Any tenant who is not satisfied with the manner in which ng homes has dealt with any 

aspect of the no access process should contact the Housing Manager in the first instance 
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who will investigate and respond within timescales set out in ng homes complaints 

policy.  

 

 

 

13.  Performance Monitoring  

 

The Scottish Social Housing Charter sets out the outcomes and standards that all social 

landlords should aim to achieve when performing their landlord functions. The outcomes 

are as follows:  

 the customer/landlord relationship; 

 housing quality and maintenance 

 access to housing and support; and 

 getting good value from rents and service charges. 

 

The Charter places a statutory duty on ng homes to complete the Annual Return on the 

Charter (ARC) to the Scottish Housing Regulator (SHR). The ARC provides key 

information on ng homes performance throughout the financial year in relation to the 

quality and maintenance of its housing stock using national indicator 6 - percentage of 

stock meeting the Scottish Housing Quality Standards (SHQS). 

 

ng homes will internally monitor the number of forced accesses carried out to ng homes 

properties across the year. 

14.  Review of Policy 

The No Access  Policy will be reviewed in 3 years, or sooner, if legislative, regulatory or 

good practice requirements change 
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15.  Appendix 1 Lettable Standard 

 

CLEANLINESS 

 Removal of all rubbish, furniture, floor coverings, tenants improvements where of 

poor standard/no value, tenant contents and belongings. 

 Clean all floorboards, woodwork, cupboards, kitchen fitments, bathrooms 

including all sanitary ware. 

 Clear house of all smells 

 Removal of all contractors’ waste and complete sweep and clean out. 

 

EXTERNAL STRUCTURES & FACILITIES  

 Gardens MUST be cleared of rubbish & made safe. 

 Any structures e.g. sheds, outhouses, Anderson shelters etc. which are unsafe or 

in a state of disrepair must be removed.  

 

PATHWAYS, STEPS, HANDRAILS, ETC  

 Clearly defined and safe access routes from the public footpath to the front door  

 Safe access from bin storage area to the public footpath 

 Safe and clear access from rear door of property to drying areas  

 Previous tenant’s alterations improvements can remain insofar as they comply 

with standards 

 Safe and secure steps 

 Handrails secure and safe 

 

LANDSCAPING (HOUSES)  

 Grass areas will be left in a short maintainable condition. Trees, bushes, etc will 

be left in a safe, maintainable condition 

FENCING 

 Gates and boundary fencing must be safe and secure 

225



 
 

 

North Glasgow HA Ltd -  Charity No: SCO30635 
 

Repairs and Maintenance Policy 

Last Review: July 2023  Next Review: July 2026 

12 

 

 Fencing between neighbouring properties must be left in safe condition and will 

be repaired or sections replaced depending on cost effectiveness. Gates to be 

repaired or replaced as required. Fences and gates will become the responsibility 

of the incoming tenants to maintain thereafter. 

BINSTORES 

 Binstores and gates (with numerals), should be in a safe and usable condition.  

 

 

DRYING AREAS AND FACILITIES  

 Clothes poles and rotary driers should be in a usable safe condition.  

 Missing clothes lines to be replaced (Clothes lines are a consumable item that the 

new tenant will be expected to maintain and replace thereafter).   

 

ROOFS 

 Where possible, roofs should be free from major disrepairs and are safe. 

 

EXTERIOR WALLS 

 Exterior walls should be checked for cracks, damage to, or deterioration in its 

condition and any unsafe parts made good before letting. 

 

RAINWATER SYSTEMS 

 Gutters and downpipes must be safe and secure, correctly fixed and if leaking or 

sagging repaired/adjusted  

 Rhone pipes which appear over grown, if extreme will require to be cleaned. This 

work can be implemented before or after the re-let (cross reference check to be 

made with rhone pipes/gutter cleaning programme). 

 All drainage channels, grills, rodding eyes etc. MUST have safety grills or covers 

securely fitted. 
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PARKING & PARKING FACILITIES 

 Where provided, any integral car parking areas must be left reasonably level, safe 

and tidy 

 

ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS 

 All electrics and appliances must be checked and in the main a full electrical 

periodical test & inspection is carried out and a test certificate provided, copied to 

new tenant 

 All voids will have an electrical test undertaken at the commencement of the void, 

if at this point it does not comply with ng homes electrical standard the property 

will be brought up to the standard while the house is void, this work will include 

rewiring if required. .  

 Meter boxes should function and where possible incoming tenants should be 

issued with a meter box key. 

 Generally, previous tenants fittings will be removed, However certain appliances 

i.e. cooker extractor hoods, electric fires, showers or exterior lighting can remain 

within the property if they meet standards, or it is reasonably cost effective to 

bring up to standard  

 Smoke and CO alarms must be checked as part of the electrical check and 

maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations. Any missing 

smoke alarms must be replaced with hard wired type.  

 All properties with any gas appliances MUST have a mains wired Carbon Monoxide 

detector correctly installed. If no detector is fitted a detector MUST be correctly 

located within the property. 

 Generally tenant’s cookers, hobs and ovens will be removed unless they are 

clearly in very good condition and of use to the new tenant. They will then be 

tested as part of the electrical checks. Incoming tenant shall take fully 

responsibility thereafter 

 Owned integrated electric hobs and ovens (in special needs and wheelchair 

houses) will be retained, tested and repaired/replaced, if necessary for new 

tenants. 
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ELECTRIC FIRES 

 Electric fires installed are to be checked as part of the certification process. Any 

electric fires that are beyond economical repair will be removed and upgraded to 

electric fire suits. 

 

LIGHTING 

 Appropriate pendant or batten holder in each room 

 Wall lighting left when decoration very good and new tenant accepts 

responsibility 

 

FANS 

 Mechanical extract fan in kitchen and bathrooms. 

 Fans must be clean, operational, and free from noise with outside cowl. 

 Alternatively positive ventilation system in place. 

 

STORAGE, PANEL, WALL AND PLINTH HEATING 

 Each room in every property must have some heat source. 

 Panel or storage heaters to be checked and fully tested, be clean, safe, secure, 

free from excessive damage. 

 

SHOWERS  

 Showers to be checked as part of electrical check and must be properly fitted 

within appropriate tiled/ wet wall area.  

 

 If the installation does not comply with standards, then where at reasonable cost 

the installation can be made good then the shower should be left. If not then the 

shower shall be removed and any necessary patching/repairs carried out. 
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TELEVISIONS 

 Television equipment i.e. aerials, cabling and outlets in the main will not be 

disturbed as part of void works unless deemed unsafe e.g. aerial broken lying on 

roof. Main TV outlet plates will be replaced if damaged. 

 

SATELLITE & CABLE 

 Satellite dishes may be left if in a safe and reasonable condition. Any unsafe 

dishes must however be removed. Cabling left tidy. If however the new tenant 

does not want the Satellite dish it can be removed at anytime.  

 

TELEPHONE CONNECTIONS 

 Telephone containing systems to be left operational and safe including any 

extensions 

 

GAS 

 All gas supplies, fires and gas central heating installations to be in a safe and 

operational manner ready for the incoming tenant. Certificate to be ready for new 

tenant. Any unsafe gas fires beyond economical repair will be removed.  

 Stand alone gas cookers MUST be removed 

 Integrated gas hobs and ovens can remain for incoming tenants if they are in 

good condition, fully operational, have been checked for safety and may be of use 

to the new tenant.  

 

WATER SUPPLY  

 All water outlets (especially shower heads) are to be run for 10 minutes at 

reinstatement to minimise the risk of legionella.  

 

PLUMBING 

 Hot water cylinders checked for leaks, rust, appropriate controls, secure base and 

insulation. Testing, repairs and/or replacements to be carried out during re-let 
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WASTE PIPE WORK 

 Clean out all traps. Ensure that appropriate waste pipework in place, safe, secure 

and operational with plug and chain assemblies.  

 

SUPPLY AND SERVICE PIPE WORK 

 Check condition of all hot and cold domestic pipework for leaks, damage and 

dead legs. Repairs/replacements affected during re-let. 

 The condition of cold water storage tanks should also be checked for corrosion. 

Tanks may need repaired/replaced and/or cleaned out. 

 Stopcock checked for operation 

 

TOILETS 

 The WC should be secure, clean and free from damage and leaks, fully 

functional with sound toilet seat 

 

TAPS 

 Taps should be relatively easy to operate, give ample flow of water, in 

reasonable condition and intact (Where replacements are required taps are to 

be upgraded in the main to 3” lever taps unless there is some sort of medical 

adaptation) 

 

WASHING MACHINE FITTINGS 

 All properties which have the facilities for a washing machine MUST have isolator 

valves fitted to hot and cold supply pipes, and a new sealed waste cone should 

also be in place. 

WINDOWS  

 Windows must be operating properly, checked for safety, wind and watertight 

with appropriate locks, handles and restrictor mechanisms. Keys (where 

applicable must be provided for the incoming tenant) 

 Internal cills must be in sound condition. 
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 Where double glazed units have in excess of 25% of the units affected by 

condensation, the unit to be replaced.  

 

INTERNAL DOORS  

 All pass doors are to be intact, operating correctly, fitting properly with 

appropriate ironmongery and timber finishes.  

 Older Bakelite handles can be upgraded to standard aluminium satin anodised 

handles.  

 Doors should only need to be replaced when non-standard, damage is extensive, 

ill fitting beyond repair, or where a fire door is required. 

 Fire door installations should comply with the appropriate regulations. (Kitchens 

and living rooms in flats above GF; all rooms in houses above two storeys)  

 

EXTERNAL DOORS   

 All installed locks to be working correctly, with a full set of keys available. Doors 

to be secure and weatherproof. Letter plates should be installed in front doors  

 The need for draft proofing should be investigated at the time of the void, if 

needed this should be installed as part of void repairs.  

 

FLOORS  

 All floor boards to be made safe, secure and free from excessive noise and where 

possible level. Location of pipe runs shall be taken into account where known. 

 All laminate flooring to be removed in upper flatted dwellings.  Laminate flooring 

can be left in ground floor housing only if in extreme good condition and we are 

not required to check floor condition below (new build or recently checked).  

 

SKIRTING & FACINGS  

 Missing or badly damaged skirting/ facings should be replaced or repaired as 

necessary. Upgrading older sized finishes shall be implemented where cost 

effective. 
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CUPBOARDS  

 All bedroom cupboards should have 1 plywood edged shelf with a hanging rail 

installed with additional support if necessary 

 Slatted shelving should be installed within cylinder or boiler cupboards above the 

cylinder/boiler depending on the space available within  

 Within hall or kitchen cupboards, plywood edged shelving should be installed 

depending on the space available 

 

KITCHEN UNITS  

 All units to be checked to ensure they are fit for purpose, sturdy enough to take 

the loading, free from any major damage, (e.g. water damage in sink base units) 

and are correctly secured to the wall.  

 Doors should line up adequately, damaged doors/drawers to be replaced with 

matching or close matching doors wherever possible. If not possible then new 

doors should be installed.   

 There should be at least 1 shelf per base unit (including sink units) and 1 or 2 

shelves per wall unit.  

 Damaged worktops to be replaced with matching where possible. Where it is not 

possible to match worktops then all worktops should be replaced where practical 

– e.g. where a roll top sink unit is installed.  

 Where matching of doors/worktops is not possible then replacements should be 

as near a match as possible. However, if a kitchen is in poor condition and the 

property may be seen as difficult to let then consideration will be given to replace 

entire kitchen fittings.  

 

MEDICAL ADAPTATIONS  

 Every adaptation should be checked to ensure they are operational and meet the 

needs of the incoming tenant. If not, small installations such as grab rails and 

handrails should be removed with holes etc. being refilled.  

 Where there is a level access shower, every effort must be made to let house to a 

family requiring such a shower. Level access showers will not be removed.  
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 Stair lifts will be removed completely as a health and safety measure unless an 

incoming tenant requires the facility.  

 Temporary ramps to be removed.  

 

 

 

BATHROOMS 

 Bathroom suite to be checked for chips, cracks etc. and where possible repaired.  

Where a replacement unit is required, the colour should match remaining parts of 

suite. If unavailable and all units are in poor condition then an entire white suite 

should be fitted, otherwise individual units should be replaced in white.  

 

CEILINGS 

 Ceilings to be left in good condition, tapes replaced or patched, artex patched, 

polystyrene tiles or coves removed and ceilings made good. 

 

DECORATION  

 Decoration will be carried out up to a maximum of 2 rooms and / or a decoration 

voucher given.  This will be based on the condition of the property and with the 

agreement of the prospective tenant.  

 In exceptional cases where a property has been identified as in extreme poor 

condition part decoration and an additional décor voucher can be given on the 

authority of the Manager.  
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1. Purpose of this Policy 

1.1 This Policy describes the practical steps governing body members and employees should 

take to declare and manage any personal, financial or business interests that are relevant to 

our business.   The term “employees” covers permanent and temporary staff, agency 

workers and people seconded to us. 

 

1.2 The Policy applies to all members of the ng group.  This means that: 

 The Association’s Board members and employees must declare any interests that relate to 

the work of our subsidiaries; 

 Board members and employees of our subsidiaries must declare any interests that relate to 

the work of the Association or other members of the ng group. 

2. Code of Conduct Requirements 

2.1 This Policy is consistent with our Codes of Conduct for Board Members and Staff.  The Codes 

of Conduct ensure that we comply with charity law, our Rules and the Scottish Housing 

Regulator’s Regulatory Standards of Governance and Financial Management. 

 

2.2 As a Board or staff member, the Codes of Conduct require you to declare openly, and 

manage effectively, any potential conflict between your role with us and your other 

interests.  This means that you must: 

 

 Declare promptly any personal, financial or business interests you and people 

closely connected to you may have that are relevant to our business and our current 

or future decisions; 

 Record these interests in the Register of Interests and keep your entry in the 

Register complete, accurate and up to date; 

 Not play any part in discussions or decisions on matters affected by the interest 

you have declared, unless permitted by this Policy. 

 

3. Related Policies 

3.1 You must also comply with our Policies on Payments and Benefits and on Gifts and 

Hospitality. These policies require you to make an entry in the Register of Payments 

and Benefits or the Register of Gifts and Hospitality if: 

 You (or someone closely connected to you) have a personal or financial interest in the 

granting of a tenancy; an offer of employment; the sale or purchase of land; or the 

supply of goods and services to us. 
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 You receive any gifts or hospitality (unless the estimated value is below the “de 

minimis” levels set out in the Gifts and Hospitality Policy). 

 

3.2 You must also comply with our Policy on Bribery, which absolutely prohibits any governing 

body member or employee offering, seeking or accepting any kind of bribe. 

4. Completing a Declaration of Interests Form 

4.1 All Board members and employees must complete the attached declaration of interests 

form.  This sets out the range of interests governing body members and employees are 

required to declare, including in some cases the interests or activities of people who are 

closely connected to them.  The Guidance Notes for Completion attached to the form explain 

the meaning of the term “closely connected”. 

 

4.2 The form will provide a snapshot of your interests at the date on which you complete the 

form and we will also ask you to review your declared interests annually. As well as taking 

part in annual updates/reviews, you are personally responsible for keeping your Register of 

Interests entry up to date at all times, by declaring any changes as soon as they occur (e.g. 

any new interests that have arisen; any changes to interests already declared). 

 

4.3 Declarations relating to Gifts and Hospitality 

If and when you are offered a gift or hospitality, you should notify the Corporate Services 

Team of: 

 The date of the offer and who made it 

 A description of the gifts or hospitality offered to you, including the estimated value 

 Whether you accepted or refused the offer 

 Any additional comments (e.g. gift accepted but it was passed on to the Association 

to donate to charity) 

 

You should send a copy of the information above to your head of department (employees) 

or the Chief Executive or Chairperson (governing body members). 

 

The Corporate Services Team will record the information you provide in the Register of Gifts 

and Hospitality (unless the value of the gift or hospitality is below the threshold for 

recording stated in our Policy on Gifts and Hospitality). 

 

4.4 Declarations relating to Payments and Benefits 

Payments and benefits to governing body members and employees are subject to the 

controls set out in our Policy on Payments and Benefits. 
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Governing body members and employees are responsible for declaring relevant interests 

that they are aware of, as set out in the declaration of interests form. 

 

The Association is responsible for ensuring that any required entries are made in the 

Register of Payments and Benefits, after a payment or benefit has been granted to a 

governing body member, employee or someone closely connected to a governing body 

member or employee. Where required, entries in the Register of Payments and Benefits will 

record: 

 

 Description of the payment or benefit 

 Name of person or business receiving the payment or benefit 

 The recipient’s status (e.g. governing body member, employee, or relationship with 

a governing body member or employee)  

 Value of the payment or benefit (if it has a monetary value) 

 Date of the Board or Committee meeting at which the payment or benefit was 

approved (if such approval was required) 

 

5. Register of Interests 

5.1 The Corporate Services Team will administer the Register of Interests for the Association 

and other members of our group structure.  They will do this by sending out forms for initial 

completion and annual updating. 

 

5.2 You should contact the Corporate Services Team about any changes or updates as soon as 

they arise.  Procedures for doing this are described in the Guidance Notes accompanying the 

Declaration of Interests form.  You should use the same procedure to declare any offers of 

gifts or hospitality, as and when you receive these. 

 

5.3 Information in the Register of Interests will generally be available for public inspection.  You 

should inform your head of department (employees) or the Chairperson and Chief Executive 

(governing body members) if there are any reasons why public disclosure of a particular 

relationship or interest would be inappropriate. 

6. Information Collected from Service Users and Suppliers 

6.1 Our codes of conduct recognise that Board members and employees are not always aware 

of the actions of family members and friends and should not be required to conduct 

research into this.  Accordingly, we will ask service users and suppliers to tell us about any 

close connection they may have to Board members and employees throughout our group 
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structure.  Our approach to doing this will be risk-based. We will focus our resources on 

areas where a failure on our part to identify any close connections could damage our 

reputation or could undermine community confidence in the fairness and objectivity of our 

decisions. 

 

6.2 Applying these principles, we will always ask for information about any connections to Board 

members and employees in the following service/business areas: 

 

 Housing application forms 

 Job application forms 

 Applications to lease commercial properties or workspace units 

 Documentation relating to the purchase or sale of land or property 

 Company information forms for businesses on our lists of approved suppliers or 

contractors, where the annual value of work placed exceeds or is likely to exceed 

£1,000 

 Tender lists or procurement documentation, including pre-qualification 

questionnaires 

 

7. Checking for Relevant Interests When Decisions Are Being Made 

7.1 The responsible staff member should check the Register of Interests and any disclosures 

provided by applicants for housing, employment, commercial contracts etc., and note any 

interests or connections in the relevant files and systems. 

 

7.2 If an interest has been declared in the Register or the relevant applicant/supplier form, the 

potential conflict of interest should be managed by following: 

 

 The policy/procedures for the business area concerned and, where relevant, 

 The procedures for decision-making set out in the Payments and Benefits Policy 

(including any requirements for Board or Committee approval, as set out in the 

Policy). 

 

7.3 If the procedures to be followed are unclear, staff should refer the matter to their head of 

department for further guidance, as required. 
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8. Conduct at Meetings and Involvement in Decision Making 

8.1 You must always inform the person chairing a meeting, if you are attending a meeting and a 

matter in which you have a personal, business or financial interest is to be discussed.   

You should do this at the start of the meeting, or as soon as you become aware that this is 

the case. Any interests declared at meetings will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting, 

along with a statement explaining what action was taken in response to the declaration. 

 

8.2 Unless the Board decides otherwise, the following circumstances shall generally be exempt 

from the requirement to leave meetings.  The rationale is that declared interests in these 

cases will not always involve personal, business or financial interests: 

 

 Board members who are tenants or factored owners can take part in discussions and vote on all 

general policy and performance matters, unless the matters being discussed relate specifically 

to their own tenancy or factoring agreement, or to the tenancy/factoring agreement of someone 

they are closely connected to. 

 Board members who are also members of other groups (e.g. community groups or a Registered 

Tenants Organisation) can take part in votes on all general policy and performance matters, but 

should leave the meeting during any discussions or votes relating to contractual arrangements 

with/funding for the group they are involved with. 

 Board members who are directors of any subsidiary of the Association can take part in 

discussions and vote on matters relating to the Association’s relationship with the subsidiary 

unless the matter under discussion concerns a proposed contractual arrangement with the 

subsidiary. 

 

8.3 If Board approval is required under our Policy on Payments and Benefits, the Board (or a 

Committee with delegated authority) will require anyone affected by a declaration of interest 

to withdraw from the Board or Committee meeting while the matter is discussed and 

decided. 

9. Conflicts of Interest 

9.1 A declaration or conflict of interest will not by itself prevent the Board from approving a 

particular course of action if the course of action is lawful and is consistent with our policies.  

For example, our Policy on Payments and Benefits sets controls on payments and benefits, 

but does not prohibit them in every circumstance since that would unfairly disadvantage 

Board members and their families. 

 

9.2 There are some types of conflicts of interest that would make a Board member’s position 

untenable.  For example: 
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 Board members must never have a financial interest in any business trading for profit that is 

seeking to enter into a business relationship with the Association or any of its subsidiaries. 

 Board members must always act in the best interests of the Association at all times and 

should not promote the interests of a particular group or body of opinion to the exclusion of 

others. 

 

9.3 If a Board member has a major or ongoing conflict of interest that impairs their objectivity 

or their ability to act in our best interests, they should consider resigning.  Alternatively, the 

remaining members of the Board may seek the member’s resignation. 

10. Compliance with this Policy 

10.1 This Policy has been adopted, to help ensure that our affairs are conducted with 

transparency and integrity.  Failure to comply with this Policy may result in disciplinary 

action against Board members or employees, in line with the Association’s codes of conduct 

and our procedures for addressing alleged breaches. 

11. UK General Data Protection Regulations 2021  

11.1 The organisation will treat your personal data in line with our obligations under the UK 

General Data Protection Regulation 2021 (UK GDPR) and our own Data Protection Policy.  

Information regarding how your data will be used and the basis for processing your data is 

provided in our Fair Processing Notice. 

12. Other Related Policies 

 Payments and Benefits 

 Gifts and Hospitality 

 Code of Conduct for Staff   

 Code of Conduct for Board Members 

 Bribery   

 Data Protection 

 Equality and Diversity  

13. Equality Impact Assessment  

13.1 This Policy is equally applicable to all and has no detrimental impact on protected 

characteristic groups as specified within the Equality Act 2010. 

14. Policy Review 

14.1 This Policy will be reviewed every two years or earlier in line with regulatory or legislative 

guidance/changes or good practice guidelines. 
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5) I am a board member of xxx  (local service providing welfare rights and money advice) 

13) Sister (Mary Quinn, 45 Grove Street) lives in a house factored by the Association 

15) Brother Joe Bloggs is an ng2 employee 

17) Partner (Alan MacKay) owns a small building firm (AMK Contracts).  No contracts with ng homes 

 

 

Please note that we are required to maintain a Register of declared interests and that 

this will generally be available for public inspection on request. 
 

Is there any reason why any of the information in this declaration of 

interests should be regarded as confidential?  If yes, please provide brief 

details. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Yes   No   

 

 

The information provided in this declaration is truthful and accurate, to the best of my 

knowledge.  

 

I agree to update my declaration if there are any changes or additions to the interests I 

have declared. 

 

I also agree to make a declaration for inclusion in the Register of interests if I receive any 

offer of gifts or hospitality that needs to be registered, or if I receive any payments or 

benefits that need to be declared under the Policy on Payments and Benefits.  

 

 

 

Signed: ……………………………………………………    Date: ………………………………………………              
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Guidance Notes for Completion 

 

To make the declaration easy to complete, the form is in two parts: 

In part 1, tick Yes or No for all of the questions that are asked 

In part 2, provide a brief description of the interest you are declaring for each of the questions you 

ticked as Yes. 

 

Most of the questions relate to your own interests, but some of the questions ask about people you 

are “closely connected to”.  This term is used in our codes of conduct, please see the relevant parts 

of the codes of conduct which are reproduced below. 

 

If you are in any doubt about whether you need to declare an interest, you should always seek 

advice from your head of department (employees) or from the Chief Executive or Chairperson 

(governing body members).   

A good test is to ask yourself how an interest or relationship, if not disclosed and recorded in the 

Register of Interests, might be seen by rent-payers, members of the local community or the media. 

 

The Corporate Services Team will ask you to review your declaration of interests every year and 

will record the interests you declare in the Register of Interests.  

 

You yourself should contact the Corporate Services Team with details of any changes or updates as 

soon as they arise.  You should ideally contact the Corporate Services Team by e-mail, copying the 

e-mail to your head of department (employees) or the Chairperson and Chief Executive (governing 

body members).  If you do not have access to e-mail, please speak to the Corporate Services Team 

face to face or by telephone. 

 

You should use the same procedure to: 

 

Declare any offers of gifts or hospitality as and when you receive these (seeking guidance if you 

are unsure about whether an offer can be received or not); 

 

Declare any interests that need to be recorded under out Policy on Payments and Benefits.  

 

The following extracts from the codes of conduct for governing body members and for employees 

contain the following guidance on declarations relating to people you are “closely connected to”.   

 

Code of Conduct extracts 
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3.6 You are not expected to be aware of the actions of people in groups 2 and 3 that you do not 

have a close association and/or regular contact with.  We do not expect you to research into the 

employment, business interests and other activities of all persons with whom you are closely 

connected. 

 

3.7 In relation to 3.3 – 3.6 above, when considering your actions you should do so from the 

point of view of a reasonable and objective observer.      
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1. Purpose  

1.1. ng homes is a leading community-based Housing Association that provides housing and 

support services to almost 7,000 tenants and owners within North Glasgow. The Association 

is a registered Scottish Charity and a registered social landlord and is regulated by the 

Scottish Housing Regulator. Our customers are at the heart of our business, we are 

accredited with the Customer Service Excellence award and we strive to deliver a first-class 

service in all that we do. 

   

1.2. Our vision is to create a community where people can flourish and prosper. To support the 

Association in achieving this it is important to focus on Board succession planning and to 

ensure that the Association has enthusiastic, committed and skilled Board members who 

have a passion for the North Glasgow community.   

 

1.3. Board members at ng homes are part of a team that is responsible for the overall strategic 

direction of the business together with ultimate control of corporate governance and 

financial management.   

 

1.4. The Association considers Board succession planning to be about pro-actively preparing the 

organisation for likely or inevitable changes in order to minimise future challenges and 

difficulties. This encompasses Board Members and Committee membership, and the office 

bearer positions of Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson and Secretary. It also applies to the Chair 

and Vice-Chair positions for the Association’s Committees. 

 

1.5. The Board will discuss the make-up of the Board membership annually or more frequently if 

required and where appropriate will approach suitable potential Board members or conduct 

a Board recruitment drive to identify tenants or residents from the local community and/or 

independent Board members with the appropriate skills, knowledge and/or experience.  This 

will enable the Association to meet its strategic objectives; fill skills gaps and ensure that 

the Association has sufficient Board members in place, in compliance with the Association’s 

Rules and to meet its regulatory requirements. 

 

1.6. The Association’s Board Succession Planning Policy aims to secure the long-term viability of 

the organisation. As such the issues it addresses include: 

 Ensuring that Board Members have the key skills and competencies required and how to 

retain these Board members.  

 Identification of additional skills and competencies that need to be developed/attracted. 

 Expected and unexpected Board member retirements / resignations and turnover during the 

Association’s Business Plan period. 
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 Personal development and training plans for Board members. 

 Anticipated growth and change of the Association. 

 

1.8. Board Succession planning is therefore a process for retaining; developing and recruiting 

Board members to fill positions within the organisation, either in the short or the long term 

and to ensure future needs are met. 

 

1.9. Given this key strategic link, the Board succession plan will be reviewed annually as part the 

Association’s business planning and review process. 

 

2. Policy Statement  

2.1. This policy on Board succession planning formalises the Association’s practice in this area.   

 

2.2. Our primary accountability is to ng homes’ tenants and service users and to the 

communities we serve in North Glasgow. We also acknowledge our wider accountability and 

relationships, for example with people seeking to use our services and with our funders, 

regulators and partner organisations.  

 
2.3. The Board, supported by the Chief Executive and the senior management team has 

responsibility to lead the organisation and it is therefore critical that Board members have 

the right skills, knowledge and behaviours to meet the requirements of their role.  This will 

support the achievement of the Association’s strategic business objectives and is in line with 

the SHRs Governance Standard. 

 

2.4. Reflecting good governance, the Association’s voluntary Board will plan for and have a 

strategy for its own renewal with any planned Board recruitment being open and focused on 

creating a diverse, skilled and effective Board. The Association therefore will systematically 

plan for recruiting new Board members to succeed departing Board members, as well as to 

retain and to prepare its existing Board members for potential leadership positions on the 

Board (office bearers) if they so wish. 

 

2.5. This Policy will be supported by a Board Succession Plan, which will be reviewed on an 

annual basis. 

 

3. Equality and Diversity 

3.1. ng homes is committed to the principles of equality and diversity and will act in accordance 

with the terms of the Equality Act 2010 and the nine protected characteristics.  This includes 

working towards a Board that is representative of the communities it serves and ensuring 
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that everyone including under-represented groups have the opportunity to apply for Board 

membership. 

 

3.1 Board members at ng homes have the opportunity to help shape the future of the services 

the Association provides for its tenants, residents and other customers in North Glasgow.  In 

doing so the Association recognises that customers may have a variety of needs and that 

the needs of different groups/people may require to be satisfied in different ways.  

Notwithstanding this, what will be consistent is that people will be treated fairly and with 

respect in an environment that is free from discrimination and harassment. 

 

3.2 Further detail on our commitment to equality and diversity can be found in the Association’s 

Equality & Diversity Policy. 

4 Compliance & Legal Requirements 

4.1 This Policy will support compliance with the current regulatory requirements of the Scottish 

Housing Regulator (SHR) and OSCR (Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator), including the 

SHR’s Regulatory Standards of Governance and Financial Management, in particular 

Standard 6 which seeks to ensure that the Board and senior officers have the skills and 

knowledge they need to be effective. 

 

4.2 This Policy complies with current legislation in relation to equality and diversity and to data 

protection, and in particular the Equality Act 2010 and the UK General Data Protection 

Regulation 2021. 

 

4.3 The removal or resignation of a Board member for non-personal reasons is a notifiable event 

and it will be dealt with appropriately in line with the Association’s Notifiable Events Policy. 

5 Aims & Objectives 

5.1 Board Succession planning is an ongoing process used by the Association to help achieve 

the following aims: 

 To ensure ng homes takes a strategic approach to Board continuity and the development of 

Board members linked to the Association’s Business Plan; 

 That the Association strives to have a voluntary Board that reflects the community that it 

serves. This demonstrates the Association’s commitment to equality and diversity in all that 

we do. 

 To demonstrate how ng homes will plan for the future when dealing with Board member 

recruitment, retention and development.  
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 To ensure that there are sufficient, suitably trained Board members in place for effective 

governance. 

 To ensure that the Association is planning ahead and pro-actively responding to both the 

unexpected circumstances (e.g. Board member resignations, long term sickness etc.) and 

also expected circumstances (e.g. Board member retirements).  

 To smooth the transition as Board members leave the Board and ensure that vacant 

positions are filled and skills/knowledge gaps within the Board are addressed.   

 

5.2 This policy has several objectives as follows: 

 To ensure the Board members have the required skills, knowledge and behaviours to enable 

them to effectively carry out their roles. This relates to the process of annual Board 

appraisal and individual Board member reviews and links to the collective Board skills 

assessment and focused recruitment to address any skills gaps. 

 To ensure the Board receive appropriate learning and development; recognising that 

additional skills may be required. This demonstrates the Association’s commitment to 

providing collective Board and individual development opportunities.  

 To ensure that there are suitably trained Board members available to take on office bearer 

positions within the Board. 

6 Benefits of Board Succession Planning  

6.1 The benefits of good Board succession planning include the following: 

 Encouraging a strategic approach to the way in which our Board Succession planning is 

linked to our Business Plan and strategic objectives. 

 Through open and fair assessment, identifying people with the potential for further 

development and/or the skills and knowledge to fill office bearer positions on the Board. 

 To deliver our vision, values, mission and strategic objectives, as detailed in the 

Association’s Business Plan, the Association needs to be well run and well managed: led by 

the Board and supported by the Chief Executive (and Senior Management Team) who 

understand their governance responsibilities. 

 The Board has ultimate responsibility for setting the overall strategic direction of the 

Association. The Board’s central role is to direct the Association’s work and to make 

decisions that are in the Association’s and its tenants’ best interests. The Board, therefore, 

needs to have the right number of people with the right skills and knowledge.  The 

Association should work to retain existing members and where required attract new 

members.   

 As the Association continues to change and evolve, the Board and staff team should also 

adapt to meet new challenges and opportunities. An effective Board will work closely with 
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the Chief Executive and the Senior Management Team in particular.  This is key to ng 

homes’ ongoing success and as such Board and senior staff should have the appropriate 

skills, experience and drive to lead the strategic delivery of the organisation’s mission and 

objectives. 

 To support continued effectiveness, the Association will provide Board members with the 

opportunity to continually develop and learn through access to a variety of learning events 

including e-learning, planned training sessions, webinars and conferences. 

7 Board Succession Planning (Our Approach) 

7.1 Our approach to Board succession Planning is designed to ensure that the Association is able 

to harness the skills and talents of all its Board members. 

 

7.2 Underpinning our Succession Planning Policy is the concept of talent management. This 

refers to the Association’s ability to attract and retain skilled and dedicated voluntary Board 

members, who share the Association’s vision and values.  The Association aims to harness 

Board members abilities and provide ongoing development opportunities for Board members 

to support in achieving current and future business objectives. This will support the 

Association in attracting and retaining skilled and dedicated Board members. 

 
7.3 Providing training and learning and development opportunities are key factors in ensuring 

that Board members can contribute effectively to the business of the Association.  ng homes 

Board members will be provided with the opportunity for personal and professional 

development including learning about the wide range of activities undertaken within a 

progressive, customer focused organisation operating within the Scottish housing sector.  

This can be achieved in a variety of ways including participation in planned or ad-hoc 

training/awareness sessions.  This approach will support Board members in being able to 

use and develop a wide range of skills, knowledge and experience.  

 
7.4 Following the annual Board Appraisal and Board member reviews, a Board collective skills 

matrix will be created and a Board Succession Planning Review will take place with the 

outcomes linking into the development of the annual Board Training Plan. The Board may 

commission an independent consultant/organisation to provide support with conducting the 

annual Board Succession Planning Review which will assess the following: 

 Identify skills and knowledge gaps within the Board.  This will take account of skills and 

knowledge required in the future, whilst also addressing any current gaps and will explore 

the provision of relevant training and development for all Board members. 

 Ensuring that all Board members have the necessary skills and knowledge to perform their 

roles effectively. 
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 Identifying Board members with potential and/or desire for further development. 

 The future needs with regard to office bearer positions, the availability of Board members to 

meet these needs and the accessibility of development opportunities to equip them to fill  

those positions effectively. 

Achieving the above will require the following;  

 Ensuring any identified training and support needs are provided by the Association.  

 Ensuring that Board members are provided with equal opportunity for learning and 

development. 

 Encouraging attendance at forums, conferences and seminars, webinars or training sessions 

and Strategy / Business Planning Reviews as well as providing support where appropriate 

for new Board members e.g. through a mentoring and/or a “buddy” system. 

 Providing a comprehensive induction programme for new Board members supported by 

appropriate resources; 

 Developing an annual Board Training Plan taking account of matters arising from the annual 

Board Appraisal and Board Member Reviews or changes in the sector etc. 

 

7.5 To ensure the Association meets its policy aims and objectives as outlined in Section 5 

above, on an annual basis the Board will: 

 Review the Association’s strategic objectives on an annual basis as part of the annual 

Strategy / Business Planning Reviews.  There will also be a mid-year review of the Strategy 

/ Business Plan. 

 Assess how the strategic objectives will impact on existing and future Board resources. 

 Link the Board Appraisal and Board Member Reviews and any 9-year rule appraisals to the 

achievement of our strategic objectives. 

 

7.6 To support good governance the Board will also: 

 Ensure that the Association’s Board members and staff have a good understanding of local 

issues; and 

 Use demographic information obtained from the Association’s Tenant Surveys to compare 

the Board and staff profile with that of our customers to help us achieve a Board that is 

representative of the community it serves. 

 Ensure that the Chairperson does not hold office for more than five consecutive years. 

 Once the Chairperson reaches four consecutive years, the Association will seek potential 

successors from within the Board members and provide those interested with appropriate 

training for the role of Chairperson.  It should be noted that the Vice-Chairperson will not 

automatically become Chairperson. 
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 Where possible, at the first Management Board meeting after the AGM, the Board should 

elect the office bearers, Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson and Secretary.   

 Where possible on an annual basis for all Office Bearer positions, other than the Chairperson 

the Board should identify another Board member who will succeed to, or provide cover in 

the absence of that Office Bearer and provide these Board members with appropriate 

training and support. 

8 Recruitment of New Board Members 

8.1 Whenever the Board deems it is required, people with the appropriate skills, knowledge of 

experience to be potential Board members may be approached and/or a more general Board 

recruitment drive will be undertaken within the community.  This will support the 

Association in identifying and recruiting people with the appropriate positive attitude, 

commitment, skills, knowledge and experience to meet the Associations strategic objectives 

and regulatory requirements, fill skills gaps and ensure that the Board composition complies 

with the Association’s Rules.  

In doing so the Association will seek to achieve the following:  

 Any Board member positions being advertised will be placed to maximise the 

exposure to all sections of the community together with information on eligibility i.e. 

those seeking to be community Board members have to be members of the 

Association. 

 Make the best use of co-opting additional members during the year, as and when 

required, due to vacancies or to meet identified skills, knowledge or experience gaps 

within the existing Board. 

 All applications for Board member positions will be assessed in a fair and transparent 

way with an agreed set of criteria being objectively applied to take account of any 

gaps in Board’s collective skills/knowledge as demonstrated in the Board Skills Matrix 

produced as an outcome of the annual Board appraisal exercise. 

 

8.2 New Board members will receive a comprehensive Board Induction programme. The 

Induction programme will be bespoke to the individual’s needs however as standard it will 

include meetings with the Association’s Chief Executive and Directors, information of the 

work conducted by each of the departments and access to the Association’s Policies 

including the Rules and Standing Orders.  All new Board members will have access to 

appropriate training and development including e-learning modules. 

 

8.3 All new Board members will be required to sign and abide by the Code of Conduct for Board 

members and to comply with all other relevant policies. 

260



ng homes - Charity No: SCO30635 
 

Board Succession Planning Policy 

Last Review: July 2023  Next Review: July 2025 

9 
 

9 UK General Data Protection Regulation 2021  

9.1 The organisation will treat your personal data in line with our obligations under the UK 

General Data Protection Regulation 2021 (UK GDPR) and our own Data Protection Policy.  

Information regarding how your data will be used and the basis for processing your data is 

provided in our Fair Processing Notice. 

10 Other Related Policies 

 Board Appraisal and Board Member Reviews 

 Board Recruitment  

 Induction Policy for New Board members  

 Learning, Development and Further Education 

 Membership  

 Rules 

 Standing Orders 

 Code of Conduct for Board Members 

 Equality and Diversity  

 Declaration of Interest by Governing Body Members and Employees  

 Data Protection 

 Expenses 

 Payments and benefits 

11  Equality Impact Assessment  

11.1 This Policy is equally applicable to all and has no detrimental impact on protected 

characteristic groups as specified within the Equality Act 2010. 

12  Policy Review 

12.1 This Policy will be reviewed every two years or earlier in line with regulatory or legislative 

guidance/changes or good practice guidelines. 
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1. About this policy 

1.1  As part of our commitment to flexible working, the Association is trialling 

hybrid working arrangements where this can be accommodated within your 
job role. A hybrid working arrangement will only be agreed where it meets our 
business needs and is authorised by your line manager. 

 
1.2 This policy aims to ensure that those working under a hybrid working 

arrangement are treated equally to workers based in the workplace and that 
hybrid working is carried out safely and in accordance with our policies and 
current legislation. It sets out the conditions on which hybrid working will be 

considered and the rules that apply to all hybrid workers. If you are allowed to 
work under a hybrid working arrangement, you must comply with this policy. 

 
1.3  Any reference to "workplace" in this policy is a reference to the place of work 

as specified in your contract of employment or, where not specified, your usual 

place of work when you attend our premises.  
 

1.4 This policy has been approved by the Association’s Board taking account of a 
variety of factors including business needs and staff survey results and its 
implementation is subject to discussion with staff.  

 
1.5 This policy does not form part of any contract of employment or other contract 

to provide services and we may amend it at any time following consultation 
with Board members. 
 

2. Who does this policy apply to? 

This policy applies to all directors, employees and trainees. 
 

3. Who is responsible for this policy? 

3.1 The Association’s Board has overall responsibility for the effective operation of 
this policy. The Board has delegated responsibility for overseeing its 

implementation to the Director of Corporate Services.  
 

3.2 Any questions you may have about the day-to-day application of this policy 

should be referred to your line manager in the first instance. If your line 
manager is unable to answer your query Corporate Services will assist.  

 
3.3  This policy will be reviewed annually.  

 
4. Hybrid working arrangements 
 

4.1 A hybrid working arrangement is an informal flexible working arrangement 
which allows you to split your working time between the workplace and an 

agreed remote working location, such as your home.  
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4.2 Hybrid working arrangements will differ depending on the nature of your role, 

duties and responsibilities and so are discretionary and subject to agreement 
with your line manager. 

  
4.3 Staff can request to work remotely (from home) for up to 2 days a week 

(maximum) or pro-rata equivalent for part-time staff.  This does not mean that 

staff are guaranteed to work from home 2 days every week. There is no 
obligation on staff to request to work from home. Staff can, if they wish, attend 

the workplace for their full working week.  
 
4.4 The days and times worked from your workplace and your remote working 

location are subject to agreement with your line manager and may vary from 
week to week to accommodate the needs of our business. 

 
There will be no ‘entitlement’ to set days for working from home. 
 

4.5 The Association will continue to operate its Flexi Time Procedure for staff 
members working from the workplace.  For the avoidance of doubt this will not 

apply to staff whilst working remotely. 
 

4.6  All hybrid working arrangements will be subject to a trial period of 9 months. 
The Board may, at their discretion, extend this period for up to a further 6 
months. During the trial period, we will monitor the hybrid working 

arrangements.  At the end of the trial period, the Board will reach a decision 
on the future of any hybrid working arrangements and staff will be informed 

of the outcome.   
 
4.7 All hybrid working arrangements are subject to a requirement for you to attend 

the workplace on our reasonable request to accommodate the needs of our 
business, such as to attend meetings or training sessions.  

 
4.8 Hybrid working is not a substitute for caring responsibilities, this includes 

adults, children or pets. 

 
4.9 All hybrid working arrangements are subject to ongoing review and may be 

modified for reasons including a change in business needs or performance 
concerns. 

 

4.10 If you have a flexible working arrangement that has been approved under a 
flexible working request, then it may not be possible for you to also work under 

a hybrid working arrangement. 
 
4.11 Hybrid working arrangements agreed in accordance with this policy are 

discretionary and can be withdrawn at any time.  If you want to permanently 
vary your contractual working arrangements so that you work from a remote 

working location for all or part of your working week, you will need to make a 
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flexible working request (if eligible) in accordance with our Flexible Working 
Policy.  

 
5. Conditions necessary for hybrid working 

 
5.1 Not all roles and not all jobs are suitable for hybrid working. A hybrid working 

arrangement is unlikely to be agreed if: 

 
a) you need to be present in the workplace to perform your job (for example, 

because it involves a high degree of personal interaction with customers, 
colleagues or third parties or duties that can only be performed on site, or 
involves equipment that is only available in the workplace); 

 
b) there are any concerns related to your performance, for example, your line 

manager has advised you that your current standard of work or your 
productivity is unsatisfactory; 

 

c) you have an unexpired warning, whether relating to conduct or performance; 
or 

 
d) you need on-site training or supervision or you are responsible for the face to 

face training and supervision for another staff member 
 
5.2 If you are working under a hybrid working arrangement you agree: 

 
a) to have a suitable working environment at your remote working location that 

enables you to carry out your role effectively; 
 

b) to continue to work the hours required by your contract of employment; 

 
c) to work independently, motivate yourself and use your own initiative; 

 
d) to manage your workload effectively and complete work to set deadlines; 

 

e) to identify and resolve any new pressures created by working from a remote 
working location; 

 
f) to adapt to new working practices, including maintaining daily contact with 

your line manager and colleagues at work; 

 
g) to attend the workplace as requested by your line manager, which may be at 

short notice, to meet the needs of our business; 
 

h) to determine any resulting tax implications for yourself; 

 
i) not to use the hybrid working for the provision of care, which includes adults, 

children and pets.  
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j) to finance any travel and/or related expenses incurred when travelling to and 
from your remote working location and your workplace. 

 
k) to travel to and from your workplace during your own time. For half days this 

would require travel to be undertaken in your own time, for example,  during 
your lunch break.  

 

6. Location 
 

6.1 Your primary remote working location should be agreed with your line manager 
in advance. 

 

6.2 Your primary remote working location must be within your usual commuting 
distance. 

  
6.3 If you wish to work from a different remote working location at any time during 

your hybrid working arrangement, this will need to be agreed with your line 

manager in advance and is subject to their written approval. 
 

6.4 If you wish to work from a remote working location in a different country at 
any time during your hybrid working arrangement, this will require approval 

from your line manager and separate authorisation from the Chief Executive.  
Please note that there is no guarantee that this will be possible. Working 
remotely from a location abroad is not subject to this policy due to different 

compliance and legislative requirements including data protection rules.  
 

6.5 If we agree to you working from a different remote working location at any 
time during your hybrid working arrangement, this will be subject to our right 
to require you to return to your primary remote working location.  

 
6.6 If your internet connection is of poor quality or has been/or will be lost for a 

prolonged period of time and you have not agreed any suitable alternative 
work with your line manager, you will be required to attend the workplace.  
 

7. Management, training and workplace attendance 
 

7.1 Your line manager will:  
 

a) remain responsible for supervising and assessing you in the same way as staff 

based in the workplace, and will agree with you the best way to appraise your 
performance and provide ongoing supervision in a remote way. This will include 

ensuring that the Staff Check-in process is followed. 
 

b) regularly review your hybrid working arrangements and take steps to address 

any perceived problems; and  
 

c) ensure that you are kept up to date with any changes to the workplace or 
information relevant to your work. 
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7.2 You will be subject to the same performance measures, processes and 

objectives that would apply if you worked permanently in the workplace.  
 

7.3 If your performance becomes unsatisfactory or you are subject to a (verbal or 
written) warning for any reason, your hybrid working arrangements may be 
withdrawn immediately, in which case you will be expected to return to work 

in the workplace. 
 

7.4 You will be provided with the same opportunities for training, development and 
promotion as staff based permanently in the workplace. If your hybrid working 
arrangement will impact on your ability to apply for certain roles, your line 

manager will discuss this with you to ensure that you are not denied any 
opportunity unfairly. 

 
7.5 You agree to attend the workplace or other reasonable location for meetings, 

training courses or other events which we require you to attend. 

 
8. Health, safety and wellbeing 

 
8.1 When working from your remote working location you have the same health 

and safety duties as other staff. You must take reasonable care of your own 
health and safety and that of anyone else who might be affected by your 
actions and omissions. You must attend our usual health and safety courses, 

read the Health and Safety policy and undertake to use equipment safely. 
 

8.2 To identify any potential health and safety hazards at your remote working 
location and take appropriate steps to minimise risk, we retain the right to 
carry out a health and safety risk assessment (either remotely or by arranging 

a visit) before or shortly after you begin hybrid working. Where appropriate, 
we will contact you to arrange completion of the risk assessment. The need for 

these inspections will depend on the circumstances, including the nature of the 
work you undertake. 
 

8.3 You are responsible for conducting a comprehensive Display Screen Equipment 
(DSE) assessment of your remote workplace.  You will be provided with the 

guidance and template for completing this.  In exceptional circumstances 
where you are unable to complete this we may need to arrange a visit to your 
remote working location to conduct the DSE assessment.  

 
8.4 You must not have in-person meetings in your remote working location with 

customers and must not give customers the address or telephone number of 
your remote working location.  

 

8.5 You must ensure that your working patterns and levels of work when working 
from your remote working location are not detrimental to your health and 

wellbeing. If you have concerns about your health or wellbeing arising as a 
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result of your workload or working pattern, you should inform your line 
manager without delay so that we can discuss measures to deal with this. 

 
8.6 You must use your knowledge, experience and training to identify and report 

any health and safety concerns to your line manager. 
 

9. Equipment and suitable workspace 

 
9.1 We will provide the equipment that we consider you reasonably require to work 

from your remote working location. We will make all necessary arrangements 
for and bear the cost of maintaining, repairing or replacing (where necessary) 
any of our equipment, at your remote working location. Where any equipment 

is provided, it remains our property and you must:   
 

a) ensure it is only used by you and only for the purposes for which we have 
provided it; 
 

b) take reasonable care of it and use it only in accordance with any operating 
instructions and our policies and procedures; 

 
c) return it to us in good condition or make it available for collection by us or on 

our behalf when requested to do so; and 
 

d) not use any personal device or computer for work. 

 
9.2 To arrange installation or service of any equipment that we provide, you should 

contact your line manager who will advise our IT Support who can guide you 
through the process remotely. If this is not possible, we may need to arrange 
a visit to your remote working location. 

 
9.3 When travelling between your remote working location and your workplace you 

agree to keep equipment provided by us safe and secure at all times. 
 
9.4 On termination of your hybrid working arrangement or on termination of your 

employment you will return all equipment provided by us. Where necessary, 
we may need to arrange a visit to your remote working location to reclaim 

equipment. 
 
9.5 It is your responsibility to ensure that you have a suitable workspace at your 

remote working location with adequate lighting for working. 
 

9.6 If you have a disability, you should inform us of any equipment you require to 
work from your remote working location comfortably. The Association will bear 
the reasonable cost or reimburse you for the reasonable cost of providing the 

equipment. 
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9.7 You are responsible for meeting the associated costs of you working from your 
remote working location, including the costs of heating, lighting, electricity, 

broadband internet access, mobile or telephone line rental or calls. 
 

10. Insurance requirements 
 

10.1 The Association shall be responsible for taking out and maintaining a valid 

policy of insurance covering any equipment we provide against fire, theft, loss 
and damage throughout your employment. You must not do, cause or permit 

any act or omission which would invalidate the insurance policy. 
 

10.2 We are not liable for any loss, injury or damage that may be caused from any 

equipment that is not provided by us when you are working from your remote 
working location.   

 
10.3 If your remote working location is your home address, you are responsible for 

ensuring that working from home will not invalidate the terms of your home 

insurance. Before commencing hybrid working, you should ensure that you 
check your home insurance policy and inform your home and contents 

insurance provider of your working arrangements as required.  
 

10.4 If your remote working location is your home address, before commencing 
working from home, you should check the terms of your mortgage, lease or 
rental agreement to ensure this does not breach any of the terms. It is your 

responsibility to inform your mortgage provider or landlord that you are 
working from your home address and seek any necessary approval before 

commencing hybrid working.  
 
10.5 When you are working from your remote working location you are covered by 

our employers' liability insurance policy. Any accidents must be reported 
immediately to your line manager in accordance with our Health and Safety 

Policy. 
 

11. Data security and confidentiality 

 
11.1 Your line manager must be satisfied that all reasonable precautions are being 

taken to maintain confidentiality in accordance with our requirements. 
 

11.2 You are responsible for ensuring the security of confidential information in your 

remote working location and when travelling to and from your workplace. You 
must not use your personal phone or personal computer equipment for storing 

any confidential business information.  
 
11.3 When working from your remote working location you undertake to: 

 
a) change your password as required and comply with any instructions provided 

by our IT Support relating to password security 
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b) use our designated two/multi-factor authentication at all times, where required 
 

c) abide by all cyber security guidelines 
 

d) not use personal devices for work purposes 
 

e) comply with our instructions relating to software security and to implement all 

updates to equipment as soon as you are requested to do so 
 

f) send work-related emails and messages through our designated 
communication channels/facilities 
 

g) share data only through our designated secure systems following all guidelines  
 

h) make all work-related calls through our designated software – work laptops 
can log-in to Jabber and MS Teams 
 

i) maintain a private space for confidential work/business calls 
 

j) ensure that any display screen equipment is positioned so that only you can 
see it or a privacy screen is used 

 
k) lock your computer terminal whenever it is left unattended 

 

l) ensure no one else in your remote working location has access to confidential 
information stored on our equipment 

 
m) ensure any wireless network used is secure 

 

n) ensure that your wireless network router has software security updates applied 
 

o) keep all papers containing confidential information in a secure place when not 
in use, and ensure that no one else in your remote working location has access 
to them; and 

 
p) shred or otherwise dispose securely of confidential information when it is no 

longer required and at all times comply with our instructions on document 
retention. 

 

11.4 To comply with data protection obligations, you will only store or process 
company data or personal data on equipment that has been provided by or 

authorised by us. 
 

11.5 To comply with data protection legislation, we retain the right to conduct a 

data protection impact assessment (DPIA) to assess the risks involved with 
data processing in your remote working location. Where this is necessary, we 

will contact you to arrange the DPIA. 
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11.6 You confirm that you: 
 

a) have read and understood our Data Protection Policy, Cyber Security 
procedures, Acceptable Use, Data Retention Guidelines and any other relevant 

policies from time to time in force regarding the retention of personal data, 
electronic communications and data security 
 

b) will regularly keep yourself informed of the most current version of these 
policies; and 

 
c) will attend any training on data protection and confidentiality, cyber security 

or any other relevant subject whether online or in person when requested to 

do so.  
 

11.7 If you discover or suspect that there has been a data breach or an incident 
involving the security of information relating to us, our clients, our customers, 
or anyone working with or for us, you must report it immediately to your line 

manager and IT Support. 
 

12. Misconduct 
 

12.1 Any breach of the rules set out in this policy is treated as a disciplinary 

matter in accordance with our Disciplinary Procedure. It may result in 

disciplinary action being taken against you. A serious breach of this policy 

may amount to gross misconduct resulting in dismissal. 

 

13. Other Related Strategies, Policies or Procedures  
 

• Flexible Working 
 

• Data Protection 

 
• Cyber Security 

 
• Staff Code of Conduct 

 

• Home Working   
 

• Terms and Conditions of Employment 
 

• Lone Working 
 

• Acceptable Use 

 
• Staff Check-in 
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• Openness, Accountability and Confidentiality  

 
• Equality and Diversity 

 
• Attendance and Absence Management 

 

• Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures 
 

• Health & Safety Manual 
 

• Stress and Mental Wellbeing at Work  

 
• Dignity at Work 

 
• Customer Care 

 

• Smoke Free 
 

• Learning, Development and Further Education 
 

14. UK General Data Protection Regulation 2021 
 

The ng group will treat your personal data in line with our obligations under the 

UK General Data Protection Regulation 2021 (UK GDPR) and our own Data 
Protection Policy. Information regarding how your data will be used and the 
basis for processing your data is provided in our Fair Processing Notices. 

 

15. Policy Review 
 

  This Policy will be reviewed annually or earlier in line with regulatory or 
legislative guidance/changes or good practice guidelines. 

 

16. Equality Impact Assessment   

 
This Policy is equally applicable to all and has no impact on protected 
characteristic groups. 
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